

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Peripheral blood biomarkers of cell-specific autoimmunity. Studies in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes.

Salami, Falastin

2022

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Salami, F. (2022). Peripheral blood biomarkers of cell-specific autoimmunity. Studies in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

**General rights** 

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
  You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Peripheral blood biomarkers of cellspecific autoimmunity

Studies in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes

FALASTIN SALAMI DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY

# Peripheral blood biomarkers of cellspecific autoimmunity

Studies in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes

Falastin Salami



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on Friday 9<sup>th</sup> September 2022 at 09.00 in Agardhsalen, Clinical Research Centre, Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö, Jan Waldenströms gata 35

> Faculty opponent Gustaf Christoffersson, Associate Professor Department of Clinical Cell Biology, Uppsala University

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name Doctoral Dissertation	
	Date of issue	
Author(s): Falastin Salami	Sponsoring organization	۱
Title and subtitle:Peripheral blood biomarkers of cells-speci		nunitu,studies in children at increased risk
Abstract While the incidence of children suffering from autoimmune type 1 diabetes (T1D) is increasing in Sweden and worldwide, the underlying etiology and cellular mechanisms behind this remain unknown. The predisposition of the high-risk HLA DR-DQ genotype and as yet unknown environmental triggers lead to autoimmunity and the onset of T1D, which is preceded by islet beta-cell autoantibodies acting as markers for ongoing autoimmunity. This study aims to identify peripheral blood biomarkers to predict and explain cellular autoimmune processes leading to beta- cell loss before and after seroconversion. We also investigate whether immune tolerance treatment with GAD- alum affects T-cells in nondiabetic children at increased genetic risk of T1D prospectively followed in longitudinal studies.		
Children participating in the Swedish TEDDY cohort with or without islet beta-cell autoantibodies were studied. Complete blood count in these children was analyzed and related to autoantibody status, gender, HLA genotype, and glucose metabolism measures. HbA1c, a predictive biomarker for a subsequent autoantibody or T1D, was analyzed in the TEDDY cohort from Finland, Germany, Sweden, and the US. HbA1c trajectories were also studied in the progression from developing a single autoantibody to diagnosing T1D Children aged 4–17.99 years at enrollment participating in the DiAPREV-IT2 clinical trial were studied and different T-cells were immunophenotyped to investigate the immune tolerance treatment with GAD-alum.		
A reduction in neutrophil counts primarily in boys and children with the HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype, and a reduction of red blood cell counts, hemoglobin, and hematocrit primarily in girls and in children with HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 were inversely associated with autoimmunity and the number of beta-cell autoantibodies. A reduction in red blood cell indices (MCH and MCV) was associated with increased HbA1c, by increasing number of beta-cell autoantibodies. Reduction in red blood cell count, hemoglobin, and hematocrit levels were associated with increased fasting blood glucose. Increased red blood cell counts and hemoglobin, hematocrit, and MCH were associated with increased fasting blood glucose. Increased HbA1c was associated with an increased fast of T1D regardless of the number and type of autoantibodies. The development of IA-2A as a second or fourth autoantibody was associated with decreased HbA1c levels. The HbA1c trajectories presented a more rapid increase of HbA1c as the number of autoantibodies increased from one to three. GAD-alum-treated children had lower T-helper cell (CD3+ CD4+ T-cells ) and cytotoxic T-cell (CD3+ CD8+ T-cells) levels 18–24 months after two immunizations with GAD-alum.		
Reductions in neutrophil levels, red blood cells, and red blood cell parameters and increased levels of HbA1c are all associated with multiple autoantibodies, reflecting a prominent islet autoimmune burden. The reduction in different complete blood counts with increasing numbers of beta-cell autoantibodies may suggest an unknown effect of impaired beta-cell function on haematopoiesis. Predicted trajectories of HbA1c could be used to further develop a model to predict the time to T1D diagnosis in children with multiple autoantibodies. The decrease in HbA1c associated with the appearance of IA-2A may be a consequence of aggressive autoimmune destruction of beta-cells leading to insulin leakage into the bloodstream. These results should prove helpful for understanding the pathogenesis of T1D and better predicting the onset of T1D in seroconverted children. Immunization with GAD-alum has a long-term effect on T-cells 18–24 months after treatment.		
Key words: Type 1 diabetes, biomark HbA1c T-cells, prospective follow-up,	kers, children, CBC, autoimmunity, GAD-alum.	neutrophils, red blood cells, hemoglobin,
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language:English
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-8021-280-9
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 91	Price
	Security classification	1

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

glabol -Signature

Date 2022-07-22

# Peripheral blood biomarkers of cellspecific autoimmunity

Studies in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes

Falastin Salami



Cover photo by Falastin Salami

© Falastin Salami

Copyright pp 1-91 Falastin Salami

Paper 1 © The American Diabetes Association. Diabetes 2018

Paper 2  $\bigcirc$  Salami et al. Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism 2021 published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Paper 3 © Salami et al. (Manuscript)

Paper 4  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  Salami et al. Journal of Immunology Research 2022 published by Hindawi

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences

ISBN 978-91-8021-280-9 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2022



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

To my family

رَّبِّ زِدْنِي عِلْمًا

"*My Lord, increase me in knowledge.*" (Holy Quran. Surat Taha, verse 114)

# Table of Contents

List of papers	8
Papers not included in the thesis	9
Abstract	11
Abbreviations	13
Introduction	15
Type 1 diabetes	15
Incidence	16
Clinical presentation	17
Etiology of T1D	18
Genetic factors	18
Environmental factors	23
Pathogenesis	26
Staging of T1D	27
Prediction of T1D	29
Islet autoantibodies	29
Prediction by glucose metabolism	
The search for biomarkers	
Aims	33
Methods	35
Study population	35
The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (	FEDDY)
study	
Ethical permits	
Laboratory Methods	39
HLA class II analysis (Paper I, II, III)	39
Islet autoantibody analysis	
Complete blood count (CBC) (Papers I, II, III, and IV)	
OGTT (Paper II)	41 41

Flow cytometric phenotyping of T-cells (Paper IV)	.42
Statistical methods	.43
Linear mixed-effects models	.43
Wilcoxson's rank sum test	.43
Fisher's exact test	.44
Dynamic prediction model	.44
t-test	.44
Results	.45
Paper I	.45
The association of CBC and the number of autoantibodies	.45
Paper II	.46
CBC association with HbA1c, fasting glucose, and fasting insulin	.47
Predicted trajectories	.48
Paper III	.49
HbA1c association with autoantibodies and T1D	.49
Paper IV	.51
Long term effect of GAD-alum on T-cells	.51
Discussion	.55
Future aspects	.61
Conclusions	.63
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	.65
Markörer i blodet som förutsäger typ 1 diabetes	.65
Acknowledgments	.71
References	.75

# List of papers

This doctoral thesis includes the following original papers referred to in the text by their roman numerals. These papers are reproduced with permission from the publishers.

- Salami F, Lee HS, Freyhult E, Elding Larsson H, Lernmark Å, Törn C; TEDDY Study Group. Reduction in White Blood Cell, Neutrophil, and Red Blood Cell Counts Related to Sex, HLA, and Islet Autoantibodies in Swedish TEDDY Children at Increased Risk for Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes. 2018 Nov;67(11):2329-2336. © 2018 The American Diabetes Association. Diabetes.
- II. Salami F, N Tamura R, Elding Larsson H, Lernmark Å, Törn C; TEDDY Study Group. Complete blood counts with red blood cell determinants associate with reduced beta-cell function in seroconverted Swedish TEDDY children. Endocrinol Diabetes Metabolism. 2021 May 3;4(3):e00251. © 2021 Salami et al. Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism, published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- III. Salami F, Tamura R, You L, Lernmark Å, Larsson HE, Lundgren M, Krischer J, Ziegler AG, Toppari J, Veijola R, Rewers M, Haller MJ, Hagopian W, Akolkar B, Törn C; TEDDY Study Group. HbA1c as a time predictive biomarker for an additional islet autoantibody and type 1 diabetes in seroconverted TEDDY children. Submitted Manuscript
- IV. Salami F, Spiliopoulos L, Maziarz M, Lundgren M, Brundin C, Bennet R, Hillman M, Törn C, Elding Larsson H. Long-Term GAD-alum Treatment Effect on Different T-Cell Subpopulations in Healthy Children Positive for Multiple Beta Cell Autoantibodies. Journal of Immunology Research. 2022 May 25;2022:3532685. © 2022 Falastin Salami et al.

## Papers not included in the thesis

- I. Martinez MM, Spiliopoulos L, Salami F, Agardh D, Toppari J, Lernmark Å, Kero J, Veijola R, Tossavainen P, Palmu S, Lundgren M, Borg H, Katsarou A, Larsson HE, Knip M, Maziarz M, Törn C; and the TEDDY-Family (TEFA) Study Group. Heterogeneity of beta-cell function in subjects with multiple islet autoantibodies in the TEDDY family prevention study - TEFA. Clin Diabetes Endocrinol. 2022 Jan 5;7(1):23.
- II. Lind A, Salami F, Landtblom AM, Palm L, Lernmark Å, Adolfsson J, Elding Larsson H. Immunocyte single cell analysis of vaccine-induced narcolepsy. Eur J Immunol. 2021 Jan;51(1):247-249.
- III. Martinez MM, Salami F, Larsson HE, Toppari J, Lernmark Å, Kero J, Veijola R, Koskenniemi JJ, Tossavainen P, Lundgren M, Borg H, Katsarou A, Maziarz M, Törn C; TEDDY Family (TEFA) Study Group. Beta cell function in participants with single or multiple islet autoantibodies at baseline in the TEDDY Family Prevention Study: TEFA. Endocrinol Diabetes Metab. 2020 Nov 5;4(2):e00198.
- IV. Salami F, Abels M, Hyöty H, Vaziri-Sani F, Aronsson C, Vehik K, Delli A, Hagopian W, Rewers M, Ziegler A, Simell O, Akolkar B, Krischer J, She J, Lernmark A; the TEDDY study group. DETECTION OF LACTOBACILLI IN MONTHLY MAIL-IN STOOL SAMPLES FROM 3-18 MONTHS OLD INFANTS AT GENETIC RISK FOR TYPE 1 DIABETES. Int J Probiotics Prebiotics. 2012 Aug;7(3-4):135-144.

# Abstract

#### Objective

While the incidence of children suffering from autoimmune type 1 diabetes (T1D) is increasing in Sweden and worldwide, the underlying etiology and cellular mechanisms behind this remain unknown. The predisposition of the high-risk HLA DR-DQ genotype and as yet unknown environmental triggers lead to autoimmunity and the onset of T1D, which is preceded by islet beta-cell autoantibodies acting as markers for ongoing autoimmunity. This study aims to identify peripheral blood biomarkers to predict and explain cellular autoimmune processes leading to beta-cell loss before and after seroconversion. We also investigate whether immune tolerance treatment with GAD-alum affects T-cells in nondiabetic children at increased genetic risk of T1D prospectively followed in longitudinal studies.

#### Methods

Children participating in the Swedish TEDDY cohort with or without islet beta-cell autoantibodies were studied. Complete blood count in these children was analyzed and related to autoantibody status, gender, HLA genotype, and glucose metabolism measures. HbA1c, a predictive biomarker for a subsequent autoantibody or T1D, was analyzed in the TEDDY cohort from Finland, Germany, Sweden, and the US. HbA1c trajectories were also studied in the progression from developing a single autoantibody to diagnosing T1D. Children aged 4–17.99 years at enrollment participating in the DiAPREV-IT2 clinical trial were studied and different T-cells were immunophenotyped to investigate the immune tolerance treatment with GAD-alum.

#### Results

A reduction in neutrophil counts primarily in boys and children with the HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype, and a reduction of red blood cell counts, hemoglobin, and hematocrit primarily in girls and in children with HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 were inversely associated with autoimmunity and the number of beta-cell autoantibodies. A reduction in red blood cell indices (MCH and MCV) was associated with increased HbA1c, by increased number of beta-cell autoantibodies. Reduction in red blood cell count, hemoglobin, and hematocrit levels were associated with increased fasting blood glucose. Increased red blood cell counts and hemoglobin, hematocrit, and MCH were associated with increased fasting insulin. Increased HbA1c was associated with an increased risk of T1D regardless of the number and type of autoantibodies. The development of IA-2A as a second or fourth autoantibody was associated with decreased HbA1c levels. The HbA1c trajectories presented a more rapid increase of HbA1c as the number of autoantibodies increased from one to three. GAD-alum-treated children had lower T-helper cell (CD3+ CD4+ T-cells) and cytotoxic T-cell (CD3+ CD8+ T-cells) levels 18–24 months after two immunizations with GAD-alum.

#### Conclusion

Reductions in neutrophil levels, red blood cells, and red blood cell parameters and increased levels of HbA1c are all associated with multiple autoantibodies, reflecting a prominent islet autoimmune burden. The reduction in different complete blood counts with increasing numbers of beta-cell autoantibodies may suggest an unknown effect of impaired beta-cell function on haematopoiesis. Predicted trajectories of HbA1c could be used to further develop a model to predict the time to T1D diagnosis in children with multiple autoantibodies. The decrease in HbA1c associated with the appearance of IA-2A may be a consequence of aggressive autoimmune destruction of beta-cells leading to insulin leakage into the bloodstream. These results should prove helpful for understanding the pathogenesis of T1D and better predicting the onset of T1D in seroconverted children. Immunization with GAD-alum has a long-term effect on T-cells 18–24 months after treatment.

# Abbreviations

ADAP	Assays and multiplex agglutination-PCR	
APC	Antigen presenting cell	
CAR	Coxsackie-adenovirus receptor	
CBC	Complete blood count	
DDL	Diabetes Diagnostic Laboratory	
DiAPREV-IT2	Diabetes Prevention Immune Tolerance 2	
DiPiS	Diabetes Prediction in Skåne	
DIPP	Diabetes Prediction and Prevention	
DKA	Diabetic ketoacidosis	
DPTRS	Diabetes Prevention Trial-Type 1 Risk Score	
FDR	First degree relative	
FPIR	The first phase insulin response	
FSC	Forward scatter	
GADA	Glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibody	
GRS	Genetic risk scores	
GWAS	Genome-wide linkage analysis studies	
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin A1c	
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen	
IAA	Insulin autoantibody	
IA-2A	Insulinoma antigen-2 autoantibody	
IASP	Islet Autoantibody Standardization Program	
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance	
IL2RA	Interleukin 2 receptor alpha	
IVGTT	Intravenous insulin tolerance test	
LADA	Latent autoimmune diabetes in the adult	

LD	Linkage disequilibrium
LIPS	Luciferase immune precipitations system
LYP	Lymphoid-specific phosphatase
MCH	Mean corpuscular hemoglobin
MCV	Mean corpuscular volume
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MODY	Maturity onset diabetes in the young
NGS	Next generation sequencing
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PMT	Photomultiplier tubes
PTP	Protein tyrosine phosphatase
PTPN22	Protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 22
RDW	Red cell distribution width
RBA	Radiobinding assay
SSC	Side scatter
TEDDY	The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
VNTR	Variable number of tandem repeats
ZnT8A	Zink transporter 8 autoantibody

# Introduction

# Type 1 diabetes

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is a chronic autoimmune disease, usually affecting children or young adults but may also appear at any age. The condition occurs when the pancreatic islet beta-cells are destroyed by autoreactive immune cells leading to insulin deficiency and dysglycaemia, thus requiring lifelong insulin administration. Frederick Banting discovered insulin in 1921, which transformed the prognosis of T1D from a fatal condition to a survivable condition lasting for a lifetime.

Children with T1D and their parents have a challenging everyday life with an enormous burden to keep the child's blood glucose within safe levels by monitoring blood glucose, administrating proper amounts of insulin through injections or insulin pumps, closely watching their food intake, and in many cases, also dealing with anxiety and illness beliefs. The blood glucose levels should be kept within normal ranges to avoid hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia that may cause life-threatening acute or long-term diabetic complications. Despite the insulin treatment for glucose level management, lifestyle management with a healthy diet and exercise is important for children with T1D to maintain health and prevent long-term complications. In over 100 years since the discovery of insulin, neither a cure nor a full understanding of the etiology of T1D been achieved. However, T1D diabetes research has so far improved the health and life quality of persons with T1D, and researchers pursue their work worldwide to predict, prevent, improve treatment, and strive to cure T1D.

# Incidence

The incidence of T1D has been increasing globally with an average annual increase of 3–4% over the past three decades, especially among children, with approximately 90,000 diagnosed yearly (Fig.1) (1-3). The worldwide incidence of T1D is 15 per 100,000 people (4). The incidence among children varies geographically, with the highest incidence observed in industrialized countries in the northern hemisphere, specifically the Nordic countries and other countries in Europe, with Finland ranked in first place (52/100,000) (5) and Sweden in second (49/100,000) (6). Countries in the southern hemisphere have low T1D incidences; the lowest rates are in China and Venezuela (0.1/100,000) (7). The geographic variation of the incidence follows populations' ethnic and racial distribution worldwide. Caucasoid populations have the highest incidences as compared with other major ethnic groups. This is reflected in nations with different ethnicities, such as the USA, where the incidence ranges between 7/100.000 (Native Americans) to 27/100.000 (Non-Hispanic Whites) (8). However, the incidence of T1D can vary substantially between neighbouring areas in North America and Europe within populations with similar descent and genetic backgrounds, representing an epidemiological enigma. One example is the two-third higher T1D incidence in Finland than in neighbouring Estonia, which could be explained by unknown environmental factors (9). Through improved worldwide T1D surveillance and documentation programs, new high incidence countries like Kuwait (41/100,000)(10) and Saudi Arabia (33.5/100,000)(11) have been identified, as well as the rapid increase of incidence among children and adolescents in low incidence countries, for example, China and Egypt (12, 13).

The disease may appear at any age, but the incidence increases by age, with two peaks occurring around 5–7 years and around 10–14 years in proximity to puberty (14-16). The incidence is higher among boys than girls in high -incidence countries, while the opposite is observed in low-incidence countries (17). The incidence also varies with season and birth month, as several studies in high incidence countries have shown a higher incidence of T1D among children during autumn and winter and in children born in the spring (18-20).



Figure 1. Global time trend of T1D incidence. Adapted and reproduced with permission from Norris et al. (2).

## Clinical presentation

Diabetes is as a chronic metabolic disease recognized by hyperglycemia and characterized by the loss of beta cell function leading to insulin deficiency (type 1 diabetes) or insulin resistance (type 2 diabetes). The major types of diabetes are type 1, type 2, and gestational diabetes, and the other rarer types include different types of monogenic diabetes [such as neonatal diabetes and Maturity onset diabetes in the young (MODY), diseases of the exocrine pancreas (for instance cystic fibrosis), and drug- or chemical-induced diabetes]. T1D accounts for 5-10% of diabetes cases and is defined by the appearance of autoantibodies against pancreatic islet beta-cell autoantigens before diagnosis and loss of beta-cell function (21). However, a minority of T1D patients, often of Asian or African descent, fall in the category of idiopathic diabetes with no genetic HLA association, lacking autoantibodies and suffering from episodic ketoacidosis requiring insulin treatment for survival (22). Latent autoimmune diabetes in the adult (LADA) is another type of autoimmune diabetes defined by the presence of glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies (GADA) distinguished from T1D by more preserved beta-cell residues, much slower disease progression, and no insulin treatment demand in the months from clinical onset (23, 24).

The lack of endogenous insulin secretion due to the loss of beta-cell mass leads to hyperglycemia and the manifestation of clinical T1D. Pathophysiological

disturbances, signs and symptoms resulting from beta-cell dysfunction, insulinopenia, and metabolic derangement include diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA), lack of energy, frequent thirst and urination, constant hunger, bed-wetting, fatigue, nausea, weight loss, and blurred vision. The most severe and life-threatening presentation is DKA, more common in children < 5 years old with increasing prevalence by decreasing age, occurring in more than one-third of diagnosed children worldwide (25-27). Children living in developing countries and families with lower socioeconomic status and lower education have a higher risk for DKA (28, 29). However, early T1D diagnosis reduces DKA risk and preserves long-term beta-cell function (30, 31).

The management of glucose levels to normal levels is challenging with exogenous insulin administered peripherally, since patients lack the endogenous insulin action from beta-cells giving feedback or suppression of insulin release when levels of glucose decrease (1, 32). Despite the constant development of better fast and long-term insulin analogues enabling near-physiological insulin delivery, technical devices for glucose monitoring, insulin pumps, and improving glycemic control, T1D patients still suffer from long-term complications due to hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia remains a major burden (33, 34). Severe secondary long-term diabetic complications affecting T1D patients include cardiovascular diseases, peripheral artery diseases, kidney diseases, neuropathy, and vascular retinopathy. Maintaining the blood sugar significantly reduces the risk of these complications; however, the risk increases with younger age, specifically for cardiovascular diseases (35). The major cause of premature morbidity and mortality in T1D patients is cardiovascular diseases (36, 37).

# Etiology of T1D

#### **Genetic factors**

Genetic and environmental factors contribute to the still elusive etiology of T1D. The HLA locus residing on the short arm of chromosome 6 accounts for nearly 40-50% of T1D inheritance (38, 39) and is thus believed to constitute the major susceptibility genes. T1D is a polygenetic disease with a complex genetic background mapped by extensive international collaborative studies using candidate gene association studies and genome-wide linkage analysis studies (GWASs) (40, 41). In addition to HLA risk genes around 60 non-HLA risk genes associated with T1D have been identified (41, 42). The risk of T1D in the general population is 0.4%, while the risk in first-degree relatives (FDRs) is higher. Monozygotic twins have a 30-70% genetic risk for T1D or islet autoimmunity if one develops the disease, whereas dizygotic twins or siblings have only 6-10% genetic risk (43-45).

The risk in children with a father with T1D is comparable with the sibling risk, and the risk for children with a mother with T1D is marginally less (46-48). Hence, this strong genetic predisposition of T1D is not sufficient to induce autoimmunity; an environmental trigger is certainly required.

#### HLA

HLA is the human term for the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) encoding antigen-presenting glycoprotein receptors that bind and present antigens to T-cell receptors initiating the adaptive immune response and taking part in the peripheral and central immune tolerance. The HLA locus has a dense clustering of genes. There are three subclasses of HLA, subclass I, II, and III. The different HLA classes are associated with different phases in the pathogenesis of T1D, primarily the development of islet autoantibodies or the progression to T1D diagnosis after the appearance of autoantibodies (49). HLA genes are the most polymorphic genes in the whole human genome and also exhibit strong linkage disequilibrium (LD), considered when the alleles at different genes are non-randomly associated in a given population (50).

#### HLA class II

HLA class II comprises the HLA-DR,-DQ, and -DP genes encoding the MHC class II heterodimer of an  $\alpha$  and a  $\beta$  polypeptide chain expressed on cell membranes of antigen-presenting cells (APC)(B-cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells). Each of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  polypeptide chains has four domains, the peptide binding domains, are highly polymorphic, the immunoglobulin-like domain, which the transmembrane region, and a cytoplasmic tail. Peptides presented by MCH class II are recognized by CD4+ T-helper cells (Fig. 2). HLA-DR and -DQ are the most important risk loci for T1D. Allelic polymorphism in these loci affects the binding grooves. Thus, distinct selections of epitopes are presented to CD4+ T-helper cells that induce the immune reaction against microorganisms and allergens (49). The alleles DRA1/DRA2 or DQA1/DQA2 encode the  $\alpha$ -chain while DRB1/DRB2 or DQB1/DQB2 alleles encode the  $\beta$  chain of the heterodimer. The HLA-DR and DQ DQ exhibit strong LD; thus, detecting one allele allows for estimating the other allele on the same haplotype.

The haplotypes conferring the highest risk are DRB1\*03:01-DQA1\*05:01-DQB1\*02:01 (DR3-DQ2), and DRB1\*04:01/02/04/05/08-DQA1\*03:01-DQB1\*03:02/04 (DR4-DQ8) and the heterozygosity of these haplotypes (DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8) represents the highest risk (OR = 16.59; 95% CI, 13.7–20.1) (51). The odds ratio varies between studies. This interaction effect is explained by the ability to form DQ heterodimers encoded in *trans* and is a leading hypothesis for why the T1D risk conferred by the DR3/DR4 genotype is greater than the risk for the two haplotypes (52). The four-digit number in the gene term, e.g, DRB1\*03:01, represents the unique HLA protein sequence. Nearly 90% of all T1D pediatric

patients have one or both risk haplotypes but only 10 % of children with one of these haplotypes will develop T1D (41, 53). In Sweden, around 50 % of the population carries one of the risk haplotypes (DR3-DQ2 or DR4-DQ8), and only 3% carry both (54). HLA DR/DQ genotypes, in addition to the risk, could also confer a protective and neutral effect. The DQB1\*06:02 allele has the most protective effect (OR 0.03) among other protective genes (55). T1D risk HLA class II genotypes are also shared with other autoimmune diseases, including autoimmune thyroid disease (Hashimoto's and Grave's diseases) (DR3), celiac disease (DR3-DQ2), Addison's disease (DR3-DQ2, DR4-DQ8 (DRB1\*0404)), and other rare autoimmune diseases (56).

The genetics of T1D have mainly been studied and evaluated in Caucasians because of the high prevalence of T1D in this ethnic group (57). T1D-associated HLA class II haplotypes and genotype frequencies vary among ethnic groups and their susceptible or protective effects on risk (58, 59). For example, the African-specific DR3 haplotype DRB1\*03:02-DQA1\*04:01-DQB1\*04:02 has shown to be protective contrary to the known high risk conferring DR3 haplotype DRB1\*03:01-DQA1\*05:01-DQB1\*02:01 most often observed in other ethnic groups (60). Therefore, it is important to consider the T1D ethnic and racial genetic heterogeneity in creating valid genetic risk predictive models. However, the increased incidence of T1D among children worldwide with a heightened proportion of lower-risk genotypes may be explained by environmental factors' impact on the disease's development (58, 61).



Figure 2. MHC class II antigen presentation on the antigen-presenting cell (APC) and schematic illustration of MHC class II. Created with BioRender.com.

#### HLA class I

HLA class I encode MHC molecules expressed on all nucleated cells comprising the  $\alpha$  polypeptide chain that forms a heterodimer consisting of a heavy chain of adjunct with  $\beta$ -2 microglobulin protein encoded by another gene on chromosome 15 (49). The MHC class I receptor presents epitopes recognized by cytotoxic CD8+ T-cells that mediate the destruction of virus-infected cells and are the major infiltrating cells during insulitis associated with T1D (62). HLA class I genotypes associated with acceleration of the progression to T1D diagnosis are HLA-A\*24,HLA\* B\*18, and B\*39, while HLA-B\*57:01 confers a protective effect. The strongest association with T1D risk is conferred by HLA\*B\* 39:06 (OR=10.31). Linkage disequilibrium (LD) association studies between HLA class I genes and DR-DQ locus have shown that B\*18 effects are associated with the DR3-DQ2 haplotype and that A\*24 and B\*39 effects are associated with the DRB1\*08-DQB1\*04 haplotype (63-67).

#### Non-HLA risk T1D genes

Non-HLA risk genes confer subtle risks of T1D compared to HLA genotypes and are mostly implicated in immune cell function (42, 68). The exact function of many of these non-HLA candidate genes in the pathogenesis of T1D is still not clearly understood and remains to be characterized. Further understanding of these heterogeneous genetic risk variants and HLA risk and their role in the pathogenesis of T1D allows for better disease prediction and more specific disease intervention approaches. The strongest non-HLA risk factors are INS, PTPN22, IL2RA, and CTLA-4 briefly summarized below.

#### INS

The non-HLA gene conferring the highest T1D risk of 10 % is the INS (insulin) gene located on chromosome 11p15 encoding pre-proinsulin (69). The increased risk is attributed to polymorphism in INS SNPs residing outside the coding sequence, indicating that modulation of the INS transcription may cause diabetes susceptibility (70). Polymorphism in the short class I, a variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) alleles (in the IDDM locus) in the insulin promoter, contributes to T1D risk (71). These susceptible VNTRs affect insulin gene expression and are associated with poor expression of insulin in the thymus leading to an impaired selection of the autoreactive insulin-specific T-cells in the thymus escaping from thymic destruction and thus decreasing central tolerance (52, 72).

#### PTPN22

The protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 22 (lymphoid) (PTPN22) gene on chromosome 1p13 is the second susceptible non-HLA gene after the INS gene (73). PTPN22 encodes lymphoid-specific phosphatase (LYP) that suppresses T-cell activation, T-cell receptor activation, and promotes autoreactive T-cell escape from

the thymus (74, 75). Moreover, the PTPN22 allele C1858T with a single amino acid substitution R620W has been associated with several autoimmune diseases including T1D (76). Individuals with this variant are protected from pulmonary tuberculosis and cancer suggesting a role in promoting effector cells and responses at the cost of immune regulation (77-79). However, the function of PTPN22 effects remains unclear.

#### IL2RA

Multiple SNPs that are independently associated with the risk of T1D have been found in the IL2RA (interleukin 2 receptor alpha) gene encoding IL-2 receptor subunit  $\alpha$  (CD25) (80). The IL-2 receptor activates intracellular signaling upon interaction with mainly IL-2 in T-regs and impacts the suppressive function of the cell. Reduced T-reg potency will inhibit the control of T-effector cells promoting the activation of these cells (81). DNA methylation has been evident in several IL2RA SNPs and methylation at CpGs within the promoter of the IL2RA gene is higher in T1D patients than in controls, indicating that epigenetic changes may contribute to the IL2RA risk alleles (82).

#### CTLA-4

The CTLA-4 gene resides on chromosome 2q33.2 and encodes cytotoxic Tlymphocyte associated protein 4, a transmembrane co-receptor expressed on T-cells, an important negative regulator of adaptive immunity (83). Several autoimmune diseases including T1D are associated with variations of the CTLA-4 gene region (84). However, the mechanisms behind these risk SNPs and how they contribute to autoimmunity remain elusive. CTLA-4 co-receptors promote T-reg function and inhibit T-cell effector activation needed to maintain tolerance and prevent autoimmunity, while the risk variants result in reduced expression of CTLA-4 in Tregs leading to reduced T-reg suppressive potency and a decreased control of the Teffector cells (85). Studying autoreactive T-cells with risk CTLA-4 alleles has revealed downregulation of CTLA-4 expression on these cells (86).

#### Genetic prediction

The rapid evolution of DNA sequencing by the next generation sequencing (NGS) approach allows researchers to obtain high-resolution typing data at an allelic level. This has improved the characterization of HLA diversity and polymorphism in populations and the genetic risk assessment and prediction. In addition to HLA, genetic risk scores (GRSs) have evolved in the recent years to include non-HLA risk genes and SNPs, improving the genetic prediction of T1D and discriminating diabetes type in patients (87, 88). One of these GRSs, termed T1D GRS2 was developed incorporating 67 SNPs, HLA-DR-DQ interactions, and non-HLA loci and was highly discriminative for T1D (area under the ROC curve, AUROC, 0.92) and early onset of T1D (AUROC 0.96) resulting in an improved T1D GRS. Such

GRSs are used in newborn screening for the involvement in T1D prediction surveillance programs (89) or primary prevention trials (90) as well as in the clinic for classification of the adult incident diabetes type (91).

#### **Environmental factors**

Epidemiological and clinical studies have presented strong evidence for the involvement of environmental factors in the etiology of T1D. The strongest evidence from epidemiological studies is the increased incidence of T1D in children in genetically stable populations (92), in countries with low-risk HLA genotypes (59, 93), in people migrating from low-incidence to high-incidence countries, and especially in young children or in children born in the new country (94, 95), and in people from countries with rapid economic development (96).

The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study is the greatest multinational prospective study in modern times investigating environmental factors associated with islet autoimmunity and T1D onset in children at genetic risk from birth until 15 years of age (97). As the incidence of T1D is increasing and proven to be influenced by environmental factors and a plethora of identified genetic factors, prospective studies such as TEDDY are important for the education of the etiology, prediction, and prevention of the disease, and further for the development of necessary translational medical research aiming to prevent, delay, or cure T1D (98). TEDDY has thus provided the largest evaluation of candidate environmental determinants, including viral and bacterial infections, microbiome, nutrients (eg., vitamin D, breastfeeding, cow milk and gluten), and probiotics associated with both islet autoimmunity and T1D (97, 99-101). The results of all these evaluations suggest the existence of many pathways leading to the autoimmune destruction of beta-cells. Environmental risk determinants with the most supportive evidence to date in children are the low diversity microbiome and enterovirus infections (102-104). These major environmental determinants and other less risk-associated factors are presented in Figure 3 (105).

#### Viral infection

Various viruses (e.g., rotavirus, adenovirus, enterovirus, and norovirus) associated with gut infections have been linked to T1D, and the most frequently associated are the enteroviruses specifically the coxsackievirus B serotype (CVB) (102, 106-108). While the incidence of T1D is seasonal among children in Europe, with increasing cases during fall and winter, viral infections are also more common in the colder seasons and are associated with insulin resistance and increased risk for T1D (109, 110). Previous studies have demonstrated an association between enterovirus infections and autoimmunity or T1D in pregnancy or newborn, in prediabetic subjects, and following enteroviral epidemics (111-114). These studies indicate that enterovirus infections possibly initiate and speed up all three stages of T1D

pathophysiology. The TEDDY study has, in recent years, shown that chronic shedding in stool predicted islet autoimmunity, primarily insulin autoantibodies (102, 103). Given that enteroviral infections are common in children emphasizes the enterovirus risk first in combination with genetic susceptibility and the immuneinflammatory response against the enterovirus. Spreading and replication of the enterovirus in the body occur via the upper respiratory and gastrointestinal tract. The presence of enterovirus in pancreatic islets has been demonstrated in newly diagnosed T1D patients (115). A postulated mechanism of enterovirus starts with viral beta-cell infection by binding to the Coxsackie-adenovirus receptor (CAR) that precedes perturbed viral clearance and stimulation of chemokine responses from beta-cells that in turn triggers islet autoimmunity through molecular mimicry, inflammation, and T-cell suppression (106, 116). A Coxsackie B virus vaccine, developed in Finland to mitigate the increased incidence of T1D among children, is currently being examined in a clinical trial (PROVENT trial: NCT04690426) (117). The rotavirus vaccine, included in vaccination programs in Europe and the US (118) to prevent infant rotavirus infections, was recently tested to see if it also reduced autoimmunity in children. However, several cohort studies in Europe and the US did not show any preventive effect of the rotavirus vaccine on T1D (119-121).



Environmental determinants of type 1 diabetes

#### Gut Microbiome

The human microbiota is settled by 3 years old and until then will fluctuate by changes affected by early life factors, such as birth method, breastfeeding, exposure to gluten, cow milk and solid food, and antibiotics. These factors are shaping the microbiome and have also been suggested as environmental factors associated with

T1D and thus been evaluated in several studies demonstrating contradictory findings (Figure 5.)(101, 105, 122). People with T1D or at risk have an altered microbiota with increased frequency of Bacteroides, decreased bacterial diversity, reduced microbiota stability, and decreased Lactobacillus, Prevotella, and Bifidobacteria (123). This promotes beta-cell autoimmunity due to increased intestinal inflammation, loss of barrier function, increased permeability, and excessed exposure to dietary antigens (124). The huge microbiome study of TEDDY children prospectively followed from 3 to 46 months old demonstrated an increased expression of Bifidobacterium genes in healthy children compared to children with diabetes or at genetic risk (101). These genes stimulate fermentation and short-chain fatty acids that stimulate the production and activation of regulatory T-cells preventing autoimmunity (124, 125). Fecal transplantation and the use of probiotics to maintain the microbiota have been proposed as preventive treatments for halting or reducing T1D progression with controversial results (126, 127).

#### Childhood obesity and infant growth

Obesity, increased birth weight, weight increase after seroconversion, and increased childhood BMI are all associated with increased risk of T1D (128-131). Moreover, an obesogenic environment with low physical activity and an unhealthy diet leads to an increased demand for insulin, dysbiosis, inflammation, and insulin resistance, leading to increased beta-cell burden and beta-cell stress, and progression to T1D onset in children at genetic risk for T1D (132-134). Obesity and overweight have previously been associated with type 2 diabetes, but in recent years, evidence is growing to include an even risk for T1D progression. Different physical activity programs have shown a decrease in insulin resistance and the preservation of beta-cell function in T1D patients (135).

#### Vitamin D

Vitamin D deficiency has been linked to T1D not least through the increased incidence of T1D in the colder northern countries and during fall and winter with less exposure to sunlight. While results from many studies have been contradictory, results from TEDDY and a recent dose-response meta-analysis of several studies confirmed that higher plasma vitamin D correlated with lower risk for islet autoimmunity (136, 137). Vitamin D is known to protect against autoimmunity through its anti-inflammatory effect and immunomodulatory effects on stimulating of regulatory T-cells (138).

Taking all this information together, none of the environmental triggers evaluated to date explain the causality of islet autoimmunity leading to T1D. They reflect a combination of pathways involved in the pathogenesis of T1D.

# Pathogenesis

The autoimmune nature of T1D was described with a landmark model by George Eisenbarth in 1986 presenting an autoimmune response that caused a linear decrease of beta-cell mass until the manifestation of T1D, when 80-90% of the beta-cells mass is lost (139). In the first state, genetic predisposition, together with still unknown environmental factors, promote the triggering of autoimmunity, and in the next state, the progressive autoimmune destruction of beta-cells by autoreactive Tcells leads to the progressive loss of beta-cell function and insulin deficiency. This is hallmarked by insulitis, an inflammation process when immune cells infiltrate the pancreatic islets (140). Most infiltrating cells are cytotoxic CD8+ cells but also CD4+ T-cells, B-cells together with macrophages are found in children with T1D, and the genetic predisposition of common Human leukocyte antigen class II (HLA II) genes representing the T-cell mediated autoimmunity of T1D (141, 142). The profiles of infiltrating immune cells in the insulitis lesions are heterogeneous and may underlie disease severity, progression, and age at clinical onset (143). One example is the high prevalence of B cells in the insulitis lesion associated with early age at diagnosis while children older than 13 years had a low B-cell profile insulitis (143, 144). A higher prevalence of B-cells in insulitis may therefore mark earlier autoimmunity or a more rapid loss of beta-cell function. Several studies have shown that insulitis does not appear in all islets simultaneously, suggesting insulitis is an evolving process (145). Later research with improved technologies and better availability of pancreatic autopsies and biopsies have resulted in better education and estimation of insulitis, which has challenged the Eisenbarth model. Insulitis commonly occurs in children with recent T1D (<1 year). However, insulitis is present in those islets positive for insulin while insulin-negative islets lack insulitis (146, 147). The statement in the Eisenbarth model about a 90% loss of beta-cell mass at diagnosis may apply only to younger children, as recent evidence reported on teenagers having at least 40-60% of their islets positive for insulin (143, 148). In addition, several studies have shown that individuals with T1D may preserve the ability to produce endogenous insulin and that the vast majority of T1D patients have detectable endogenous C-peptide years after diagnosis, indicating some preservation of beta-cell function after diagnosis (149, 150).

The immunopathogenesis of T1D is illustrated in Figure 4. It starts with the antigenpresenting cells migrating to the lymph nodes and presenting beta-cell antigens to autoreactive CD4+ T-cells that stimulate the activation of autoreactive CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells, migrate to the islet and lyse beta-cells by binding to the MHC class I receptor on beta-cells presenting beta-cell antigens. The inflammation is worsened by releasing cytokines and reactive oxygen species from lymphocytes and innate immune cells e.g., macrophages and neutrophils. Defects in T-regs prevent its potent suppression of autoimmunity. B-cells in pancreatic lymph nodes are also stimulated to produce autoantibodies against beta-cell antigens (151, 152).



**Figure 4.** Hypothesized immunopathogenesis of T1D. A) The process starts in the pancreatic lymph node when APCs present beta-cell antigens to autoreactive CD4+ T-cells that activate autoreactive CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells that migrate to the islet and lyse beta-cells by binding to the MHC class I receptor on beta-cells, presenting beta-cell antigens. B) The inflammation is worsened by releasing cytokines and reactive oxygen species from lymphocytes and innate immune cells. C) T-regs are defected and have lost their ability to suppress autoimmunity. D) B-cells are also stimulated to produce autoantibodies against beta-cell antigens. E) Islet autoantibodies are produced. Adapted and reproduced with permission from DiMeglio et al. (152).

### Staging of T1D

To dissect the progressive chronic autoimmunity and identify individuals for secondary prevention therapies to intervene, delay, or even prevent the onset of symptomatic T1D, a staging system for asymptomatic T1D has been suggested based principally on the previous Eisenbarth T1D pathogenesis model. During the autoimmune process, autoreactive B-cells are exposed to beta-cell antigens leading to the production of islet beta-cell autoantibodies which are used as biomarkers predicting T1D (described later in the etiology section). The detection of more than one of these autoantibodies confers a high risk for the development of clinical T1D (153). The disease progression continuum preceding symptomatic T1D is divided into three stages, stage 1 is presymptomatic with more than one autoantibody and normoglycemia, while dysglycaemia is evident at stage 2, and stage 3 is symptomatic indicating the onset of T1D (Figure 5) (154). The dysglycemia at stage

2 is defined as impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) with 2-h plasma glucose values  $\geq$ 7.8 mmol/L or high glucose levels at intermediate time points of oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) plasma glucose values  $\geq$ 11.1 mmol/L and/or glycated hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c)  $\geq$ 39 mmol/mol.

The risk of developing symptomatic diabetes in children with genetic HLA risk at stage 1 is nearly 44% in 5 years, 70% in 10 years, and 100% in a lifetime, and at stage 2 is 60% in two years and 75% in 5 years (153, 155, 156). The staging system is, however, incomplete; the time between the stages varies from days to years, the progression from one of the stages to the other is highly heterogeneous and the time frame for T1D diagnosis development could be up to 20 years (157). Individuals are identified in the three stages through their participation in longitudinal prospective natural history followed by regular monitoring for dysglycemia and detection of autoantibodies. Advantages of the staging have been earlier diagnosis, earlier treatment with insulin, and significant reduction of DKA, improving glucose/insulin management and delaying diabetic long-term complications (30, 158).



Figure 5. Staging of T1D. Adapted and reproduced with permission from Insel et al (154)

# Prediction of T1D

#### Islet autoantibodies

T1D is predicted by seroconversion of islet beta-cell autoantibodies to four beta-cell autoantigens; insulin (IAA), glutamic acid decarboxylase (GADA), insulinoma antigen-2 (IA-2A), and zinc transporter 8 (ZnT8A). These are biomarkers for beta-cell autoimmunity, and the best predictors of T1D detected in serum. The role of these four autoantibodies in beta-cell destruction is still unclear. One or several of these markers are detected in most newly diagnosed T1D patients and only 2–4% of T1D patients, are seronegative (159). Thanks to these autoantibodies, both islet autoimmunity and T1D could be predicted in follow-up studies with healthy FDR or healthy children screened for HLA risk and followed from birth. These studies have been important for understanding the natural history of T1D, autoantibodies, and their risks. The appearance of autoantibodies is associated with an increased risk of T1D that, in turn, differs by number, type, and combination of these autoantibodies (153).

T1D is a heterogeneous disease with many different approaches reflected in the appearance of autoantibodies that initiates autoimmunity and peak at different ages associated with different genetic risk factors. The common detected first autoantibodies are IAA or GADA. IAA as the first autoantibody is common in children with HLA-DR4-DO8 haplotype and the first years of life and peaks at the age of 1-2 years and declines rapidly over the next 5 years. In contrast, the appearance of GADA as the first autoantibody is common in children with HLA-DR3-DQ2 haplotype and begins to rise after the second year of life to retain a relatively constant incidence. IAA and GADA first appear simultaneously before 3 vears old and are not as common as the appearance of a single autoantibody of each first (Figure 6) (97). IAA first is rare in older children and adults while GADA first is the most common at all ages. The risk for T1D increases among children by increasing numbers of autoantibodies (160). Children with two or more autoantibodies have a 70% risk of progressing to T1D diagnosis within 10 years compared with 15% of children having only one autoantibody (153). However, autoantibodies might not be persistent upon appearance as they can also disappear in reverters. The condition of islet autoimmunity could be described in three types, mild in reverted children, less aggressive in children with a single persistent autoantibody, and more aggressive in children with multiple autoantibodies (161). The staging of T1D starts with the appearance of two or more autoantibodies and the rate of progression to the clinical onset is in addition to autoantibody number and combination associated with the titer, autoantibody affinity, and age at seroconversion, and importantly, the younger, the higher rate of progression (154, 162, 163).



Figure 6. The incidence of IAA and GADA islet beta cell autoantibodies. Reprinted with permission from Rewers and colleagues (97).

The appearance of IA-2A or ZnT8A is associated with the faster progression of the disease and could therefore be used to identify individuals at higher risk for disease progression (164). Even though the majority with a single autoantibody do not develop T1D, seroconversion to IA-2A as the first autoantibody is associated with a 5-year progression rate to T1D, representing a more aggressive autoimmune destruction of the islet beta-cells in young children (160). All four autoantibodies are detected in serum by radiobinding assay (RBA) with high sensitivity and specificity (165-168). However, other simpler, faster, low-volume, non-radioactive, methods are warranted in the area to replace RIA. Two non-radioactive alternative methods have been developed in recent years, luciferase immune precipitations system (LIPS) assays and multiplex agglutination-PCR (ADAP), allowing for the analysis of the four antibodies in a single test (169, 170).

#### IAA

Insulin is expressed both in pancreatic beta-cells and thymic medullary epithelial cells. The proven insulin mRNA and protein levels are low but relevant for the negative selection of autoreactive T-cells (171). IAA binds conformational epitopes of insulin where a receptor could bind but not in any denatured or reduced form. High-affinity IAA binds residues 8 to 13 of the insulin A chain and low-affinity IAA

binds residues 28–30 of the B chain. The high-affinity IAA can also bind pro-insulin (172).

#### GADA

GAD has two isoforms, the GAD65 and GAD67, and is a major enzyme in synthesizing of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), a major inhibitory neurotransmitter of the central nervous system (173). The GAD65 isoform is expressed in the central and peripheral nervous system and beta-cells found within the synaptic-like micro-vesicles. The function of GADA recognizes the middle and COOH-catalytic domains while binding poorly to the NH2-terminal (174, 175). GABA is a glutamate product, and its signals increase insulin secretion and stimulate beta-cell proliferation. GABA also has an immunomodulatory effect on T-cells by decreasing the production of inflammatory cytokines in T-cells and thus inhibiting T-cell proliferation (176, 177).

#### IA-2A

IA-2 belongs to the receptor-type protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) family, found within the insulin secretory granules in the beta cell. It consists of an extracellular domain, a transmembrane region, and an intracytoplasmic domain, the latter recognized by IA-2A is expressed in the neuroendocrine cell, including pancreatic beta-, alpha-, and gamma-cells, but their clear function remains elusive in beta-cells signifying involvement in insulin regulation pathways in two ways, first by promoting insulin secretory granule mobilization to the plasma membrane for further release of insulin and secondly by translocation to the nucleus to regulate genes participating in insulin secretion (178, 179). Expression of IA-2 has also been demonstrated in splenocytes in the thymus suggesting implications in the negative selection of self-reactive immune cells (180).

#### ZnT8A

ZnT8 is a transmembrane protein highly expressed in beta-cells localized on the insulin secretory granules. It has an important role in supplying Zn+ ions from the  $\beta$ -cell cytoplasm into insulin secretory granules, which is crucial for the biosynthesis, storage, and secretion of insulin. ZnT8 is also moderately expressed in alpha-cells and kidney cells (181). There are three ZnT8A variants directed specifically against three epitopes at amino acid position 325; arginine (R), glutamate (Q), and tryptophan (W) (182, 183). A ZnT8A positive subject could have one or several of these variants.

#### Prediction by glucose metabolism

In addition to the autoantibodies, loss of glucose tolerance following a glucose challenge of an OGTT or an intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT), loss of

first phase insulin response (FPIR) to IVGTT, loss of C-peptide and elevated HbA1c precede T1D diagnosis by months to years (184). In prospective follow-up studies, these factors are measured regularly after seroconversion.

FPIR measures beta-cell function calculated by the sum of insulin concentration at 1 and 3 min in the IVGTT. A decline of FPIR is a sign of impaired beta-cell function preceding T1D several years before onset with a rapid decline detected in the last 1.5 years (185). Another metabolic predictor reflecting the beta-cell function is the C-peptide, a byproduct of proinsulin. The difference in 0 to 30 min C-peptide level from OGTT correlates with FPIR and starts to decline more than 2 years before T1D diagnosis mirroring the decline of FPIR (154, 186). A third metabolic predictor is HbA1c, which indicates the mean blood glucose level over the previous 8–12 weeks. We have shown in TEDDY children an increase (within normal limits) of HbA1c in progressors years before onset (187). The Diabetes Prediction and Prevention (DIPP) study has reported that a 10 % increase of HbA1c in two consecutive tests increased the risk 6-fold and predicted the clinical diagnosis (188). The threshold value for HbA1c for diabetes is  $\geq 6.5\%$  (48 mmol/mol), as determined by the World Health Organization and American Diabetes Association, which has been adapted from Type 2 diabetes. Thus, an HbA1c threshold specific for T1D has not been set and might therefore be set on a lower threshold due to the HbA1c increase years before onset still within normal limits. These markers predict the disease best in combination. The TEDDY study and the Diabetes Prevention Trial-Type 1 Risk Score (DPTRS), among others have each developed a combined risk score improving the prediction of the disease 2 years ahead (89, 189).

#### The search for biomarkers

As discussed earlier, the islet beta-cell autoantibodies are the best biomarkers of the autoimmune progression predicting T1D. However, the etiology is still unknown and the pathogenic processes leading to beta-cell loss and T1D are very heterogenous, implicating the need for more biomarkers especially because the time between the different stages of T1D varies from months to years. Biomarkers are needed for a better understanding of the etiology and the pathogenesis, improved prediction for better prevention studies (both primary and secondary), and better monitoring of therapeutic interventions.

# Aims

The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate biomarkers in the periphery that may predict seroconversion or different stages in the pathogenic process leading to T1D and to investigate the longitudinal impact of the antigen-specific immunotherapy with GAD-alum on T-cell profiles in the periphery through longitudinal follow-ups of children at increased genetic risk for T1D.

The specific aims are as follows:

- I. To investigate whether complete blood count (CBC) is associated with seroconversion or the number of islet beta-cell autoantibodies and whether the association differed by gender and HLA DR-DQ genotype in 4–12-year-old children from the Swedish TEDDY study cohort.
- II. To investigate whether CBC in seroconverted Swedish TEDDY children is associated with glucose metabolism measures (OGTT) and hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) and whether trajectories of these parameters differ between positivity for a single autoantibody or multiple autoantibodies.
- III. To investigate HbA1c as a predictive marker for the progression to a subsequent autoantibody (second, third, and fourth) or T1D in seroconverted TEDDY children during follow-up and if so to further investigate whether there is a difference between the two endotypes of IAA or GADA as the first appearing autoantibody.
- IV. To investigate whether immunization with recombinant GAD65 conjugated hydroxide (GAD-alum) treatment affected peripheral T-cell subpopulations in children positive for multiple beta-cell autoantibodies participating in the Diabetes Prevention–Immune Tolerance 2 (DiAPREV-IT 2) clinical trial during 2 years of follow-up post-treatment.
## Methods

## Study population

# The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study

The TEDDY study is a multicenter prospective observational cohort study aiming to identify environmental and genetic factors that trigger or protect against autoimmunity as the first outcome or T1D as the second. The study is conducted in six centers, three in Europe (Finland, Sweden, and Germany) and three in the US (Colorado, Georgia/Florida, and Washington). More than 400,000 newborns with an FDR or from the general population in these six centers were screened for T1D HLA class II high-risk genes (190), and eligible children were then asked to participate in the intensive prospective follow-up of which 8676 were enrolled.

The HLA analysis was performed at the different centers, and eligibility was confirmed after 9 months at the Central Reference Laboratory in Oakland. Most TEDDY children (89%) represent the general population without any FDR with T1D. Enrolled children are prospectively followed from birth until 15 years of age or T1D diagnosis with clinical visits at TEDDY clinics in the different centers. The visits start at 3 months and continue every third month until 4 years of age and biannually until 15 years of age or each third-month post seroconversion. Much data are collected during the visits, including blood samples (such as plasma, serum, mononuclear cells, mRNA, DNA, erythrocytes, and buffy coats), toenail clippings, drinking water, nasal swabs, salivary cortisol, stool samples, urine, and complete blood count (CBC) sample (only Sweden), dietary records, diaries with important life events, growth measurements (weight, length, and puberty signs), physical activity, and psychosocial questionnaires. Analysis intended for the processed blood includes autoantibody analysis, genotyping and epigenetic analysis, viruses, vitamin D, dietary antioxidants, red blood cell membrane fatty acid and cellular phenotyping and cellular analysis. In addition, clinical measurements of glucose metabolism and beta-cell function by OGTT and HbA1c tests are performed after seroconversion. The islet beta-cell autoantibodies (IAA, GADA, and IA-2A) are assayed and confirmed persistent if concordant at two laboratories, one at Bristol University and the other at Barbara Davis Center for Childhood Diabetes at the University of Colorado at two consecutive visits (97, 191). The enrollment in TEDDY started in 2004 and ended in 2010 and the study follow-up will continue until 2025. Paper I and II included participants from the Swedish TEDDY cohort only (Figure 7). Paper III included all seroconverted children from all sites to IAA first, GADA first, both IAA and GADA, or GADA, IAA, and ZnT8A (Figure 8).



Figure 7. Flowchart for papers I and II with children from the Swedish TEDDY cohort.



Figure 8. Flowchart for paper III with all seroconverted children to the combination of autoantibodies presented in the boxes. Doubled arrows indicate not mutually exclusive groups.

#### **Diabetes Prevention Immune Tolerance 2 (DiAPREV-IT 2) study**

The DiAPREV-IT 2 study is a randomized, double-blind investigator-initiated placebo-controlled clinical trial (NCT02387164) aiming to prevent or delay the autoimmune process in T1D. Antigen-Specific immunotherapy was used with the GAD autoantigen conjugated to alum (GAD-alum) produced as Diamvd® drug in combination with vitamin D supplement to boost the immune system. Diamyd® is well tolerated and safe (192). In the current study, two 20 µg doses of GAD-alum (or Alhydrogel for placebo treatment) were subcutaneously injected as prime and booster with one month apart, combined with a daily administered vitamin D (2000 IU) during the 24 months of study follow-up. The DiAPREV-IT 2 study was preceded by the DiAPREV-IT study that failed to prove the efficacy of GAD-alum (192) which led to premature termination of the participant enrollment when only 26 out of the 80 intended participants were enrolled (Figure 9). These 26 participants were recruited from three ongoing studies, TEDDY, Diabetes Prediction in Skåne (DiPiS), and TrialNET, and randomized for GAD-alum treatment (13 participants) or placebo (13 participants). The randomization was stratified by normal or impaired glucose metabolism at baseline evaluated with IVGTT or OGTT. The participants were asymptomatic for T1D, positive for GADA and at least one more autoantibody, and 4-17.99 years old followed in the study for 24 months with 3 months between each visit following the second treatment visit. The study followup included glucose tolerance tests (IVGTT, OGTT), HbA1c tests, complete blood count (CBC) tests, phenotyping of T-cells, autoantibody analysis, and physical examination.



Figure 9. Flow-chart for paper IV.

#### **Ethical permits**

Ethical approvals for papers I. II. and III were obtained from the following ethical institution review boards; the Swedish Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund (DNR 2004/217, 2017/667) and the Swedish Ethical Review Authority ( 2019/04405) in addition an annual review by the Lund University Committee for Continuing Ethical Review, the Hospital District of Southwest Finland Committee, the Ethik-Kommission der Bayerischen Landesärztekammer (Germany), the Colorado Multiple Institutional Review Board, the University of Florida Health Center Institutional Review Board, the Augusta University Institutional Review Board (Georgia), the University of South Florida Institutional Review Board, and the Western Institutional Review Board (Washington). The TEDDY study was also evaluated and observed by an external advisory board on behalf of the National Institute of Health in the US. The study in **paper IV** was approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund and the Swedish Medical Product Agency and conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (EUCTR 2014-003755-64). Written informed consents were obtained from all participants enrolled in each of the four papers.

## Laboratory Methods

#### HLA class II analysis (Paper I, II, III)

The TEDDY high-risk HLA-DR-DQ genotype screening was performed on cord blood samples or, in some cases (University of Washington, Seattle, WA site), on capillary blood from heel stick until the age of four months to increase the number of FDR participants. As previously published, a dried blood spot or a small volume of whole blood lysate sample was used for genotyping at each TEDDY center (190, 191). The HLA-DR-DQ genotyping of the eligible children was confirmed at 9 months old by the central HLA Reference Laboratory at Roche Molecular Systems, Oakland, CA, using high-resolution genotyping of HLA-DRB1, DQA1, and DQB1 (163, 190).

#### Islet autoantibody analysis

#### In TEDDY (Paper I, II, and III)

Islet autoantibodies (IAA, GADA and IA-2A) were analyzed every third month between 3 and 48 months of age and continue biannually for autoantibody negative children and every third month for seroconverted children until the age of 15 years or diagnosis of T1D. The autoantibody analysis was performed in either the Barbara Davis Center for Childhood Diabetes, University of Colorado, in the US or the University of Bristol in the UK, and all positive autoantibodies and 5% of the negative samples were confirmed after that in the other reference laboratory. These laboratories have high specificity, sensitivity, and concordance (166). A confirmed autoantibody was considered persistent if detected in two consecutive confirmed samples. These premises define persistent islet autoimmunity in TEDDY from the date of the draw when the first positive sample was taken (191). The ZnT8A was analyzed only in one of the two reference laboratories once seroconverted to one or several of GADA, IAA, or IA-2A (193).

The islet autoantibodies were analyzed by RBA as described elsewhere (167, 194, 195). In brief, the autoantigens were produced by in vitro transcription and translation and radiolabeled to be incubated with the blood serum from a participant. The radiolabeled antigens bind autoantibodies in the serum and form complexes that will precipitate to be collected and analyzed in a  $\beta$ -counter.

#### DiAPREV-IT 2 (Paper IV)

In the DiAPREV-IT 2 study, each islet autoantibodies IAA, GADA, IA-2A, and the three amino acid variants of ZnT8A (R/W/Q) were analyzed at baseline and every third month during the 24-month follow-up at the laboratory at CRC, Lund

University. The CRC laboratory participates in the Islet Autoantibody Standardization Program (IASP) workshop.

#### GADA and IA-2A

GAD65 and IA-2 antigens were labeled with [35S]methionine (Perkin Elmer). Serum samples were analyzed in duplicates in 96-well plates and incubated overnight at 4°C. The autoantibody-antigen complex was precipitated with 50% protein A-Sepharose in a filter plate, washed in a microplate washer (BioTek 405 LS, Bio Tek Instruments, Winooski, USA), dried, and resuspended in supermix scintillation cocktail (Perkin Elmer, Boston, MA, USA). GADA and IA-2A levels were expressed in U/mL derived WHO standard 97/550 (196) measured in a Wallac Microbeta Trilux (Perkin Elmer)  $\beta$  counter (197). The cut-off value for GADA is 34 U/mL and 5 U/mL for IA-2A positive samples.

#### IAA

IAA was analyzed with two methods, a non-competitive RBA for screening the positive samples and a competitive RBA to estimate the IAA levels more accurately in positive samples as described previously (198). In the non-competitive assay, sera from participants were incubated for 48 h at 4°C with radiolabeled <sup>125</sup>I-labeled human recombinant insulin (NEX420050UC, Perkin Elmer). Unbound radiolabeled insulin was separated from the autoantibody bound insulin by Protein A-Sepharose, washed, dried, and suspended in a Supermix Scintillation Cocktail (Perkin Elmer). The radioactivity was analyzed in the  $\beta$ -counter. The cut-off for an IAA positive sample is 3.6 U/mL. The positive samples were further analyzed in the competitive assay by incubating serum from the positive participants with radiolabeled insulin added to four wells and unlabeled insulin (Actrapid; Novo Nordisk) added to two of these wells. The samples were further processed as described above in the non-competitive assay. The final IAA titer levels were calculated by subtracting the radioactivity measured in the wells with radiolabeled and not labeled insulin and the wells with only radiolabeled insulin.

#### ZnT8-R/W/Q autoantibody

The three variants of ZnT8A (R/W/Q) were analyzed in a ZnT8-TripleA RBA with only 5  $\mu$ l serum and a 60  $\mu$ l mixture with all three radiolabeled ZnT8-R/W/Q as previously described (183). The cut-off value for positive ZnT8-RA, ZnT8-QA, and ZnT8-WA levels were 63, 99, and 74 Um/L, respectively.

#### Complete blood count (CBC) (Papers I, II, III, and IV)

CBC is a hematological analysis method and one of the most commonly used blood tests in the clinical laboratory presenting the counts (cells  $\times$  109/L) of each of the different white blood cell types (total leukocytes, neutrophils, lymphocytes, monocytes, basophils, eosinophils, and platelets) in the blood together with red

blood cell counts (cells × 1012/L), hemoglobin (HGB) (g/L), and different red blood cell indices [hematocrit (HCT) (L/L), mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) (pg), mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC) (g/L), mean corpuscular volume (MCV) (fL), and red cell distribution width (RDW) (% coefficient of variation)]. CBC was analyzed in a multi-parameter automated hematology analyzer (CELL-Dyn Ruby; Abbott Laboratories, Diagnostic Division). The CELL-Dyn Ruby uses Multi-Angle Polarized Scatter Separation (MAPSS<sup>TM</sup>) technology that uses four light scatter signals analyzed by detectors at four different angles for granularity (90° depolarized), nuclear lobularity (90°), intracellular complexity (10°) and size (0°) to separate the different blood cell types. The hemoglobin concentration was determined in the CELL-Dyn Ruby by monitoring the light absorbance in hemoglobin which is proportional to the hemoglobin concentration (199). The blood samples analyzed in the four papers were measured for CBC within 8 h from blood draw with only 100  $\mu$ l of whole blood per CBC test.

#### HbA1c (Paper II and III)

The HbA1c testing in TEDDY starts when a child develops her or his first autoantibody. If the child reverts and loses the autoantibody to a negative autoantibody status, HbA1c testing will be halted. The HbA1c is collected at each clinical site in TEDDY and sent to the Diabetes Diagnostic Laboratory (DDL) at the University of Missouri. HbA1c is analyzed by Tosoh G8 HPLC using the National Glycohemoglobin Standardization Program (NGSP) certified method (200).

#### **OGTT (Paper II)**

Autoantibody-positive children in TEDDY at  $\geq$  3 years of age are asked to complete a 2 h OGTT every 6 months. The child has to be fasting (except for water) for up to 8 h before OGTT. The child is given an oral glucose solution with 1.75 g glucose/kg body weight to be consumed within 5 min. A two-point OGTT was performed in TEDDY by collecting blood samples (using venipuncture) for glucose, insulin, and C-peptide analysis at 0 and 120 min. The two-point OGTT is the most commonly used in TEDDY, where more than 90% of all done OGTTs are with two points. A few children completed a six-point OGTT. The test is used to investigate the betacell function and diagnose T1D; therefore, glucose monitoring is done at each TEDDY center using different methods. T1D was determined according to the American Diabetes Association criteria for diagnosis (201). Insulin C-peptide and Insulin from OGTT are analyzed at the core laboratory at the Northwest Lipid Metabolism and Diabetes Research Laboratories, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington. The glucose level in mg/dL was determined by an enzymatic "in vitro" test using Roche hexokinase reagent on a Roche Double Modular P Analytics automated analyzer. Levels of C-peptide were measured by Tosoh

reagents on a TOSOH 2000 autoanalyzer (Tosoh Bioscience Inc., San Francisco, California). Insulin levels were determined by an immuno-enzymometric assay on the TOSOH 2000 autoanalyzer.

#### Flow cytometric phenotyping of T-cells (Paper IV)

Flow cytometry was utilized to assess different T-cell phenotypes in paper IV. The different T-cells were phenotyped based on their cellular expressed protein markers stained by monoclonal antibodies conjugated to fluorophores that are analyzed by the laser-based technology of a flow cytometer. The technology consists of three components, a fluidic system, an optic system, and an electronic system, all allowing the fast stream of cells over the laser beams to measure the optical traits of the cells. The fluidic system transports the stained cells from a suspension by hydrodynamic focusing with sheath fluid that focuses the cells through a tiny stream of fluid to be hit by the laser beam in the optic system one by one. Different detectors then measure the scattered light, forward scatter (FSC), and side scatter (SSC) from the cells providing information about cell size and granularity, and fluorescence detectors measure the fluorescence emitted by conjugated fluorophores simultaneously on the stained cells. Different lasers emit light at different wavelengths and different interrogation points. Emitted fluorescence from each fluorophore is isolated by their respective optical emission filters, which block certain wavelengths while transmitting others. Then, dichroic filters with mirrors direct the emitted fluorescence to the appropriate detector. The photomultiplier tubes (PMT) in flow cytometers are detectors that convert light into voltage pulses or electronic signals by the electronic system. These signals are later processed and analyzed in the flow cytometer software. Upon excitation, each fluorochrome releases energy or emits photons of light with higher wavelengths and its own emission spectrum, which may overlap in some extension with another fluorochrome spectrum, causing "spill over" in different channels. This could be a problem when staining with multicolor fluorescent dyes. A compensation process is performed to overcome this spillover by eliminating spectral overlap between the channels for a specific fluorophore by mathematic deconvolution programmed in the flow cytometer (202, 203). VersaComp antibody capture compensation beads were used for compensation in this study according to instructions by the manufacturer (Beckman Coulter, Inc, Brea, CA, USA). For more accurate gating, fluorescent minus one (FMO) controls were used when the multicolor panel of this study was set. In addition to the unstained cell negative gate, FMO could help to distinguish the real negative from the positive population by staining all the fluorophores minus the one in question. FMO controls are useful to put the correct gate when the expression level of a specific marker is low and to exclude background signals from spectral overlap (204). Flow cytometric analysis of T-cells was done every 6 months.

### Statistical methods

#### Linear mixed-effects models

Linear mixed-effects models were used in papers I, II, and III to model the repeated measurements over time while accounting for correlation between the measurements collected on the same individual. The heterogeneity in a population, both within and between individuals, is considered in the model using both fixed and random effects (thereby mixed effects model) for the longitudinal response. The mean responses for the population parameters are modeled as fixed effects, and subject-specific effects are modeled as random effects. The model allows for analyzing within- and between-subject correlation, as well as the mean response in the population over time, and to predict individual response trajectories. In paper I, a mixed-effects model was used to assess the association between the number of autoantibodies (0, 1, 2, and 3) and each CBC parameter, adjusting for age. Age and autoantibody number or status were treated as fixed effects in the model with a random intercept and slope. A similar model was used in paper II to assess the association between different CBC parameters and HbA1c, adjusting for the number of autoantibodies, age, gender, and HLA genotype. In the models for each of the CBC parameters, CBC was set as the dependent variable (outcome), and the independent covariates were age at baseline, gender, HLA category and the timedependent covariates were the number of positive islet autoantibodies and HbA1c. The association between HbA1c and autoantibody number was also studied using a mixed effects model with HbA1c as the outcome with autoantibody status as the time-dependent main predictor. Linear unbiased predictions were obtained from these mixed effects models for HbA1c and neutrophils. The association between different CBC parameters and glucose metabolism measures from OGTT was also assessed using mixed effects models with CBC parameters as the outcome, fixed effects for age, gender, and HLA category with a random intercept and slope. Twosided p-values of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant for papers I and II. In paper III, mixed-effects models were used in the trajectory analysis of HbA1c and BMI-z scores. A p<0.01 was considered statistically significant.

#### Wilcoxson's rank sum test

Wilcoxson's rank sum test is a non-parametric statistical test for two independent groups of samples comparing the medians in these paired independent observations. The test is used when normality in the outcome variable cannot be assumed. This is often the case in small data sets. This test was used in paper I to compare the age of the subjects at the time of the initial CBC measurement between those positive and negative for islet autoantibodies.

#### Fisher's exact test

Fisher's exact test is a non-parametric test used to analyze contingency tables of the number of samples or subjects categorized using two categorical covariates. The number of girls vs. boys with and without the HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype was compared using this test in paper I.

#### **Dynamic prediction model**

A dynamic prediction model was used in paper III to predict the time of occurrence of the next event, where the event was either the occurrence of a subsequent autoantibody or the onset of T1D using the HbA1c level as the main predictor. The model was constructed using joint models which model the hazard function using a competing risk model and the longitudinal data using mixed effects models. The competing risk model is a model used in survival analysis to study the association between the covariates of interest and the risk of transition from a non-event state to one of two or more events. In our study, we were interested in transitioning from having one autoantibody state to having two or more autoantibodies or being diagnosed with T1D. A proportional hazard was assumed for competing events. Covariates in the study included HLA (DR3/DR4 yes or no), gender, country, BMIz score, and HbA1c.

#### t-test

A t-test is used to test whether there is a statistically significant difference between the means of sets of data from two groups. The test assumes that the data in each group is normally distributed. The t-test was used in paper IV to compare the different measures (CBC, levels of different T-cell subsets and autoantibody titers) between the GAD-alum treated and placebo-treated group at each visit during the 24 months of follow-up in the DiAPREV-IT 2 study. A p-value <0.05 was considered marginally significant, and a p-value <0.01 was considered significant participants in the DiAPREV-IT 2 study.

## Results

## Paper I

#### The association of CBC and the number of autoantibodies

The characteristics and islet autoantibody status at the first CBC measurement of the 448 TEDDY children from Sweden who participated in this study are presented in Table 1. Effects by age on CBC were determined using the mixed-effects model on the 376 autoantibody negative children. The mixed-effects models investigating the differences in CBC between autoantibody positive and negative children were adjusted for age.

Islet autoantibody	Negative	Positive
	<i>n</i> =376	n=72
Children, n (%)	376 (84)	72 (16)
Sex, n		
Girls	182	30
Boys	194	42
Age at first CBC (months),		
median(min-max)	91 (52-145)	101.5 (59-139) n.s
Girls	91 (53-144)	103 (59-139)
Boys	94 (52-145)	99 (59-137)
CBC measures per child		
min-max	1-6	1-9
Months of follow up		
min-max	1-30	1-30
Islet autoantibody, n		
1	0	25
2	0	16
3	0	31
Change in IA status	none	none
HLA DR-DQ, n (%)		
DR3/4 -DQ2/8	151 (40.2)	39 (54.1)
DR4/4-DQ8/8	87 (23.1)	12 (16.7)
DR4/8-DQ8/4	40 (10.6)	12 (16.7)
DR3/3-DQ2/2	91 (24.2)	9 (12.5)
DR4/1-DQ8/5	4 (1.1)	0
DR4/13-DQ8/6	2 (0.5)	0
HLA ineligible	1 (0.3)	0

Table 1. Characteristics of TEDDY children investigated for CBC.

The main findings of this study were the reduction in white blood cells (p=0.007) due to the reduction in neutrophils primarily found in boys (p=0.004) and children with HLA-DR3- DQ2/DR4-DQ8 (p=0.01) associated with positivity for three autoantibodies compared to the autoantibody negative children (Table 2). A marginal reduction of lymphocytes was also found in all children with three autoantibodies (p=0.038). Reductions in red blood cell counts, hemoglobin, and hematocrit were found in children with multiple autoantibodies, primarily in girls (p=0.002, p=0.0007, p=0.0007) and children with HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 (p=0.006, p=0.031, p=0.004).

CBC	n IA	Estimate	Standard error	p value
White blood cells (10E9 cells/L)				
All	3	-0.613	0.225	0.007
Boys	3	-0.789	0.332	0.019
HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	3	-0.729	0.360	0.045
Neutrophils (10E9 cells/L)				
All	3	-0.427	0.141	0.003
Boys	3	-0.634	0.216	0.004
HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	3	-0.572	0.216	0.010
Lymphocytes (10E9 cells/L)				
All	3	-0.175	0.0840	0.038
Girls	2	0.368	0.175	0.038
Red Blood cells (10E12 cells/L)				
All	2	-0.200	0.089	0.026
Girls	2	-0.471	0.142	0.002
HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	3	-0.320	0.113	0.006
Hemoglobin (g/L)				
All	2	-0.635	0.235	0.008
Girls	2	-1.248	0.335	0.0007
HLA DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	3	-0.710	0.326	0.031
Hematocrit (L/L)				
All	2	-1.801	0.640	0.006
All	3	-1.034	0.525	0.050
Girls	2	-3.635	0.990	0.0007
HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	3	-2.514	0.853	0.004

Table 2. Summary of the main results. The association between CBC and the number of autoantibodies.

## Paper II

The 89 autoantibody positive Swedish TEDDY children included in this study are characterized in Table 3 and were followed for CBC measurements from June 2014 until April 2019. The major findings in this study were the significant association between the levels of red blood cell counts, parameters, and indices with glucose

metabolism measures, such as fasting glucose, fasting insulin and HbA1c, reflecting the islet beta-cell function.

Characteristics	Single Autoantibody n=34	Multiple Autoantibodies n=55
Gender, n (%)		
Girls	15 (44)	22 (40)
Boys	19 (56)	33 (60)
HLA-DR-DQ		
DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	17 (50)	30 (55)
DR4-DQ8/DR4-DQ8	3 (8)	14 (25)
DR4-DQ8/DR8-DQ4	7 (21)	7 (13)
DR3-DQ2/DR3-DQ2	7 (21)	4 (7)
IA at first CBC, n (%)		
0	4 (12)	2 (4)
1	30 (88)	5 (9)
2	0	21 (38)
3	0	27 (49)
Age at First CBC Obs (yrs)		
Median (SD)	9.3 (1.5)	8.1 (1.8)
Min-Max	5.2-12.0	5.0-11.4
CBC follow-up, years		
Median (SD)	2.5 (1.8)	2.0 (1.6)
Min-Max	0.0 - 4.7	0.0 - 4.9

Table 3. Characteristics of the 89 single and multiple autoantibody positive children included in paper II.

#### CBC association with HbA1c, fasting glucose, and fasting insulin

The mixed repeated measure model with CBC as the dependent variable presented an inverse association between HbA1c and both MCH (Estimate (SE) = -1.51(0.3)) (p <0.001) and MCV (Estimate (SE) = -3.67(0.57)) (p < 0.001). These associations were also affected by high-risk HLA-DR-DQ genotypes (p=0.019, p < 0.001) and the first appearing autoantibody of GADA or IAA (p < 0.001, p =0.004). The association between different CBC parameters and glucose metabolism measures obtained from OGTT in children with multiple autoantibodies (GADA, IAA, IA-2A, ZnT8A) are presented in Table 4. Inverse significant associations between the CBC measurements of red blood cell counts, hemoglobin, hematocrit, or MCH levels and fasting glucose levels were found, as well as the association between increased levels of these CBC parameters and increased fasting levels insulin. A decrease in RDW was associated with an increase in fasting insulin. Increased levels of white blood cells, lymphocytes, neutrophils, and basophils were associated with an increased level of 120 min glucose measure.

Table 4. Associations between red blood cell counts, parameter levels and indices with OGTT measures in children with multiple autoantibodies.

СВС	n	Glucose (0) estimate (SE)	Glucose (120 min) estimate (SE)	Insulin (0) estimate (SE)
Red blood cells	49	- 0.023 (0.008) p=0.003	-	0.13 (0.03) p<0.001
Hematocrit	49	– 0.002 (0.0006) p=0.002	-	0.011 (0.002) p<0.001
Hemoglobin	49	-0.58 (0.20) p=0.006	-	3.9 (0.8) p<0.001
MCV	50	-	-	-
МСН	54	-	-	0.13 (0.05) p=0.021
RDW	54	-	-	-0.55 (0.024) p=0.021
White blood cells	50	-	0.007 (0.002) p=0.002	-
Neutrophils	50	-	0.004 (0.002) p=0.016	-
Lymphocytes	50	-	0.003 (0.001) p=0.008	-
Basophils	50	-	0.00008 (0.00004) p=0.021	-

#### **Predicted trajectories**

The mixed-effects model with HbA1c as the dependent variable revealed an association between increased levels of HBA1c and the number of autoantibodies (p < 0.001). Predicted trajectories over the 2–4.9 years of follow-up for HbA1c and CBC were estimated from the respective mixed-effects models. Predicted trajectories were stratified by the number of islet autoantibodies (single or multiple) to further investigate any difference between children with single or multiple islet autoantibodies at the initial observation. Differences were found in predicted trajectories of HbA1c and neutrophil counts (p < 0.001). In agreement with our earlier findings in paper I, predicted neutrophil counts were lower in children with multiple autoantibodies (p < 0.001) and decreased with the number of autoantibodies had an impact on the predicted HBA1c levels with higher HBA1c in children with multiple autoantibodies (p < 0.001), increasing by age (p < 0.001) (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Predicted trajectories for neutrophil counts (A) and HbA1c (B) stratified by the number of islet beta-cell autoantibodies. Each trajectory represents one child.

### Paper III

Autoantibody-positive children in the TEDDY cohort were investigated in four subcohorts, starting with the following combination: 1) IAA as the first autoantibody, 2) GADA as the first autoantibody, 3) GADA and IAA positivity, and 4) IAA, GADA, and ZnT8A positivity. These are followed with HbA1c measures until a subsequent state of autoantibody development or T1D diagnosis. The demographic data and number of HbA1c for these four subcohorts is summarized in Table 5.

#### HbA1c association with autoantibodies and T1D

The main results of this study obtained by the dynamic prediction model were the association between increased HbA1c and the clinical onset of T1D (p<0.001) with an augmented rate of increase of HbA1c in progressors in proximity to the clinical onset of T1D (quadratic estimate 0.47, SE (0.092), p < 0.001), visualized in landmark plots going back 5 years before the clinical onset of T1D (Figure 11). The landmark plots present the predicted mean trajectories of HbA1c. This linear increase of HbA1c in progressors was not affected by any beta-cell autoantibody or combination of autoantibodies. No association was found between increasing HbA1c and any additional subsequent autoantibody, such as a second, third, or fourth. Another important finding of this study is the association between decreased HbA1c and the development of IA-2A either as a second autoantibody following GADA as the first (HR 0.85, 95% CI [0.75,0.97], p=0.017) or the fourth autoantibody following GADA, IAA, and ZnT8A (HR 0.90, 95% CI [0.82,0.99],

p=0.036). Moreover, HLA DR3/DR4 heterozygosity was associated with GADA as the second autoantibody following IAA (HR 1.89, 95% CI [1.27,2.800], p=0.002) and IAA as the second following GADA (HR 2.16, 95% CI [1.43,3.26], p=0.001). Females had a higher risk of developing IA-2A as the third autoantibody following GADA and IAA (HR 1.81, 95% CI [1.17,2.79], p=0.007). First-degree relatives with IAA had a higher risk of developing two or more autoantibodies (HR 3.707, 95% CI [1.754,7.834], p<0.001).

 Table 5. Demographic data, number of HbA1c measurements, and number of T1D diagnoses as the next event in the four subcohorts.

Subcohorts	IAA first n=30	GADA first n=361	AA+GADA n=257	IAA+GADA+ZnT8A n=115
Gender, n (%)				
Female	139 (46)	168 (47)	116 (45)	54 (47)
Male	161 (54)	193 (53)	141 (55)	61 (53)
HLA genotype, n (%)				
DR4/DR3	144 (48)	177 (49)	161 (63)	66 (57)
DR4/DR4	54 (18)	56 (16)	39 (15)	20 (17)
DR4/DR8	62 (21)	43 (12)	28 (11)	14 (12)
DR3/DR3	26 (9)	79 (22)	15 (6)	8 (7)
Other	14 (5)	6 (2)	14 (5)	7 (6)
Baseline Age, median	2.0	5.0	2.8	5.2
(min-max)	(0.3–13.7)	(0.3–14.0)	(0.5–14.6)	(1.2–13.8)
Number HbA1c* , median	9	8	3	5
(min-max)	(1-43)	(1-34)	(1–40)	(1-43)
Number of T1D**	14	11	28	15

\*number of HbA1c measures until the next state

\*\*number of T1D diagnoses for next state



Figure 11. Landmark plots of predicted mean HbA1c going back 5 years from each event (a subsequent antibody state or T1D). Right-hand panels in the diagrams present trajectories for each subject. The four plots represent each subcohort: A) IAA single autoantibody positives, B) GADA single autoantibody positives, C) IAA and GADA positives, and D) IAA, GADA, and ZnT8A positives. Censored grey lines present subjects that were lost to follow-up before the transition into the next event of autoantibody development or T1D.

### Paper IV

The baseline characteristics of the 26 children treated with GAD-alum (13 subjects) or placebo (13 subjects) are presented in Table 6.

#### Long term effect of GAD-alum on T-cells

The main finding of this study was the lower levels of both naïve and effector memory T-cells of both CD3+/CD4+ T-helper cells and CD3+/CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells detected 18 to 24 months post-treatment with GAD-alum compared to the placebo treatment. The different T-cell subpopulations with significantly lower levels associated with GAD-alum treatment 18 to 24 months after treatment are presented in Table 7. No correlation was found between the GADA titers and the treated group's lower T-cell levels. A significant increase of GADA titers at 6 and 12 months following the two doses of GAD-alum were found in the GAD-alum treated group compared to the placebo group (Figure 12).

Table 6. Baseline characteristics of the participants.

	GAD-alum n=13	Placebo n=13
Gender, n (%)		
Female	7 (53.8)	4 (30.8)
Male	6 (46.2)	9 (69.2)
First degree relatives, n (%)		
Yes	4 (30.8)	2 (15.4)
No	9 (69.2)	11 (84.6)
High risk HLA haplotypes, n (%)		
DR3-DQ2	5 (38.4)	7 (53.8)
DR4-DQ8	13 (100)	12 (92.3)
Positive beta-cell autoantibodies, n (%)		
2	1 (7.7)	2 (15.4)
3	3 (23.1)	5 (38.5)
4	4 (30.8)	3 (23.1)
5	4 (30.8)	1 (7.7)
6	1 (7.7)	2 (15.4)
<sup>2</sup> GADA titers, mean (SD), (min-max)	916 (916),	1198 (1626),
(U/mL)	(58-2645)	(72-6006)
Age, mean (SD),	9.0 (2.9),	9.4 (2.7),
(min-max)	(4.6-13.8)	(4.6-13.0)

Table 7. GAD-alum	i treatment as	sociations with	lower levels	of different	T-cell subpop	ulations, 18-	-24 months (	visit 8-
10) post-treatment.								

Phenotyped T-cell populations	<sup>1</sup> Visit	<sup>2</sup> Estimate	95% CI	p-value
T-cells CD3+	8 10	-0.41 -0.36	-0.7, -0.12 -0.66, -0.06	0.008 0.022
CD3+CD4+	8 10	-0.24 -0.20	-0.43, -0.06 -0.39, 0	0.014 0.048
CD4+ CD45RA+ CD45RO-	8	-0.18	-0.33, -0.03	0.019
CD4+ CD45RA+ CD45RO+	8	-0.03	-0.06, 0	0.038
CD4+CD45RA+CD62L+	8	-0.19	-0.34, -0.05	0.013
CD4+CD45RA+CD62L-	8	-0.01	-0.02, 0	0.039
CD4+CD62L+	8	-0.25	-0.46, -0.05	0.017
CD4+CD62L-	8	-0.03	-0.05, -0.01	0.008
CD3+CD8+	8 10	-0.15 -0.12	-0.28, -0.02 -0.22, -0.02	0.023 0.018
CD8+ CD45RA+ CD45RO-	8 10	-0.11 -0.11	-0.22, -0.01 -0.20, -0.01	0.035 0.028
CD8+CD45RA+CD62L+	8 10	-0.11 -0.11	-0.2, -0.02 -0.18, -0.03	0.020 0.011
CD8+CD62L+	10	-0.09	-0.16, -0.01	0.023
CD8+CD62L-	8	-0.06	-0.12, -0.01	0.032

<sup>1</sup>Visits 8 and 10 equal 18, respectively, 24 months of follow-up after first treatment dose. <sup>2</sup>Estimated difference between GAD-alum-treated children and placebo-treated children. 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.



**Figure 12.** Cross-sectional analysis of GADA titers stratified by treatment (GAD65-alum /placebo) was presented as boxplots at study follow-up visits 0, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10.

## Discussion

The studies presented in this thesis have provided a new understanding of the association between islet beta-cell autoantibodies and peripheral blood cells with red blood cell parameters, HbA1c, glucose metabolism, and the long-term effect of GAD-alum on T-cells in asymptomatic children at increased risk for T1D. Covering different knowledge gaps in the pathogenesis of T1D, will increase the understanding of disease mechanisms, improve heterogeneity typing, and refine the different stages of T1D, which all lead to the goal of personalized medicine therapies and addressing necessary steps in screening for T1D in the general population targeting standard clinical practice for prediction. Currently, screening of T1D in children in screening and surveillance programs, such as TEDDY, has reduced the frequency of DKA, leading to reduced diabetic complications. However, these screenings are currently only achieved for research efforts due to the heterogeneity in the disease progression and the substantial variation in time between T1D stages.

The complete blood count is not well studied in children at genetic risk for T1D. Therefore, we investigated the correlation between autoimmunity and CBC. We found a reduction in neutrophil counts in boys and children with HLA-DR3/DR4 and a reduction in red blood cell counts, hemoglobin, and hematocrit in girls and children with HLA-DR3/DR4 associated with the number of autoantibodies. This association and the result that none of the CBC parameters were associated with seroconversion describe the achieved associations in paper I due to autoimmunity. Following earlier cross-sectional, relatively smaller studies with FDRs (205, 206), a reduction of neutrophils was found in autoantibody-positive children. However, our study is longitudinal, including a substantial number of participants showing that neutrophil reduction is associated with increased autoantibodies, predominantly in boys and children with HLA DR3/DR4. Nevertheless, the reduction in red blood cells and their parameters are, to our knowledge, a novel finding.

The strength of this study was the longitudinal follow-up of 448 children for 3 years with multiple CBC measurements. Another strength is that CBC in this study is prospective from healthy children with increased genetic risk, making our results more reliable and useful than pediatric reference intervals based on retrospectively collected data from hospitalized patients.

One limitation of this study is that CBC was only performed in Sweden and not in the other three TEDDY sites (USA, Germany, and Finland). Another weakness is

that the transition from one autoantibody status to another could not be investigated due to a lack of change in autoantibody status during follow-up, which prohibited the investigation of CBC change before and after seroconversion.

Neutrophils and a diminished number of white blood cells have been linked with several autoimmune diseases (206-210). Moreover, viral infections are linked with mild neutropenia (211). A neutrophil reduction could be due to impaired bone marrow hematopoiesis, peripheral damage consumption, apoptosis, pooling to other organs, such as the pancreas, and tissue detention (212, 213). Previous studies have suggested an accumulation of neutrophils in the pancreas that may be linked to insulitis (205, 206, 211, 214). Thus, the reduced neutrophil counts associated with three autoantibodies may promote accelerated pathogenesis by directing the autoimmune attack on beta-cells by increasing the risk for infections. Viral infections or toxins may alter the CBC leading to impaired hematopoiesis in these autoantibody positive children (211, 215, 216). The reduction of red blood cells, hemoglobin, and hematocrit in girls and children with HLA-DR3/DR4 with multiple autoantibodies could be due to perturbed hematopoiesis, infections, or peripheral destruction.

In paper II, we wanted to investigate whether these alterations in CBC associated with multiple autoantibodies were associated with glucose metabolism measurements or HbA1c reflecting the beta-cell function. Children from paper I and additional children who seroconverted during the 5 years of the follow-up period were included in paper II. The major findings of this paper are the inverse correlation between increased HBA1c and MCV, as well as MCH, HBA1c, red blood cells, hemoglobin, hematocrit, and fasting glucose in seroconverted children, all signaling a disorder of the red blood cell homeostasis and function associated with impaired glucose metabolism. On the other hand, a positive correlation between fasting insulin and red blood cells, hemoglobin, hematocrit, and MCH and a negative correlation with RDW was presented, reflecting normal blood cell homeostasis, and a normal beta-cell function. The strength of this study is the 5-year prospective longitudinal follow-up of 89 seroconverted healthy children with CBC, OGTT, and HbA1c.

Low red blood cells, hemoglobin hematocrit, MCH, and MCV may suggest an impaired hematopoietic cell production in the bone marrow related to the pathogenesis of T1D due to loss of beta-cell function, destruction, or both. It may also reflect deficient iron storage due to deficiency or low ferritin levels (217). Erythropoietin is a glycoprotein hormone that has a key role in the regulating of erythropoiesis and has also been linked to glucose metabolism by increasing glucose uptake in adipocytes (218). It could be speculated that innate deterioration of beta-cell function leading to lower insulin levels is a general regulator of protein synthesis and may affect hemoglobin synthesis, erythropoietin, or other proteins involved in the erythropoiesis by an unknown mechanism. Another speculation is that conspicuous loss of beta-cell function leading to increased blood glucose may

affect the erythropoiesis in the bone marrow leading to reduced red blood cells and red blood cell parameters.

We also presented trajectories of HbA1c, showing an increase of HbA1c in children with two or more autoantibodies compared with children with one single autoantibody. In addition to autoantibodies, age also affected the HbA1c increase over time.

Due to a shortage of resources, CBC was only measured in Sweden and not in the other TEDDY sites, which resulted in a smaller cohort. Another weakness in this study is the lack of HbA1c measurements in autoantibody-negative children who did not develop autoantibodies.

Reduced neutrophil counts associated with the number of autoantibodies were presented in paper I and confirmed in paper II; however, this was not affected by glucose metabolism measures. In contrast, increased white blood cells, mainly lymphocytes but also neutrophils and basophils, were associated with increased 120 min glucose (OGTT) in children positive for multiple autoantibodies. This agrees with earlier studies reporting an increase in white blood cells associated with impaired glucose tolerance in healthy and diabetic subjects (219, 220).

In paper III, we investigated if levels of HbA1c could predict the progression from the first autoantibody to the second, third, fourth, or T1D diagnosis. The main findings of this study were the association between increased HbA1c and T1D regardless of prior autoantibody status or combination, more rapid rate of increase in HbA1c with increasing autoantibody number and increasing rate of increase in HbA1c over time due to proximity to T1D onset. The rise of HbA1c in progressors could be predicted as early as 5 years before T1D onset. Another important novel finding is the transition to IA-2A as the second or fourth autoantibody associated with a decrease in HbA1c. This finding is important and has to be further investigated as it may reflect a more aggressive autoimmune attack on beta-cells leading to autoantibody spreading or insulin leakage into the bloodstream, given that IA-2A appearance is associated with a rapid progression risk of T1D (193, 221, 222).

The strength of this study is represented by the entire TEDDY cohort in Europe and the US with a large number of autoantibody positive children from the general population followed from birth until 15 years of age following the same protocol.

T1D disease progression is very heterogeneous among individuals affected by age, genetics, BMI, and gender (223). More accurate biomarkers predicting the time between each of the T1D stages are limited and thus needed to complement the autoantibody screening in prospective surveillance programs for improved prediction. Considering that the risk of multiple autoantibodies is age-related and declines exponentially with age emphasizes the need for more predictive age-related biomarkers (224).

The joint statistical model designed for this study could be further developed to be used as a tool with HbA1c to predict the time more accurately to T1D diagnosis, improving clinical trial designs and, in turn, improving personalized medicine.

The inability to analyze all combinations of autoantibodies is one limitation in this study due to the limited number of children having the combination. The HbA1c analysis in TEDDY started 4 years after the study, causing missed HbA1c information for the children in question. The HbA1c measurements were done from the 9-month visit by the earliest, as fetal hemoglobin may otherwise interfere with the outcome.

In agreement with earlier studies, HbA1c is a perfect biomarker for predicting T1D (188, 225). In this study, we present an advanced statistical prediction model that could be further used to predict the time to T1D with HbA1c.

The increased HbA1c levels associated with T1D onset are detected as early as 5 years from T1D diagnosis. These HbA1c values still within reference intervals may add to the literature better reference intervals corrected for children as the currently available reference intervals are derived from adults.

The effect of GAD-alum immune tolerance on T-cells in a longitudinal follow-up was investigated in paper IV, and the main finding was the long-term effect of GADalum associated with lower levels of T-cells, T-helper cells (CD3 + CD4+), and cytotoxic T-cells (CD3 + CD8+) together with other subgroups of both naïve and effector memory cells detected 18 and 24 months after treatment with GAD-alum in nondiabetic children positive for multiple beta-cell autoantibodies. These low levels of T-cells would be a sign of tolerance lasting at least 2 years post-treatment. The treatment of GAD-alum is safe and well-tolerated in children; however, the efficacy of the treatment in preventing or delaying T1D is still to be debated. To preserve beta-cell function or prevent the T-cell mediated autoimmunity, it is important in future studies to also intervene with GAD-alum immune tolerance treatment before seroconversion or positivity for GADA as a single autoantibody in children at genetic risk. Hence, the immunomodulatory effect of GAD-alum on Tcells is important to understand and improve clinical intervention studies with GADalum. This is to our knowledge the first study in which the immunomodulatory effects of GAD-alum were investigated in nondiabetic children with multiple autoantibodies. However, immunomodulatory effects of GAD-alum have been investigated mostly in children with T1D upon in vitro stimulation with GAD (226, 227). Recent studies with intralymphatic administered GAD-alum have shown preserved C-peptide up to 15 months, stronger immune responses, and reduced GAD-65 stimulated cytotoxic CD8+ and CD4+ T-helper central memory cells in patients with recent onset of T1D carrying the HLA DR3-DQ2 haplotype (228, 229). Together with our results, these results emphasize further studies on GAD-alum with different formulations and modes of administration in participants at stage 1, 2 or 3 of T1D or just at genetic risk before seroconversion.

The strength of this study is that all included participants are non-diabetic children positive for multiple autoantibodies, and to our knowledge, this is the first study dissecting the long-term effect of GAD-alum on T-cells in non-diabetic subjects. A major weakness is the limited number of study participants.

## Future aspects

The cellular and molecular mechanisms behind the gender and HLA-related alterations in CBC with an increasing number of autoantibodies need to be further explored. In addition, as both the neutrophils and the red blood cells were reduced in children with multiple autoantibodies, the hematopoiesis and erythropoiesis need to be investigated to understand their possible role in the pathogenesis of T1D and to later refine the stages in the progression to T1D onset. The reduction in neutrophils by the number of autoantibodies may contribute to the pathogenesis of T1D and has thus to be further investigated. The decrease in red blood cells, hemoglobin, hematocrit, and red blood cell indices MCV and MCH associated with increased HbA1c and fasting glucose, reflecting an impaired glucose metabolism and thereby a diminished beta-cell function, may suggest these CBC measurements as predictive markers for T1D risk. The reason behind the reduction in red blood cells and red blood cell parameters needs to be elucidated, e.g., by measuring the ferritin level in children at increased genetic risk for T1D. The predictive dynamic statistical model presented in paper III has been developed to accurately predict time to T1D with mean HbA1c levels. A manuscript is in the process of presenting this predictive model as a tool to predict time to T1D with data from autoantibodypositive subjects in TEDDY. The transition to IA-2A positivity following GADA or GADA, IAA, and ZnT8A associated with a decrease in HbA1c is a novel finding that needs further investigation in children with multiple autoantibodies. The elevated levels of HbA1c in children still in normal ranges detected years before T1D is a warning signal that may suggest better normal reference intervals for HbA1c in children. The existing HbA1c reference interval for children needs to be refined for different ages, e.g., 42 mmol/mol as an upper limit for the normal range is slightly high for a 5-year-old but maybe not for a 13-year-old. The results in paper IV show a long-term effect of GAD-alum on T-cells which in turn emphasizes further intervention studies with different formulations and modes of administration in participants within stage 1, 2, or 3 or, only at genetic risk for T1D to preserve beta-cell function or prevent autoimmunity.

## Conclusions

- The gender and HLA genotype-related reductions in CBC associated with the number of beta-cell autoantibodies may be a consequence of islet beta-cell autoimmunity.
- Reduction in neutrophils, primarily in boys and children with HLA-DR3/DR4 was inversely associated with the number of autoantibodies.
- Reduction in red blood cells, hemoglobin, and hematocrit was associated with multiple autoantibodies, primarily in girls and children with HLA DR3/DR4.
- The negative associations between red blood cell counts, hemoglobin, hematocrit, and the red blood cell indices, MCV and MCH, with the  $\beta$ -cell function in seroconverted children suggest that these CBC measurements may be used as predictive markers in the prediction of T1D.
- Subtle and insidious changes in glucose levels may affect the hematopoiesis in the bone marrow resulting in changes in the red blood cell counts and the levels of its parameters.
- The reduction in neutrophil counts associated with the number of autoantibodies was not associated with glucose metabolism measures.
- HbA1c is a useful predictive biomarker that can predict T1D several years before onset.
- The statistical dynamic prediction model with HbA1c, the predictive biomarker, could further be developed to predict the time for T1D onset.
- A rapid rate of increase of HbA1c over time is associated with three autoantibodies.
- The appearance of IA-2A as the second autoantibody following GADA or as the fourth following GADA, IAA, and ZnT8A is associated with a decrease in HbA1c and needs further investigation.
- Immune tolerance treatment with GAD-alum has a long-term impact on different subtypes of T-cells suggesting a persistent effect that lasts for at least 2 years. This warrants further investigation to improve the efficacy of GAD-alum.

## Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

### Markörer i blodet som förutsäger typ 1 diabetes

Autoimmuna sjukdomar är ett samlingsnamn på sjukdomar där det egna immunförsvaret attackerar kroppsegen vävnad, typ 1 diabetes (T1D) är en sådan livslång sjukdom. T1D uppstår till följd av att immunförsvaret i kroppen angriper och förstör de insulinproducerande kroppsegna cellerna, de så kallade Langerhanska cellöarna i bukspottskörteln vilket leder till total förlust av insulinproduktionen. Hormonet insulin hjälper kroppen att tillgodogöra sig energi i form av glukos från maten vilket därmed reglerar sockernivån i blodet. Utan insulin kan inte glukosen tas upp av cellerna och ansamlas därmed i blodet vilket leder till högt blodsocker som är både farligt och skadligt för kroppen. Första tecknen på T1D hos barn är stora mängder urin, ökad törst, trötthet och viktnedgång. Obehandlat högt blodsocker kan leda till ett livshotande tillstånd, kallat ketoacidos som kan leda till medvetslöshet, koma och död. Sjukdomen uppträder vanligtvis under barndomen eller tonåren men kan också uppträda i vuxen ålder. Förekomsten av T1D har ökat under de senaste decennierna bland barn i hela världen. Idag finns inget botemedel och drabbade barn och vuxna behandlas flera gånger dagligen med insulininjektioner för att ersätta det kroppsegna insulinet och kunna överleva. Behandlingen är idag riktad på att hålla blodsockret på rätt nivå med hjälp av insulin, kost och en hälsosam livsstil för att förhindra komplikationerna orsakade av högt eller lågt blodsocker.

Den högsta förekomsten av T1D finns i Finland följt av Sverige. Detta beror på att folk i Norden har en viss medfödd benägenhet genom specifika arvsanlag vilket medför risk för att utveckla T1D. Den ökade risken kan härledas till vissa transplantationsantigener, så kallade HLA-gener vilka bidrar till omkring 50% av den genetiska risken och kodar för proteiner på immuncellers yta som presenterar fragment (antigen) till specifika vita blodkroppar och därmed aktiverar T-cellerna vilka utgör en viktig del i immunförsvaret mot virus. I Sverige bär 20% av befolkningen på riskanlagen. Dock insjuknar endast 1,5% av dessa individer med ökad risk vilket tyder på andra hittills okända miljöfaktorer som tillsammans med ärftlig risk kan leda till sjukdomen. Virusinfektioner, rubbningar i mag- och tarmkanalen och kost är miljöfaktorer som i vissa studier kunnat kopplas till risken för att drabbas. Den autoimmuna processen som förstör de insulinproducerande beta-cellerna börjar månader till år före diagnos och karaktäriseras av symtom som uppträder först då 90 % av beta-cellerna är förlorade och en omedelbar behandling med insulin krävs. Orsaken till sjukdomen är således okänd. Vår forskning går ut på att försöka lösa gåtan kring de hittills okända faktorerna som leder till T1D, samt att hitta markörer för att bättre förutsäga risk för sjukdom och förstå sjukdomsförloppet. Resultaten kan i framtiden användas till att förhindra den autoimmuna attacken eller bevara den kvarvarande funktionen av de insulinproducerande cellerna hos barn med förhöjd risk att drabbas.

T1D föregås av autoantikroppar som kan mätas genom ett enkelt blodprov. Dessa är antikroppar som kroppen bildar mot de insulinproducerande cellerna och utgör markörer för immunförsvarets attack mot de insulinproducerande cellerna. Det finns fyra sorters T1D autoantikroppar: IAA, GADA, IA-2A och ZnT8A. Förekomst av autoantikroppar markerar ökad risk för T1D och ju fler som utvecklas desto större risk har man. Tiden från första autoantikroppen till sjukdomsdebut variera mellan månader och flera år där vuxna har den längsta fördröjningen medan barn insjuknar tidigare. Barn som har två eller fler autoantikroppar har en hög risk för att drabbas inom 5–10 år. Förloppet före T1D debut brukar delas in i tre steg för att bäst kunna förutsäga sjukdom och möjlighet att utföra fördröjande eller förebyggande kliniska studier. Första steget kännetecknas av utvecklingen av två eller fler autoantikroppar, steg 2 kännetecknas av en nedsatt glukostolerans. Nedsatt glukosintolerans innebär en försämrad funktion hos de insulinproducerande cellerna att producera insulin och hantera blodsockret. Den nedsatta glukostoleransen kan mätas med en sockerbelastning och utvärderas genom mått på glukos, insulin och C-peptid (biprodukt till insulin). En nedsatt glukostolerans innebär en stor förlust av de insulinproducerande cellerna. T1D debuterar vid steg 3 med klassiska T1D symtom och ca 90 procent av de insulinproducerande cellerna har förstörts. Tiden mellan de olika stegen varierar mycket mellan individer och kan ta dagar till år innan T1D diagnos.

Barnen som har studerats i denna avhandling är friska med förhöjd ärftlig risk för T1D i åldern 0–15 år och har deltagit i en longitudinell uppföljning i antingen The Diabetes Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) studien eller i Diabetes Prevention - Immune Tolerance 2 (DiAPREV-IT 2) studien.

TEDDY studien är en stor internationell forskningsstudie som genomförs i Finland, Sverige, Tyskland och USA. Målet med studien är att följa upp friska barn från födseln och tills de fyllt 15 år för att ta reda på olika miljöfaktorer som kan utlösa en autoimmunitet som i slutändan leder till diagnos av T1D. Nyfödda barn screenades med hjälp av navelsträngsblod för arvsanlag för T1D. Totalt 8676 barn med förhöjd ärftlig risk inkluderades i studien mellan 2004–2010. Barnen följs upp var tredje månad från födseln fram tills de fyllt 4 år därefter följs autoantikroppsnegativa barn var sjätte månad medan autoantikroppspositiva barn fortsätter att följas upp var tredje månad. Prover och information som samlas in vid besöken omfattar blodprover (för analys av antikroppar, olika celler, glukosmetabolism, arvsanlag och olika proteiner), urin, tånaglar, saliv, avföring, nässekret, vatten från hushållet, allmän hälsoundersökning, tillväxt och pubertetstecken, matdagböcker, information om fysisk aktivitet, medicinering samt viktiga livshändelser så som sjukdom.

DiAPREV-IT 2 är en klinisk studie med målet att förhindra T1D eller fördröja insjuknandet i T1D med hjälp av GAD-alum behandling som ska vänja kroppen vid GAD-antigenet genom att introducera immuntolerans. Studien planerades att inkludera 80 barn där hälften behandlades med GAD-alum injektion och ett dagligt tillskott av D-vitamin för att förstärka immunsystemet och hälften behandlades med en injektion av en overksam substans tillsammans med ett dagligt D-vitamintillskott för att jämföra effekterna av behandlingen. Endast 26 barn hann inkluderas i studien innan resultat från en tidigare studie med samma GAD-alum behandling visade att behandlingen inte kunde fördröja eller stoppa insjuknandet och därför stoppades rekrytering till studien. Dessa 26 barn följdes i två år med regelbundna besök var tredje månad med olika prover däribland blodprover för att följa autoantikroppsutvecklingen och glukosmetabolismen.

Målet med denna avhandling var att hitta olika markörer i blodet som bättre förutsäger olika steg i sjukdomsprocessen samt öka kunskapen kring olika cellulära sjukdomsmekanismer vid autoimmunitet. Syftet med första studien var att undersöka om det fanns en relation mellan ändringar i blodbilden dvs antalet vita och röda blodceller i blodet och positivitet för autoantikroppar eller antalet autoantikroppar hos svenska barn som deltar i TEDDY studien med eller utan autoantikroppar. Resultaten visade att barn som bär HLA gener med högst risk (HLA-DR3/DR4) och pojkar hade låga nivåer av neutrofiler (en viss typ av vita blodkroppar) jämfört med barn som inte hade utvecklat autoantikroppar. Medan barn med HLA-DR3/DR4 och flickor hade lägre antal av röda blodceller tillsammans med lägre röda blodcells parametrar (hemoglobin och hematokrit) som beskriver egenskaper hos cellen. Ju fler antikroppar desto lägre nivåer av neutrophiler och röda blodceller hos barnen.

Syftet med andra studien var att undersöka om den förändrade blodbilden som påvisades i första studien påverkas av nedsatt funktion av de insulinproducerande cellerna som återspeglas i tester för långtidssockret i blodet så kallat HbA1c och sockerbelastningar. HbA1c är ett test som anger medelsockernivån i blodet över de senaste tre månaderna. Resultaten visade att en ökad HbA1c nivå över tid som återspeglar en nedsatt förmåga för kroppen att hantera blodsockret vilket leder till högt blodsocker är associerad med en lägre genomsnittlig hemoglobinmassa i blodcellen och en mindre storlek av den röda blodcellen (MCH och MCV) vilket tyder på lägre järndepåer i blodet. Lägre nivåer av röda blodceller, hemoglobin och hematokrit var associerade med en ökad blodsockernivå vid fasta. Dessa resultat tyder på nedsatt förmåga i kroppen för glukosmetabolism. Högre insulinnivåer vid fasta återspeglar en normal beta-cells funktion och är associerad med högre nivå av röda blodceller, hemoglobin, hematokrit, och MCH. I den tredje studien ville vi undersöka om en ökning av HbA1c kunde förutsäga utvecklingen av en andra, tredje, fjärde antikropp eller T1D debut. Resultaten visade att en högre HbA1c nivå gav en högre risk för utveckling av T1D som kunde förutspås redan fem år innan T1D debut. HbA1c hade en snabbare stegring då antalet autoantikroppar ökade från en till tre. En lägre HbA1c nivå kunde förutsäga utvecklingen av autoantikroppstypen IA-2A som en andra eller fjärde autoantikropp. Ett intressant fynd är att utvecklingen av IA-2A är associerad med en mer aggressiv autoimmun attack mot de insulinproducerande cellerna vilket kan leda till läckage av insulin från attackerade celler som i sin tur kan leda till lägre blodsocker och lägre HbA1c.

Syftet med studie fyra var att undersöka hur behandlingen med GAD-alum påverkar en typ av immunceller, T-cellerna. Resultaten visade en långtidspåverkan av GADalum på olika typer av T-celler som varade i två år efter behandling med GAD-alum. Barn som behandlats med GAD-alum hade lägre T-cells nivåer jämfört med barnen som fick en overksam behandling. Resultatet kan tyda på en ökad immuntolerans som medför en lägre autoimmunitet.

Sammanfattning

- Ändring i blodbilden hos barn med T1D autoantikroppar relaterade till kön och högrisk HLA gener kan ha framkallats av den autoimmuna processen i bukspottskörteln.
- Antalet neutrofiler sjunker med antalet autoantikroppar främst hos pojkar och barn som bär på den högsta HLA riskgenen.
- Lägre nivåer av röda blodceller, hemoglobin och hematokrit var associerade med flera autoantikroppar, främst hos flickor och barn med den högsta HLA riskgenen.
- Lägre nivåer av röda blodceller och hemoglobin är associerade med ökande autoantikroppsantal och en nedsatt funktion hos de insulinproducerande beta-cellerna. Nivåer av dessa kan därför optimeras för användning som markörer vid sidan av autoantikropparna för att förutsäga progressionen av sjukdomsförloppet.
- En förklaring till lägre nivåer av röda blodceller och neutrofiler med ökande antal autoantikroppar kan ha orsakats av subtila variationer i blodsockernivån i blodet som på ett okänt sätt påverkar blodbildningsprocessen (hematopoesen) i benmärgen.
- En ökad HbA1c nivå över tid kan användas för att förutsäga tiden för T1D debut.
- En snabb ökning av HbA1c uppträder vid övergången från en autoantikropp till tre autoantikroppar.

- Uppkomsten av IA-2A som den andra eller den fjärde autoantikroppen är associerad med en minskning av HbA1c.
- Behandlingen med GAD-alum har en långtidseffekt på olika typer av Tceller, vilket tyder på en ihållande effekt eller immuntolerans som varar i minst två år.
# Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to all children and parents who contributed to the TEDDY study and the DiAPREV-IT 2 study, together with all colleagues in the **TEDDY study group** and the **DiAPREV-IT 2 study group**; your enormous collaboration resulted in this thesis.

My immense gratitude is to my main supervisor, associate Professor **Carina Törn** for all dedicated continuous guidance, instant support, sharing of your wide scientific knowledge, ideas, and expertise in the field and supervision throughout my Ph.D. Thank you, Carina, for everything you taught me and for all your encouragement and patience. I could never have asked for a better supervisor.

I owe my deepest and sincere gratitude to my co-supervisor, Professor Åke Lernmark, who inspired me through his incredible passion for science, introduced me to world-class research and taught me how to be a good researcher in all aspects. Thank you for believing in me and offering me the opportunity to do my thesis in your amazing research group. Thank you for all your research ideas, advice, invaluable scientific feedback, guiding discussions, and always being there and letting me feel my projects were the most important. You have always been generous in sharing your scientific knowledge and expertise with enthusiasm and have always been motivating, supporting, and encouraging. It has been an honor and privilege to have you as a co-supervisor. Words cannot express my gratitude to you, Åke.

I have been fortunate also to have Professor **Helena Elding Larsson**, Professor **Magnus Hillman**, and associate Professor **Marlena Maziars** as my co-supervisors, to whom I express my profound gratitude for their dedicated assistance guidance, encouragement, and supervision in different areas of their expertise during my Ph.D.

I wish to thank the biostatisticians, Professor **Roy Tamura**, Dr. **Lu You**, Dr. **Hye-Seung Lee**, and Lampros Spiliopoulos, who contributed excellent statistical analysis to this thesis.

**Carin Andrén Aronsson**, many thanks for always being there, helping and backing me up with research and administrative work. You have been a great leader. Good luck with your research!

**Markus Lundgren**, thank you for the collaboration and feedback as a co-author in my papers.

Special thanks to **Anita Ramelius** for all the assistance and help through the years concerning the processing of data, TEDDY data information, different databases and different issues in the lab. You have been a life saver in many situations. Thank you for your prompt help whenever needed.

Thomas Gard, thank you for all your help and assistance with economic and administrative inquiries.

A special thanks to my colleagues **Rasmus Bennet** and **Charlotte Brundin** for backing me up in my different projects; thank you for all your support and nice time during the years.

Jeanette Arvatsson, Monika Dudenhöffer-Pfeifer, Per-Anders Bertilsson, and Charlotte Brundin thank you all for teaching me flow cytometry and for all the interesting discussions about cellular analysis.

Many thanks to all colleagues in the TEDDY labs in Malmö, Kristianstad, and Helsingborg. **Kobra Rahmati**, thank you for all methods you taught me, for always encouraging me to pursue my Ph.D., and for all the good times we have had together. **Evelyn Tekum Amboh**, you are a good friend. Thank you for always being supportive and easy to talk with. **Marielle Lindström**, thank you for all your prominent help in the lab. **Lina Fransson**, thank you for all the positive energy you spread each time I see you and for the funny moments we shared at the TEDDY meeting in Washington. **Naghmeh Karimi**, thank you for being nice and supportive.

A special thanks to all former and present TEDDY research nurses in Malmö, Kristianstad, and Helsingborg. You have all done amazing and invaluable work. **Åsa Wimar, Caroline Nilsson**, and **Anette Sjöberg**, thank you for your efforts in my projects and for always being kind and supportive.

**Ida Jönsson**, many thanks to you for all your help with the DiAPREV-IT 2 and for your prompt help whenever I ask, even by sms 2. Thank you for all the great times during the years and all the fun chats.

Professor **Daniel Agardh**, head of the Diabetes and Celiac disease unit, thank you for all your support and continuous asking about my theses writing. I appreciated that.

Alexander Lind, my good friend and colleague, your huge interest and efforts for research are amazing and inspiring; thank you for always being there whenever I ask, giving me feedback on different types of work, and for all your support, encouragement and all great collaborations in research and different studies. We shared an unforgettable great time together with Agnes during my Ph.D., not least in Linköping during the Mass Cytometry course. I wish you the best of luck with your research.

My dearest doctoral fellows, **Agnes Anderson Svärd** and **Jessica Melin**, thank you for our great journey together. You have been caring and supportive friends. Good luck with your dissertations; you are incredible.

**Linda Faxius**, my dear colleague and officemate, you were the first person who introduced me to Åke Lernmark's research lab by teaching me different sequencing methods for genotyping BB rats. Many thanks for your continuous wise advice, caring, a nice company in the office and interesting discussions about research, the theses and everything in life.

Zeliha Mestan, thank you for being such a caring and supportive friend and colleague; thank you for all the nice times we have spent at CRC.

Many thanks to all doctoral and postdoctoral fellows, **Josefine Jönsson**, **Adugna Negussie Gudeta**, **Michaela Boström**, **Maria Scherman**, and **Iram Fakir Muhammad**, for all the nice talks and discussions; I wish you all the best with your research and academic career.

**Samia Hamdan** and **Neele Bergemann**, thank you for all your support; good luck with your Ph.D. studies in the future; you are intelligent.

**Dorota Lacki** and **Ulla Fält**, my newest colleagues at CRC, I'm glad to get to know you; thank you for all the nice encouraging and supportive words during my theses.

**Qefsere Brahimi**, you have been a wonderful friend and colleague at CRC. Thank you for all the supportive talks and motivations.

To all friends and colleagues at CRC within our research team and outside, thank you for all the great time, Fika and talks; you are fantastic.

**Magdalena Delikat Kulinski**, my friend and former TEDDY colleague, thank you for your support and encouragement for my Ph.D. and for being such a good joyful friend. I may have time for crossFit now  $\bigcirc$ .

**Zahra El-Schich**, my dearest friend, we started our academic journey together at Lund University, where we met and decided to achieve an academic career, you reached it before me, and I'm almost there. Thank you for always being there, and best luck with your career and research.

I owe my endless and warmest gratitude to my mother, **Nasimeh** and father, **Omar**, who raised me to reach this goal. I'm here today because of your praying, overwhelming love, and belief in me. Thank you both for encouraging and supporting me to have a doctoral degree.

My beloved siblings **Shatila**, **Fatima**, **Abed**, **Mohammad**, and **Khader**, I'm grateful to have you by my side and thank you all for always being there for me and making life much easier for me. Thank you for your endless compassion, support, and belief in me.

My children Lina, Omar, and Mohamad, you are my pride; thank you for lighting up my life; I love you.

**Khader**, my love and soulmate, you have always supported my dreams and encouraged me to pursue my Ph.D. at any cost, relieving me from big responsibilities and taking them for yourself. You always gave me hope, believed in me, and supported me in all situations. Thanks to you, I have reached this goal, and I'm what I'm today because of you. All praise to you, my love.

# References

1. Atkinson MA, Eisenbarth GS, Michels AW. Type 1 diabetes. Lancet. 2014;383(9911):69-82.

2. Norris JM, Johnson RK, Stene LC. Type 1 diabetes-early life origins and changing epidemiology. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2020;8(3):226-38.

3. Diaz-Valencia PA, Bougneres P, Valleron AJ. Global epidemiology of type 1 diabetes in young adults and adults: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:255.

4. Mobasseri M, Shirmohammadi M, Amiri T, Vahed N, Hosseini Fard H, Ghojazadeh M. Prevalence and incidence of type 1 diabetes in the world: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Health Promot Perspect. 2020;10(2):98-115.

5. Knip M. Type 1 diabetes in Finland: past, present, and future. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2021;9(5):259-60.

6. Ludvigsson J. Increasing Incidence but Decreasing Awareness of Type 1 Diabetes in Sweden. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(10):e143-e4.

7. Maahs DM, West NA, Lawrence JM, Mayer-Davis EJ. Epidemiology of type 1 diabetes. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2010;39(3):481-97.

8. Karvonen M, Viik-Kajander M, Moltchanova E, Libman I, LaPorte R, Tuomilehto J. Incidence of childhood type 1 diabetes worldwide. Diabetes Mondiale (DiaMond) Project Group. Diabetes Care. 2000;23(10):1516-26.

9. Podar T, Solntsev A, Karvonen M, Padaiga Z, Brigis G, Urbonaite B, et al. Increasing incidence of childhood-onset type I diabetes in 3 Baltic countries and Finland 1983-1998. Diabetologia. 2001;44 Suppl 3:B17-20.

10. Shaltout AA, Wake D, Thanaraj TA, Omar DM, Al-AbdulRazzaq D, Channanath A, et al. Incidence of type 1 diabetes has doubled in Kuwaiti children 0-14 years over the last 20 years. Pediatr Diabetes. 2017;18(8):761-6.

11. Robert AA, Al-Dawish A, Mujammami M, Dawish MAA. Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus in Saudi Arabia: A Soaring Epidemic. Int J Pediatr. 2018;2018:9408370.

12. Wu HB, Zhong JM, Hu RY, Wang H, Gong WW, Pan J, et al. Rapidly rising incidence of Type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents aged 0-19 years in Zhejiang, China, 2007 to 2013. Diabet Med. 2016;33(10):1339-46.

13. El-Ziny MA, Salem NA, El-Hawary AK, Chalaby NM, Elsharkawy AA. Epidemiology of childhood type 1 diabetes mellitus in Nile Delta, northern Egypt - a retrospective study. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. 2014;6(1):9-15.

14. Weng J, Zhou Z, Guo L, Zhu D, Ji L, Luo X, et al. Incidence of type 1 diabetes in China, 2010-13: population based study. BMJ. 2018;360:j5295.

15. Variation and trends in incidence of childhood diabetes in Europe. EURODIAB ACE Study Group. Lancet. 2000;355(9207):873-6.

16. Harjutsalo V, Sjoberg L, Tuomilehto J. Time trends in the incidence of type 1 diabetes in Finnish children: a cohort study. Lancet. 2008;371(9626):1777-82.

17. Group DP. Incidence and trends of childhood Type 1 diabetes worldwide 1990-1999. Diabet Med. 2006;23(8):857-66.

18. Kahn HS, Morgan TM, Case LD, Dabelea D, Mayer-Davis EJ, Lawrence JM, et al. Association of type 1 diabetes with month of birth among U.S. youth: The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(11):2010-5.

19. Gerasimidi Vazeou A, Kordonouri O, Witsch M, Hermann JM, Forsander G, de Beaufort C, et al. Seasonality at the clinical onset of type 1 diabetes-Lessons from the SWEET database. Pediatr Diabetes. 2016;17 Suppl 23:32-7.

20. Hanberger L, Akesson K, Samuelsson U. Glycated haemoglobin variations in paediatric type 1 diabetes: the impact of season, gender and age. Acta Paediatr. 2014;103(4):398-403.

21. Association AD. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2014;38(Supplement\_1):S8-S16.

22. Pinero-Pilona A, Litonjua P, Aviles-Santa L, Raskin P. Idiopathic type 1 diabetes in Dallas, Texas: a 5-year experience. Diabetes Care. 2001;24(6):1014-8.

23. Hawa MI, Kolb H, Schloot N, Beyan H, Paschou SA, Buzzetti R, et al. Adult-Onset Autoimmune Diabetes in Europe Is Prevalent With a Broad Clinical Phenotype: Action LADA 7. Diabetes Care 2013; 36: 908- 913. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(5):1494-.

24. Tuomi T, Groop LC, Zimmet PZ, Rowley MJ, Knowles W, Mackay IR. Antibodies to Glutamic-Acid Decarboxylase Reveal Latent Autoimmune Diabetes-Mellitus in Adults with a Non-Insulin-Dependent Onset of Disease. Diabetes. 1993;42(2):359-62.

25. Dabelea D, Rewers A, Stafford JM, Standiford DA, Lawrence JM, Saydah S, et al. Trends in the Prevalence of Ketoacidosis at Diabetes Diagnosis: The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. Pediatrics. 2014;133(4):E938-E45.

26. Bui H, To T, Stein R, Fung K, Daneman D. Is diabetic ketoacidosis at disease onset a result of missed diagnosis? J Pediatr. 2010;156(3):472-7.

27. Schober E, Rami B, Waldhoer T, Gr ADIS. Diabetic ketoacidosis at diagnosis in Austrian children in 1989-2008: a population-based analysis. Diabetologia. 2010;53(6):1057-61.

28. Dunger DB, Sperling MA, Acerini CL, Bohn DJ, Daneman D, Danne TPA, et al. European Society for Paediatric Endocrinology/Lawson Wilkins Pediatric Endocrine Society consensus statement on diabetic ketoacidosis in children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2004;113(2):133-40.

29. Nakhla M, Rahme E, Simard M, Larocque I, Legault L, Li P. Risk of ketoacidosis in children at the time of diabetes mellitus diagnosis by primary

caregiver status: a population-based retrospective cohort study. Can Med Assoc J. 2018;190(14):E416-E21.

30. Larsson HE, Vehik K, Bell R, Dabelea D, Dolan L, Pihoker C, et al. Reduced Prevalence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes in Young Children Participating in Longitudinal Follow-Up. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(11):2347-52.

31. Sorensen JS, Johannesen J, Pociot F, Kristensen K, Thomsen J, Hertel NT, et al. Residual beta-Cell function 3-6 years after onset of type 1 diabetes reduces risk of severe hypoglycemia in children and adolescents. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(11):3454-9.

32. Donner T, Sarkar S. Insulin - Pharmacology, Therapeutic Regimens, and Principles of Intensive Insulin Therapy. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, Chrousos G, de Herder WW, Dhatariya K, et al., editors. Endotext. South Dartmouth (MA)2000.

33. Anderzen J, Samuelsson U, Gudbjornsdottir S, Hanberger L, Akesson K. Teenagers with poor metabolic control already have a higher risk of microvascular complications as young adults. J Diabetes Complicat. 2016;30(3):533-6.

34. Samuelsson U, Anderzen J, Akesson K, Hanberger L. The importance of low HbA1c during childhood on glycaemic control in adulthood and the risk of late complications. Acta Paediatr. 2021;110(4):1264-72.

35. Nathan DM, Grp DER. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Study at 30 Years: Overview. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(1):9-16.

36. Huo LL, Shaw JE, Wong E, Harding JL, Peeters A, Magliano DJ. Burden of diabetes in Australia: life expectancy and disability-free life expectancy in adults with diabetes. Diabetologia. 2016;59(7):1437-45.

37. Rawshani A, Sattar N, Franzen S, Rawshani A, Hattersley AT, Svensson AM, et al. Excess mortality and cardiovascular disease in young adults with type 1 diabetes in relation to age at onset: a nationwide, register-based cohort study. Lancet. 2018;392(10146):477-86.

38. Davies JL, Kawaguchi Y, Bennett ST, Copeman JB, Cordell HJ, Pritchard LE, et al. A Genome-Wide Search for Human Type-1 Diabetes Susceptibility Genes. Nature. 1994;371(6493):130-6.

39. Cudworth AG, Woodrow JC. Hl-a Antigens and Diabetes-Mellitus. Lancet. 1974;2(7889):1153-.

40. Hirschhorn JN. Genetic epidemiology of type 1 diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes. 2003;4(2):87-100.

41. Pociot F, Lernmark A. Genetic risk factors for type 1 diabetes. Lancet. 2016;387(10035):2331-9.

42. Barrett JC, Clayton DG, Concannon P, Akolkar B, Cooper JD, Erlich HA, et al. Genome-wide association study and meta-analysis find that over 40 loci affect risk of type 1 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2009;41(6):703-7.

43. Verge CF, Gianani R, Yu L, Pietropaolo M, Smith T, Jackson RA, et al. Late progression to diabetes and evidence for chronic beta-cell autoimmunity in identical twins of patients with type I diabetes. Diabetes. 1995;44(10):1176-9.

44. Hyttinen V, Kaprio J, Kinnunen L, Koskenvuo M, Tuomilehto J. Genetic liability of type 1 diabetes and the onset age among 22,650 young Finnish twin pairs - A nationwide follow-up study. Diabetes. 2003;52(4):1052-5.

45. Redondo MJ, Jeffrey J, Fain PR, Eisenbarth GS, Orban T. Concordance for Islet Autoimmunity among Monozygotic Twins. New Engl J Med. 2008;359(26):2849-50.

46. Mrena S, Virtanen SM, Laippala P, Kulmala P, Hannila ML, Akerblom HK, et al. Models for predicting type 1 diabetes in siblings of affected children. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(3):662-7.

47. Dorman JS, Steenkiste AR, O'Leary LA, McCarthy BJ, Lorenzen T, Foley TP. Type 1 diabetes in offspring of parents with type 1 diabetes: the tip of an autoimmune iceberg? Pediatr Diabetes. 2000;1(1):17-22.

48. Redondo MJ, Rewers M, Yu LP, Garg S, Pilcher CC, Elliot RB, et al. Genetic determination of islet cell autoimmunity in monozygotic twin, dizygotic twin, and non-twin siblings of patients with type 1 diabetes: prospective twin study. Brit Med J. 1999;318(7185):698-702.

49. Klein J, Sato A. The HLA system. First of two parts. N Engl J Med. 2000;343(10):702-9.

50. Slatkin M. Linkage disequilibrium - understanding the evolutionary past and mapping the medical future. Nat Rev Genet. 2008;9(6):477-85.

51. Noble JA, Valdes AM. Genetics of the HLA region in the prediction of type 1 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep. 2011;11(6):533-42.

52. Redondo MJ, Steck AK, Pugliese A. Genetics of type 1 diabetes. Pediatric Diabetes. 2018;19(3):346-53.

53. Lambert AP, Gillespie KM, Thomson G, Cordell HJ, Todd JA, Gale EA, et al. Absolute risk of childhood-onset type 1 diabetes defined by human leukocyte antigen class II genotype: a population-based study in the United Kingdom. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89(8):4037-43.

54. Kockum I, Lernmark A, Dahlquist G, Falorni A, Hagopian WA, Landin-Olsson M, et al. Genetic and immunological findings in patients with newly diagnosed insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Swedish Childhood Diabetes Study Group and The Diabetes Incidence in Sweden Study (DISS) Group. Horm Metab Res. 1996;28(7):344-7.

55. Erlich H, Valdes AM, Noble J, Carlson JA, Varney M, Concannon P, et al. HLA DR-DQ haplotypes and genotypes and type 1 diabetes risk: analysis of the type 1 diabetes genetics consortium families. Diabetes. 2008;57(4):1084-92. 56. Barker JM. Clinical review: Type 1 diabetes-associated

autoimmunity: Natural history, genetic associations, and screening. J Clin Endocr Metab. 2006;91(4):1210-7.

57. Dabelea D, Mayer-Davis EJ, Saydah S, Imperatore G, Linder B, Divers J, et al. Prevalence of Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Among Children and Adolescents From 2001 to 2009. Jama-J Am Med Assoc. 2014;311(17):1778-86.

58. Noble JA. Immunogenetics of type 1 diabetes: A comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. 2015;64:101-12.

59. Hermann R, Knip M, Veijola R, Simell O, Laine AP, Akerblom HK, et al. Temporal changes in the frequencies of HLA genotypes in patients with Type 1 diabetes--indication of an increased environmental pressure? Diabetologia. 2003;46(3):420-5.

60. Noble JA, Johnson J, Lane JA, Valdes AM. HLA class II genotyping of African American type 1 diabetic patients reveals associations unique to African haplotypes. Diabetes. 2013;62(9):3292-9.

61. Ferrara CT, Geyer SM, Liu YF, Evans-Molina C, Libman IM, Besser R, et al. Excess BMI in Childhood: A Modifiable Risk Factor for Type 1 Diabetes Development? Diabetes Care. 2017;40(5):698-701.

62. Willcox A, Richardson SJ, Bone AJ, Foulis AK, Morgan NG. Analysis of islet inflammation in human type 1 diabetes. Clin Exp Immunol. 2009;155(2):173-81.

63. Noble JA, Valdes AM, Varney MD, Carlson JA, Moonsamy P, Fear AL, et al. HLA class I and genetic susceptibility to type 1 diabetes: results from the Type 1 Diabetes Genetics Consortium. Diabetes. 2010;59(11):2972-9.

64. Mikk ML, Heikkinen T, El-Amir MI, Kiviniemi M, Laine AP, Härkönen T, et al. The association of the HLA-A\*24:02, B\*39:01 and B\*39:06 alleles with type 1 diabetes is restricted to specific HLA-DR/DQ haplotypes in Finns. Hla. 2017;89(4):215-24.

65. Mbunwe E, Van der Auwera BJ, Weets I, Van Crombrugge P, Crenier L, Coeckelberghs M, et al. In antibody-positive first-degree relatives of patients with type 1 diabetes, HLA-A\*24 and HLA-B\*18, but not HLA-B\*39, are predictors of impending diabetes with distinct HLA-DQ interactions. Diabetologia. 2013;56(9):1964-70.

66. Tait BD, Colman PG, Morahan G, Marchinovska L, Dore E, Gellert S, et al. HLA genes associated with autoimmunity and progression to disease in type 1 diabetes. Tissue Antigens. 2003;61(2):146-53.

67. Valdes AM, Erlich HA, Noble JA. Human leukocyte antigen class I B and C loci contribute to Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) susceptibility and age at T1D onset. Hum Immunol. 2005;66(3):301-13.

68. Onengut-Gumuscu S, Chen WM, Burren O, Cooper NJ, Quinlan AR, Mychaleckyj JC, et al. Fine mapping of type 1 diabetes susceptibility loci and evidence for colocalization of causal variants with lymphoid gene enhancers. Nat Genet. 2015;47(4):381-U199.

69. Bell GI, Horita S, Karam JH. A Polymorphic Locus near the Human Insulin Gene Is Associated with Insulin-Dependent Diabetes-Mellitus. Diabetes. 1984;33(2):176-83.

70. Pugliese A, Zeller M, Fernandez A, Zalcberg LJ, Bartlett RJ, Ricordi C, et al. The insulin gene is transcribed in the human thymus and transcription levels correlate with allelic variation at the INS VNTR-IDDM2 susceptibility locus for type 1 diabetes. Nat Genet. 1997;15(3):293-7.

71. Lucassen AM, Screaton GR, Julier C, Elliott TJ, Lathrop M, Bell JI. Regulation of Insulin Gene-Expression by the Iddm Associated, Insulin Locus Haplotype. Hum Mol Genet. 1995;4(4):501-6.

72. Brookes KJ. The VNTR in complex disorders: the forgotten polymorphisms? A functional way forward? Genomics. 2013;101(5):273-81.

73. Onengut-Gumuscu S, Ewens KG, Spielman RS, Concannon P. A functional polymorphism (1858C/T) in the PTPN22 gene is linked and associated with type I diabetes in multiplex families. Genes Immun. 2004;5(8):678-80.

74. Bottini N, Musumeci L, Alonso A, Rahmouni S, Nika K, Rostamkhani M, et al. A functional variant of lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase is associated with type I diabetes. Nat Genet. 2004;36(4):337-8.

75. Vang T, Congia M, Macis MD, Musumeci L, Orru V, Zavattari P, et al. Autoimmune-associated lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase is a gain-of-function variant. Nat Genet. 2005;37(12):1317-9.

76. Lei Z, Chen W, Liang J, Wang Y, Jin L, Xu C, et al. The association between rs2476601 polymorphism in PTPN22 gene and risk of alopecia areata: a meta-analysis of case-control studies. Eur J Immunol. 2019;49:887-.

77. Cubas R, Khan Z, Gong Q, Moskalenko M, Xiong HZ, Ou QL, et al. Autoimmunity linked protein phosphatase PTPN22 as a target for cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2020;8(2).

78. Maine CJ, Teijaro JR, Marquardt K, Sherman LA. PTPN22 contributes to exhaustion of T lymphocytes during chronic viral infection. P Natl Acad Sci USA. 2016;113(46):E7231-E9.

79. Armitage LH, Wallet MA, Mathews CE. Influence of PTPN22 Allotypes on Innate and Adaptive Immune Function in Health and Disease. Front Immunol. 2021;12.

80. Lowe CE, Cooper JD, Brusko T, Walker NM, Smyth DJ, Bailey R, et al. Large-scale genetic fine mapping and genotype-phenotype associations implicate polymorphism in the IL2RA region in type 1 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2007;39(9):1074-82.

81. Gootjes C, Zwaginga JJ, Roep BO, Nikolic T. Functional Impact of Risk Gene Variants on the Autoimmune Responses in Type 1 Diabetes. Front Immunol. 2022;13.

82. Belot MP, Fradin D, Mai N, Le Fur S, Zelenika D, Kerr-Conte J, et al. CpG Methylation Changes within the IL2RA Promoter in Type 1 Diabetes of Childhood Onset. Plos One. 2013;8(7).

83. Ueda H, Howson JMM, Esposito L, Heward J, Snook H, Chamberlain G, et al. Association of the T-cell regulatory gene CTLA4 with susceptibility to autoimmune disease. Nature. 2003;423(6939):506-11.

84. Kristiansen OP, Larsen ZM, Pociot F. CTLA-4 in autoimmune diseases--a general susceptibility gene to autoimmunity? Genes Immun. 2000;1(3):170-84.

85. Ise W, Kohyama M, Nutsch KM, Lee HM, Suri A, Unanue ER, et al. CTLA-4 suppresses the pathogenicity of self antigen-specific T cells by cell-intrinsic and cell-extrinsic mechanisms. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(2):129-U45.

86. de Jong VM, Zaldumbide A, van der Slik AR, Laban S, Koeleman BPC, Roep BO. Variation in the CTLA4 3 ' UTR has phenotypic consequences for autoreactive T cells and associates with genetic risk for type 1 diabetes. Genes and Immunity. 2016;17(1):75-8.

87. Oram RA, Patel K, Hill A, Shields B, McDonald TJ, Jones A, et al. A Type 1 Diabetes Genetic Risk Score Can Aid Discrimination Between Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes in Young Adults. Diabetes Care. 2016;39(3):337-44.

88. Bonifacio E, Beyerlein A, Hippich M, Winkler C, Vehik K, Weedon MN, et al. Genetic scores to stratify risk of developing multiple islet autoantibodies and type 1 diabetes: A prospective study in children. Plos Med. 2018;15(4).

89. Ferrat LA, Vehik K, Sharp SA, Lernmark Å, Rewers MJ, She JX, et al. A combined risk score enhances prediction of type 1 diabetes among susceptible children. Nat Med. 2020;26(8):1247-55.

90. Ziegler AG, Achenbach P, Berner R, Casteels K, Danne T, Gündert M, et al. Oral insulin therapy for primary prevention of type 1 diabetes in infants with high genetic risk: the GPPAD-POInT (global platform for the prevention of autoimmune diabetes primary oral insulin trial) study protocol. Bmj Open. 2019;9(6):e028578.

91. Sharp SA, Rich SS, Wood AR, Jones SE, Beaumont RN, Harrison JW, et al. Development and Standardization of an Improved Type 1 Diabetes Genetic Risk Score for Use in Newborn Screening and Incident Diagnosis. Diabetes Care. 2019;42(2):200-7.

92. Patterson CC, Harjutsalo V, Rosenbauer J, Neu A, Cinek O, Skrivarhaug T, et al. Trends and cyclical variation in the incidence of childhood type 1 diabetes in 26 European centres in the 25 year period 1989-2013: a multicentre prospective registration study. Diabetologia. 2019;62(3):408-17.

93. Fourlanos S, Varney MD, Tait BD, Morahan G, Honeyman MC, Colman PG, et al. The rising incidence of type 1 diabetes is accounted for by cases with lower-risk human leukocyte antigen genotypes. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(8):1546-9.

94. Soderstrom U, Aman J, Hjern A. Being born in Sweden increases the risk for type 1 diabetes - a study of migration of children to Sweden as a natural experiment. Acta Paediatrica. 2012;101(1):73-7.

95. Hussen HI, Persson M, Moradi T. The trends and the risk of type 1 diabetes over the past 40 years: an analysis by birth cohorts and by parental migration background in Sweden. Bmj Open. 2013;3(10).

96. Patterson C, Guariguata L, Dahlquist G, Soltesz G, Ogle G, Silink M, et al. Diabetes in the young - a global view and worldwide estimates of numbers of children with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pr. 2014;103(2):161-75.

97. Rewers M, Hyöty H, Lernmark Å, Hagopian W, She JX, Schatz D, et al. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) Study: 2018 Update. Curr Diab Rep. 2018;18(12):136.

98. Robertson CC, Inshaw JRJ, Onengut-Gumuscu S, Chen WM, Santa Cruz DF, Yang HZ, et al. Fine-mapping, trans-ancestral and genomic analyses

identify causal variants, cells, genes and drug targets for type 1 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2021;53(7):962-+.

99. Yang J, Tamura RN, Uusitalo UM, Aronsson CA, Silvis K, Riikonen A, et al. Vitamin D and probiotics supplement use in young children with genetic risk for type 1 diabetes. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2017;71(12):1449-54.

100. Lonnrot M, Lynch KF, Larsson HE, Lernmark A, Rewers MJ, Torn C, et al. Respiratory infections are temporally associated with initiation of type 1 diabetes autoimmunity: the TEDDY study (vol 60, pg 1931, 2017). Diabetologia. 2018;61(1):254-.

101. Stewart CJ, Ajami NJ, O'Brien JL, Hutchinson DS, Smith DP, Wong MC, et al. Temporal development of the gut microbiome in early childhood from the TEDDY study. Nature. 2018;562(7728):583-+.

102. Vehik K, Lynch KF, Wong MC, Tian XJ, Ross MC, Gibbs RA, et al. Prospective virome analyses in young children at increased genetic risk for type 1 diabetes. Nat Med. 2019;25(12):1865-+.

103. Krischer JP, Liu X, Vehik K, Akolkar B, Hagopian WA, Rewers MJ, et al. Predicting Islet Cell Autoimmunity and Type 1 Diabetes: An 8-Year TEDDY Study Progress Report. Diabetes Care. 2019;42(6):1051-60.

104. Vatanen T, Franzosa EA, Schwager R, Tripathi S, Arthur TD, Vehik K, et al. The human gut microbiome in early-onset type 1 diabetes from the TEDDY study. Nature. 2018;562(7728):589-+.

105. Quinn LM, Wong FS, Narendran P. Environmental Determinants of Type 1 Diabetes: From Association to Proving Causality. Front Immunol. 2021;12.

106. Dunne JL, Richardson SJ, Atkinson MA, Craig ME, Dahl-Jorgensen K, Flodstrom-Tullberg M, et al. Rationale for enteroviral vaccination and antiviral therapies in human type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2019;62(5):744-53.

107. Roep BO. A viral link for type 1 diabetes. Nat Med. 2019;25(12):1816-8.

108. Perrett KP, Jachno K, Nolan TM, Harrison LC. Association of Rotavirus Vaccination With the Incidence of Type 1 Diabetes in Children. Jama Pediatr. 2019;173(3):280-2.

109. Craig ME, Nair S, Stein H, Rawlinson WD. Viruses and type 1 diabetes: a new look at an old story. Pediatric Diabetes. 2013;14(3):149-58.

110. Levymarchal C, Patterson C, Green A. Variation by Age Group and Seasonality at Diagnosis of Childhood Iddm in Europe. Diabetologia. 1995;38(7):823-30.

111. Gamble DR, Kinsley ML, FitzGerald MG, Bolton R, Taylor KW. Viral antibodies in diabetes mellitus. Br Med J. 1969;3(5671):627-30.

112. Wagenknecht LE, Roseman JM, Herman WH. Increased Incidence of Insulin-Dependent Diabetes-Mellitus Following an Epidemic of Coxsackievirus B5. Am J Epidemiol. 1991;133(10):1024-31.

113. Lonnrot M, Korpela K, Knip M, Ilonen J, Simell O, Korhonen S, et al. Enterovirus infection as a risk factor for beta-cell autoimmunity in a prospectively observed birth cohort - The Finnish Diabetes Prediction and Prevention Study. Diabetes. 2000;49(8):1314-8.

114. Allen DW, Kim KW, Rawlinson WD, Craig ME. Maternal virus infections in pregnancy and type 1 diabetes in their offspring: Systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Rev Med Virol. 2018;28(3):e1974.

Krogvold L, Edwin B, Buanes T, Frisk G, Skog O, Anagandula M, et al. Detection of a low-grade enteroviral infection in the islets of langerhans of living patients newly diagnosed with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2015;64(5):1682-7.
Rodriguez-Calvo T. Enterovirus infection and type 1 diabetes:

unraveling the crime scene. Clinical and Experimental Immunology. 2019;195(1):15-24.

117. Hyöty H, Leon F, Knip M. Developing a vaccine for type 1 diabetes by targeting coxsackievirus B. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2018;17(12):1071-83.

118. Verberk JDM, van Dongen JAP, van de Kassteele J, Andrews NJ, van Gaalen RD, Hahne SJM, et al. Impact analysis of rotavirus vaccination in various geographic regions in Western Europe. Vaccine. 2021;39(45):6671-81.

119. Burke RM, Tate JE, Dahl RM, Saydah S, Imperatore G, Gregg EW, et al. Rotavirus Vaccination and Type 1 Diabetes Risk Among US Children With Commercial Insurance. Jama Pediatr. 2020;174(4):383-5.

120. Glanz JM, Clarke CL, Xu S, Daley MF, Shoup JA, Schroeder EB, et al. Association Between Rotavirus Vaccination and Type 1 Diabetes in Children. Jama Pediatr. 2020;174(5):455-62.

121. Hemming-Harlo M, Lähdeaho ML, Mäki M, Vesikari T. Rotavirus Vaccination Does Not Increase Type 1 Diabetes and May Decrease Celiac Disease in Children and Adolescents. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2019;38(5):539-41.

122. Lund-Blix NA, Dong F, Marild K, Seifert J, Baron AE, Waugh KC, et al. Gluten Intake and Risk of Islet Autoimmunity and Progression to Type 1 Diabetes in Children at Increased Risk of the Disease: The Diabetes Autoimmunity Study in the Young (DAISY). Diabetes Care. 2019;42(5):789-96.

123. Murri M, Leiva I, Gomez-Zumaquero JM, Tinahones FJ, Cardona F, Soriguer F, et al. Gut microbiota in children with type 1 diabetes differs from that in healthy children: a case-control study. Bmc Med. 2013;11.

124. Dedrick S, Sundaresh B, Huang Q, Brady C, Yoo T, Cronin C, et al. The Role of Gut Microbiota and Environmental Factors in Type 1 Diabetes Pathogenesis. Front Endocrinol. 2020;11.

125. Ranjbar R, Vahdati SN, Tavakoli S, Khodaie R, Behboudi H. Immunomodulatory roles of microbiota-derived short-chain fatty acids in bacterial infections. Biomed Pharmacother. 2021;141.

126. de Groot P, Nikolic T, Pellegrini S, Sordi V, Imangaliyev S, Rampanelli E, et al. Faecal microbiota transplantation halts progression of human new-onset type 1 diabetes in a randomised controlled trial. Gut. 2021;70(1):92-105.

127. Mishra S, Wang SH, Nagpal R, Miller B, Singh R, Taraphder S, et al. Probiotics and Prebiotics for the Amelioration of Type 1 Diabetes: Present and Future Perspectives. Microorganisms. 2019;7(3).

128. Verbeeten KC, Elks CE, Daneman D, Ong KK. Association between childhood obesity and subsequent Type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetic Med. 2011;28(1):10-8.

129. Harder T, Plagemann A. Re: "Birth Weight, Early Weight Gain, and Subsequent Risk of Type 1 Diabetes: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis" -Reply. Am J Epidemiol. 2009;170(4):530-1.

130. Harder T, Roepke K, Diller N, Stechling Y, Dudenhausen JW, Plagemann A. Birth Weight, Early Weight Gain, and Subsequent Risk of Type 1 Diabetes: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2009;169(12):1428-36.

131. Yassouridis C, Leisch F, Winkler C, Ziegler AG, Beyerlein A. Associations of growth patterns and islet autoimmunity in children with increased risk for type 1 diabetes: a functional analysis approach. Pediatric Diabetes. 2017;18(2):103-10.

132. Fourlanos S, Harrison LC, Colman PG. The accelerator hypothesis and increasing incidence of type 1 diabetes. Curr Opin Endocrinol. 2008;15(4):321-5.

Czenczek-Lewandowska E, Leszczak J, Baran J, Weres A, Wyszyńska J, Lewandowski B, et al. Levels of Physical Activity in Children and Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes in Relation to the Healthy Comparators and to the Method of Insulin Therapy Used. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(18).
Valdes AM, Walter L, Segal E, Spector TD. Role of the gut microbiota in nutrition and health. Bmj-Brit Med J. 2018;361.

135. Narendran P, Jackson N, Daley A, Thompson D, Stokes K, Greenfield S, et al. Exercise to preserve  $\beta$ -cell function in recent-onset Type 1 diabetes mellitus (EXTOD) - a randomized controlled pilot trial. Diabet Med. 2017;34(11):1521-31.

136. Norris JM, Lee HS, Frederiksen B, Erlund I, Uusitalo U, Yang JM, et al. Plasma 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentration and Risk of Islet Autoimmunity. Diabetes. 2018;67(1):146-54.

137. Hou YL, Song A, Jin YX, Xia QY, Song GY, Xing XP. A doseresponse meta-analysis between serum concentration of 25-hydroxy vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes mellitus. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2021;75(7):1010-23.

138. Fisher SA, Rahimzadeh M, Brierley C, Gration B, Doree C, Kimber CE, et al. The role of vitamin D in increasing circulating T regulatory cell numbers and modulating T regulatory cell phenotypes in patients with inflammatory disease or in healthy volunteers: A systematic review. Plos One. 2019;14(9):e0222313.

139. Eisenbarth GS. Type I diabetes mellitus. A chronic autoimmune disease. N Engl J Med. 1986;314(21):1360-8.

140. Gepts W. Pathologic anatomy of the pancreas in juvenile diabetes mellitus. Diabetes. 1965;14(10):619-33.

141. Ilonen J, Lempainen J, Veijola R. The heterogeneous pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2019;15(11):635-50.

142. Pugliese A. Advances in the etiology and mechanisms of type 1 diabetes. Discov Med. 2014;18(98):141-50.

143. Leete P, Willcox A, Krogvold L, Dahl-Jørgensen K, Foulis AK, Richardson SJ, et al. Differential Insulitic Profiles Determine the Extent of  $\beta$ -Cell Destruction and the Age at Onset of Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes. 2016;65(5):1362-9.

144. Arif S, Leete P, Nguyen V, Marks K, Nor NM, Estorninho M, et al. Blood and islet phenotypes indicate immunological heterogeneity in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2014;63(11):3835-45.

145. Pugliese A. Insulitis in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes. 2016;17 Suppl 22:31-6.

146. Krogvold L, Wiberg A, Edwin B, Buanes T, Jahnsen FL, Hanssen KF, et al. Insulitis and characterisation of infiltrating T cells in surgical pancreatic tail resections from patients at onset of type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2016;59(3):492-501.

147. Campbell-Thompson M, Fu A, Kaddis JS, Wasserfall C, Schatz DA, Pugliese A, et al. Insulitis and  $\beta$ -Cell Mass in the Natural History of Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes. 2016;65(3):719-31.

148. Klinke DJ. Extent of Beta Cell Destruction Is Important but Insufficient to Predict the Onset of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Plos One. 2008;3(1).

149. Jeyam A, Colhoun H, McGurnaghan S, Blackbourn L, McDonald TJ, Palmer CNA, et al. Clinical Impact of Residual C-Peptide Secretion in Type 1 Diabetes on Glycemia and Microvascular Complications (vol 44, pg 390, 2021). Diabetes Care. 2021;44(4):1072-.

150. Oram RA, Jones AG, Besser REJ, Knight BA, Shields BM, Brown RJ, et al. The majority of patients with long-duration type 1 diabetes are insulin microsecretors and have functioning beta cells. Diabetologia. 2014;57(1):187-91.

151. Hull CM, Peakman M, Tree TIM. Regulatory T cell dysfunction in type 1 diabetes: what's broken and how can we fix it? Diabetologia. 2017;60(10):1839-50.

152. DiMeglio LA, Evans-Molina C, Oram RA. Type 1 diabetes. Lancet. 2018;391(10138):2449-62.

153. Ziegler AG, Rewers M, Simell O, Simell T, Lempainen J, Steck A, et al. Seroconversion to multiple islet autoantibodies and risk of progression to diabetes in children. JAMA. 2013;309(23):2473-9.

154. Insel RA, Dunne JL, Atkinson MA, Chiang JL, Dabelea D, Gottlieb PA, et al. Staging presymptomatic type 1 diabetes: a scientific statement of JDRF, the Endocrine Society, and the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2015;38(10):1964-74.

155. Krischer JP. The use of intermediate endpoints in the design of type 1 diabetes prevention trials. Diabetologia. 2013;56(9):1919-24.

156. Sosenko JM, Palmer JP, Rafkin-Mervis L, Krischer JP, Cuthbertson D, Mahon J, et al. Incident Dysglycemia and Progression to Type 1 Diabetes Among Participants in the Diabetes Prevention Trial-Type 1. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(9):1603-7.

157. Knip M, Selvenius J, Siljander H, Veijola R. Reclassification of asymptomatic beta cell autoimmunity: a critical perspective. Diabetologia. 2017;60(1):39-42.

158. Winkler C, Schober E, Ziegler AG, Holl RW. Markedly reduced rate of diabetic ketoacidosis at onset of type 1 diabetes in relatives screened for islet autoantibodies. Pediatric Diabetes. 2012;13(4):301-6.

159. Bingley PJ. Clinical Applications of Diabetes Antibody Testing. J Clin Endocr Metab. 2010;95(1):25-33.

160. Ilonen J, Hammais A, Laine AP, Lempainen J, Vaarala O, Veijola R, et al. Patterns of  $\beta$ -cell autoantibody appearance and genetic associations during the first years of life. Diabetes. 2013;62(10):3636-40.

161. Lernmark A. Etiology of Autoimmune Islet Disease: Timing Is Everything. Diabetes. 2021;70(7):1431-9.

162. Sosenko JM. Staging the progression to type 1 diabetes with prediagnostic markers. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2016;23(4):297-305.

163. Krischer JP, Lynch KF, Schatz DA, Ilonen J, Lernmark A, Hagopian WA, et al. The 6 year incidence of diabetes-associated autoantibodies in genetically at-risk children: the TEDDY study. Diabetologia. 2015;58(5):980-7.

164. De Grijse J, Asanghanwa M, Nouthe B, Albrecher N, Goubert P, Vermeulen I, et al. Predictive power of screening for antibodies against insulinomaassociated protein 2 beta (IA-2beta) and zinc transporter-8 to select first-degree relatives of type 1 diabetic patients with risk of rapid progression to clinical onset of the disease: implications for prevention trials. Diabetologia. 2010;53(3):517-24.

165. Schlosser M, Mueller PW, Törn C, Bonifacio E, Bingley PJ. Diabetes Antibody Standardization Program: evaluation of assays for insulin autoantibodies. Diabetologia. 2010;53(12):2611-20.

166. Törn C, Mueller PW, Schlosser M, Bonifacio E, Bingley PJ. Diabetes Antibody Standardization Program: evaluation of assays for autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase and islet antigen-2. Diabetologia. 2008;51(5):846-52.

167. Bonifacio E, Yu LP, Williams AK, Eisenbarth GS, Bingley PJ, Marcovina SM, et al. Harmonization of Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase and Islet Antigen-2 Autoantibody Assays for National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases Consortia. J Clin Endocr Metab. 2010;95(7):3360-7.

168. Lampasona V, Schlosser M, Mueller PW, Williams AJK, Wenzlau JM, Hutton JC, et al. Diabetes Antibody Standardization Program: First Proficiency Evaluation of Assays for Autoantibodies to Zinc Transporter 8. Clin Chem. 2011;57(12):1693-702.

169. Burbelo PD, Gunti S, Keller JM, Morse CG, Deeks SG, Lionakis MS, et al. Ultrarapid Measurement of Diagnostic Antibodies by Magnetic Capture of Immune Complexes. Sci Rep-Uk. 2017;7.

170. Lind A, de Jesus Cortez F, Ramelius A, Bennet R, Robinson PV, Seftel D, et al. Multiplex agglutination-PCR (ADAP) autoantibody assays compared to radiobinding autoantibodies in type 1 diabetes and celiac disease. J Immunol Methods. 2022;506:113265.

171. Pugliese A, Zeller M, Fernandez A, Jr., Zalcberg LJ, Bartlett RJ, Ricordi C, et al. The insulin gene is transcribed in the human thymus and transcription levels correlated with allelic variation at the INS VNTR-IDDM2 susceptibility locus for type 1 diabetes. Nat Genet. 1997;15(3):293-7.

172. Achenbach P, Koczwara K, Knopff A, Naserke H, Ziegler AG, Bonifacio E. Mature high-affinity immune responses to (pro)insulin anticipate the

autoimmune cascade that leads to type 1 diabetes. J Clin Invest. 2004;114(4):589-97.

173. Krueger C, StÖCker W, Schlosser M. 48 - GLUTAMIC ACID DECARBOXYLASE AUTOANTIBODIES. In: Shoenfeld Y, Gershwin ME, Meroni PL, editors. Autoantibodies (Second Edition). Burlington: Elsevier; 2007. p. 369-78.

174. Schlosser M, Banga J, Madec A, Binder K, Strebelow M, Rjasanowski I, et al. Dynamic changes of GAD65 autoantibody epitope specificities in individuals at risk of developing type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2005;48(5):922-30.

175. Hampe CS, Hammerle LP, Bekris L, Ortqvist E, Kockum I, Rolandsson O, et al. Recognition of glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) by autoantibodies from different GAD antibody-positive phenotypes. J Clin Endocr Metab. 2000;85(12):4671-9.

176. Dong H, Kumar M, Zhang Y, Gyulkhandanyan A, Xiang YY, Ye B, et al. Gamma-aminobutyric acid up- and downregulates insulin secretion from beta cells in concert with changes in glucose concentration. Diabetologia. 2006;49(4):697-705.

177. Fiorina P. GABAergic system in  $\beta$ -cells: from autoimmunity target to regeneration tool. Diabetes. 2013;62(11):3674-6.

178. Torii S. Expression and Function of IA-2 Family Proteins, Unique Neuroendocrine-specific Protein-tyrosine Phosphatases. Endocr J. 2009;56(5):639-48.

179. So M, Speake C, Steck AK, Lundgren M, Colman PG, Palmer JP, et al. Advances in Type 1 Diabetes Prediction Using Islet Autoantibodies: Beyond a Simple Count. Endocr Rev. 2021;42(5):584-604.

180. Diez J, Park Y, Zeller M, Brown D, Garza D, Ricordi C, et al. Differential splicing of the IA-2 mRNA in pancreas and lymphoid organs as a permissive genetic mechanism for autoimmunity against the IA-2 type 1 diabetes autoantigen. Diabetes. 2001;50(4):895-900.

181. Chimienti F, Devergnas S, Pattou F, Schuit F, Garcia-Cuenca R, Vandewalle B, et al. In vivo expression and functional characterization of the zinc transporter ZnT8 in glucose-induced insulin secretion. J Cell Sci. 2006;119(Pt 20):4199-206.

182. Wenzlau JM, Liu Y, Yu LP, Moua O, Fowler KT, Rangasamy S, et al. A common nonsynonymous single nucleotide polymorphism in the SLC30A8 gene determines ZnT8 autoantibody specificity in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2008;57(10):2693-7.

183. Vaziri-Sani F, Delli AJ, Elding-Larsson H, Lindblad B, Carlsson A, Forsander G, et al. A novel triple mix radiobinding assay for the three ZnT8 (ZnT8-RWQ) autoantibody variants in children with newly diagnosed diabetes. Journal of Immunological Methods. 2011;371(1-2):25-37.

184. Veijola R, Koskinen M, Helminen O, Hekkala A. Dysregulation of glucose metabolism in preclinical type 1 diabetes. Pediatric Diabetes. 2016;17:25-30.

185. Koskinen MK, Helminen O, Matomäki J, Aspholm S, Mykkänen J, Mäkinen M, et al. Reduced  $\beta$ -cell function in early preclinical type 1 diabetes. Eur J Endocrinol. 2016;174(3):251-9.

186. Sosenko JM, Palmer JP, Rafkin LE, Krischer JP, Cuthbertson D, Greenbaum CJ, et al. Trends of earlier and later responses of C-peptide to oral glucose challenges with progression to type 1 diabetes in diabetes prevention trial-type 1 participants. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(3):620-5.

187. Cabrera SM, Chen YG, Hagopian WA, Hessner MJ. Blood-based signatures in type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2016;59(3):414-25.

188. Helminen O, Aspholm S, Pokka T, Hautakangas MR, Haatanen N, Lempainen J, et al. HbA1c Predicts Time to Diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes in Children at Risk. Diabetes. 2015;64(5):1719-27.

189. Sosenko JM, Skyler JS, Palmer JP. The development, validation, and utility of the Diabetes Prevention Trial-Type 1 Risk Score (DPTRS). Curr Diab Rep. 2015;15(8):49.

190. Hagopian WA, Erlich H, Lernmark A, Rewers M, Ziegler AG, Simell O, et al. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY): genetic criteria and international diabetes risk screening of 421 000 infants. Pediatric Diabetes. 2011;12(8):733-43.

191. Krischer J. The environmental determinants of diabetes in the young (TEDDY) study: study design. Pediatric Diabetes. 2007;8(5):286-98.

192. Larsson HE, Lundgren M, Jonsdottir B, Cuthbertson D, Krischer J, Grp D-IS. Safety and efficacy of autoantigen-specific therapy with 2 doses of alumformulated glutamate decarboxylase in children with multiple islet autoantibodies and risk for type 1 diabetes: A randomized clinical trial. Pediatric Diabetes. 2018;19(3):410-9.

193. Vehik K, Bonifacio E, Lernmark A, Yu LP, Williams A, Schatz D, et al. Hierarchical Order of Distinct Autoantibody Spreading and Progression to Type 1 Diabetes in the TEDDY Study. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(9):2066-73.

194. Yu L, Robles DT, Abiru N, Kaur P, Rewers M, Kelemen K, et al. Early expression of antiinsulin autoantibodies of humans and the NOD mouse: evidence for early determination of subsequent diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(4):1701-6.

195. Wenzlau JM, Juhl K, Yu L, Moua O, Sarkar SA, Gottlieb P, et al. The cation efflux transporter ZnT8 (Slc30A8) is a major autoantigen in human type 1 diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(43):17040-5.

196. Mire-Sluis AR, Das RG, Lernmark A, study P. The World Health Organization International Collaborative Study for Islet Cell Antibodies. Diabetologia. 2000;43(10):1282-92.

197. Grubin CE, Daniels T, Toivola B, Landinolsson M, Hagopian WA, Li L, et al. A Novel Radioligand Binding Assay to Determine Diagnostic-Accuracy of Isoform-Specific Glutamic-Acid Decarboxylase Antibodies in Childhood Iddm. Diabetologia. 1994;37(4):344-50.

198. Andersson C, Vaziri-Sani F, Delli AJ, Lindblad B, Carlsson A, Forsander G, et al. Triple specificity of ZnT8 autoantibodies in relation to HLA and

other islet autoantibodies in childhood and adolescent type 1 diabetes. Pediatric Diabetes. 2013;14(2):97-105.

199. Lehto T, Hedberg P. Performance evaluation of Abbott CELL-DYN Ruby for routine use. Int J Lab Hematol. 2008;30(5):400-7.

200. Lin CN, Emery TJ, Little RR, Hanson SE, Rohlfing CL, Jaisson S, et al. Effects of hemoglobin C, D, E, and S traits on measurements of HbA1c by six methods. Clin Chim Acta. 2012;413(7-8):819-21.

201. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2014;37 Suppl 1:S81-90.

202. Adan A, Alizada G, Kiraz Y, Baran Y, Nalbant A. Flow cytometry: basic principles and applications. Crit Rev Biotechnol. 2017;37(2):163-76.

203. Baumgarth N, Roederer M. A practical approach to multicolor flow cytometry for immunophenotyping. Journal of Immunological Methods. 2000;243(1-2):77-97.

204. Feher K, Kirsch J, Radbruch A, Chang HD, Kaiser T. Cell population identification using fluorescence-minus-one controls with a one-class classifying algorithm. Bioinformatics. 2014;30(23):3372-8.

205. Valle A, Giamporcaro GM, Scavini M, Stabilini A, Grogan P, Bianconi E, et al. Reduction of circulating neutrophils precedes and accompanies type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2013;62(6):2072-7.

206. Harsunen MH, Puff R, D'Orlando O, Giannopoulou E, Lachmann L, Beyerlein A, et al. Reduced blood leukocyte and neutrophil numbers in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes. Horm Metab Res. 2013;45(6):467-70.

207. Qin J, Fu S, Speake C, Greenbaum CJ, Odegard JM. NETosisassociated serum biomarkers are reduced in type 1 diabetes in association with neutrophil count. Clin Exp Immunol. 2016;184(3):318-22.

208. Starkebaum G. Chronic neutropenia associated with autoimmune disease. Semin Hematol. 2002;39(2):121-7.

209. Amulic B, Cazalet C, Hayes GL, Metzler KD, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil Function: From Mechanisms to Disease. Annu Rev Immunol. 2012;30:459-89.

210. Casserly CS, Nantes JC, Hawkins RFW, Vallieres L. Neutrophil perversion in demyelinating autoimmune diseases: Mechanisms to medicine. Autoimmun Rev. 2017;16(3):294-307.

211. Dale DC. How I manage children with neutropenia. Br J Haematol. 2017;178(3):351-63.

212. Huang J, Xiao Y, Xu A, Zhou Z. Neutrophils in type 1 diabetes. J Diabetes Investig. 2016;7(5):652-63.

213. Kaplan MJ. Role of neutrophils in systemic autoimmune diseases. Arthritis Res Ther. 2013;15(5):219.

214. In't Veld P, Lievens D, De Grijse J, Ling ZD, Van der Auwera B, Pipeleers-Marichal M, et al. Screening for insulitis in adult autoantibody-positive organ donors. Diabetes. 2007;56(9):2400-4.

215. Kolb-Maurer A, Goebel W. Susceptibility of hematopoietic stem cells to pathogens: role in virus/bacteria tropism and pathogenesis. Fems Microbiol Lett. 2003;226(2):203-7.

216. Op de Beeck A, Eizirik DL. Viral infections in type 1 diabetes mellitus--why the  $\beta$  cells? Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2016;12(5):263-73.

217. Gao G, Li J, Zhang Y, Chang YZ. Cellular Iron Metabolism and Regulation. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2019;1173:21-32.

218. Mikolás E, Cseh J, Pap M, Szijárto IA, Balogh A, Laczy B, et al. Effects of erythropoietin on glucose metabolism. Horm Metab Res. 2012;44(4):279-85.

219. Ohshita K, Yamane K, Hanafusa M, Mori H, Mito K, Okubo M, et al. Elevated white blood cell count in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(2):491-6.

220. Jiang H, Yan WH, Li CJ, Wang AP, Dou JT, Mu YM. Elevated white blood cell count is associated with higher risk of glucose metabolism disorders in middle-aged and elderly Chinese people. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2014;11(5):5497-509.

221. Gorus FK, Balti EV, Messaaoui A, Demeester S, Van Dalem A, Costa O, et al. Twenty-Year Progression Rate to Clinical Onset According to Autoantibody Profile, Age, and HLA-DQ Genotype in a Registry-Based Group of Children and Adults With a First-Degree Relative With Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(8):1065-72.

222. Steck AK, Vehik K, Bonifacio E, Lernmark A, Ziegler AG, Hagopian WA, et al. Predictors of Progression From the Appearance of Islet Autoantibodies to Early Childhood Diabetes: The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY). Diabetes Care. 2015;38(5):808-13.

223. Krischer JP, Liu X, Lernmark A, Hagopian WA, Rewers MJ, She JX, et al. The Influence of Type 1 Diabetes Genetic Susceptibility Regions, Age, Sex, and Family History on the Progression From Multiple Autoantibodies to Type 1 Diabetes: A TEDDY Study Report. Diabetes. 2017;66(12):3122-9.

224. Bonifacio E, Weiß A, Winkler C, Hippich M, Rewers MJ, Toppari J, et al. An Age-Related Exponential Decline in the Risk of Multiple Islet Autoantibody Seroconversion During Childhood. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(10):2260-8.

225. Ludvigsson J, Cuthbertson D, Becker DJ, Kordonouri O, Aschemeier B, Pacaud D, et al. Increasing plasma glucose before the development of type 1 diabetes-the TRIGR study. Pediatr Diabetes. 2021;22(7):974-81.

226. Axelsson S, Cheramy M, Akerman L, Pihl M, Ludvigsson J, Casas R. Cellular and humoral immune responses in type 1 diabetic patients participating in a phase III GAD-alum intervention trial. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(11):3418-24.

227. Axelsson S, Hjorth M, Ludvigsson J, Casas R. Decreased GAD(65)specific Th1/Tc1 phenotype in children with Type 1 diabetes treated with GADalum. Diabet Med. 2012;29(10):1272-8.

228. Dietrich F, Barcenilla H, Tavira B, Wahlberg J, Achenbach P, Ludvigsson J, et al. Immune response differs between intralymphatic or

subcutaneous administration of GAD-alum in individuals with recent onset type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2022;38(3):e3500.

229. Ludvigsson J, Sumnik Z, Pelikanova T, Chavez LN, Lundberg E, Rica I, et al. Intralymphatic Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase With Vitamin D Supplementation in Recent-Onset Type 1 Diabetes: A Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Phase IIb Trial. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(7):1604-12.

Paper I



2329

# Reduction in White Blood Cell, Neutrophil, and Red Blood Cell Counts Related to Sex, HLA, and Islet Autoantibodies in Swedish TEDDY Children at Increased Risk for Type 1 Diabetes

Falastin Salami,<sup>1</sup> Hye-Seung Lee,<sup>2</sup> Eva Freyhult,<sup>3</sup> Helena Elding Larsson,<sup>1</sup> Åke Lernmark,<sup>1</sup> Carina Törn,<sup>1</sup> and the TEDDY Study Group<sup>\*</sup>

Diabetes 2018;67:2329-2336 | https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0355

Islet autoantibodies (IAs) precede the clinical onset of type 1 diabetes (T1D); however, the knowledge is limited about whether the prodrome affects complete blood counts (CBCs) in 4- to 12-year-old children with increased genetic risk for T1D. This study tested whether CBCs were altered in 4- to 12-year-old children without (n = 376) or with one or several IAs against insulin, GAD65, or IA-2 (n = 72). CBC was analyzed during longitudinal follow-up in 448 Swedish children enrolled in The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study. A linear mixed-effects model was used to assess potential association between IA and CBC measurements over time. The white blood cell and neutrophil counts were reduced in children with IAs, primarily in boys. In contrast, girls had lower levels of hemoglobin and hematocrit. Positivity for multiple IAs showed the lowest counts in white blood cells and neutrophils in boys and red blood cells, hemoglobin, and hematocrit in girls. These associations were primarily observed in children with the HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype. We conclude that the reduction in neutrophils and red blood cells in children with multiple IAs and HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype may signal a sex-dependent islet autoimmunity detected in longitudinal CBCs.

Autoantibodies against the  $\beta$ -cell autoantigens insulin (IAA), GAD antibody (GADA), or protein tyrosine phosphatase-like (IA-2A) precede the clinical onset of autoimmune type 1 diabetes (T1D). Children at genetic risk for T1D were monitored from birth in The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study for a first appearing islet autoantibody (IA), be it IAA or GADA (1-3). The IAA incidence rate was highest in the 1st year of life (18 months in Sweden) and declined over the following 5 years, whereas the incidence rate of GADA increased during the first 2 years (2.5 years in Sweden) of life and remained seemingly constant until the age of 6 years (1-3). The appearance of IAA or GADA as the first IA was related to the HLA-DR/DQ genotype (1,2). After an initial event that triggers autoimmunity reflected by a first appearing IAA or GADA, the pathogenesis progresses toward the clinical onset of disease more rapidly with an increasing number of IAs (4,5), which may be critical because islet  $\beta$ -cells are thought to be destroyed by autoreactive T cells, not by autoantibodies (6,7). So far,  $\beta$ -cell-specific autoantibodies are the best predictors of an ongoing autoimmune process resulting in clinical onset (8). Notwithstanding the critical role of the adaptive immune response in the etiology and pathogenesis of T1D (reviewed in [9–12]), there is growing evidence that the innate immune response also contributes to the pathogenesis (12-14). Neutrophils are thought to contribute to the etiological triggering and the pathogenesis of T1D in mouse models (reviewed in [15]). A reduction in peripheral blood neutrophils has recently been reported in healthy IA-positive children all having a first-degree relative with the disease (16). Similarly, compared with healthy children,

This article contains Supplementary Data online at http://diabetes .diabetesjournals.org/lookup/suppl/doi:10.2337/db18-0355/-/DC1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University/Clinical Research Centre, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Health Informatics Institute, Department of Pediatrics, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Medical Sciences, National Bioinformatics Infrastructure Sweden, Science for Life Laboratory, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

Corresponding author: Falastin Salami, falastin.salami@med.lu.se.

Received 26 March 2018 and accepted 29 July 2018.

<sup>\*</sup>A complete list of the members of the TEDDY Study Group can be found in the Supplementary Data.

<sup>© 2018</sup> by the American Diabetes Association. Readers may use this article as long as the work is properly cited, the use is educational and not for profit, and the work is not altered. More information is available at http://www.diabetesjournals .org/content/license.

white blood cells, neutrophils, and lymphocytes were reduced in IA-positive children with a family history of T1D (17), and there is an unknown effect of the peripheral immune cell counts on the pathogenesis of T1D (18).

We have studied children in Sweden who are enrolled in the TEDDY study (19,20) and monitored from birth to determine the first appearing IA (1) as well as progression to multiple autoantibodies and clinical onset of diabetes (4,5). We specifically questioned whether complete blood count (CBC) was associated with the IA status in 4- to 12-year-old Swedish TEDDY children and whether the association differed by sex and HLA DQ-DR genotype.

#### **RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS**

#### **TEDDY Design**

The TEDDY study is a prospective cohort study funded by the U.S. National Institutes of Health with the primary goal to identify environmental causes of T1D. TEDDY includes six clinical research centers—three in the U.S.: Colorado, Georgia/Florida, and Washington, and three in Europe: Finland, Germany, and Sweden. Detailed study design and methods have been previously published (19,21). Written informed consents were obtained for all study participants from a parent or primary caretaker, separately, for genetic screening and participation in prospective followup. The current study was approved by the Regional Ethics Review Board in Lund and is monitored by an External Advisory Board formed by the National Institutes of Health.

#### **CBC Measurements in TEDDY Children**

The study cohort consists of 448 children, 4–12 years old, from the TEDDY clinic in Malmö, Sweden (Table 1). The CBC measurements were initiated in June 2014 and completed in February 2017. The samples were analyzed at their scheduled visits and within 8 h after sample draw. The TEDDY protocol requires visits every 3 months for children who were IA positive and every 6 months for children who remained autoantibody negative.

#### СВС

CBC was determined in a multiparameter automated hematology analyzer (CELL-Dyn Ruby; Abbott Laboratories, Diagnostic Division, Abbott Park, IL) (22). The instrument was operated according to the instructions by the manufacturer, including a daily calibration. Counts (cells  $\times 10^9$ /L) of white blood cells, neutrophils, lymphocytes, monocytes, eosinophils, basophils, platelets, red blood cells (cells  $\times 10^{12}$ /L) and red blood cell parameters; hemoglobin (g/L), hematocrit (L/L), mean corpuscular volume (fL), mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) (pg), MCH concentration (MCHC) (g/L), and red cell distribution width (% coefficient of variation) were obtained.

#### HLA-DR-DQ Typing

Genotype screening (20) was conducted using a dried blood spot punch or a small volume whole-blood lysate specimen format, as previously published (23). Infants from the general population were eligible for the study Table 1—Characteristics of TEDDY children (n = 448) investigated for CBC when negative or positive for one or several IAs

	IA negative $(n = 376)$	IA positive $(n = 72)$
Children, n (%)	376 (84)	72 (16)
Sex, <i>n</i> Girls Boys	182 194	30 42
Age at first CBC (months), median (min–max) Girls Boys	91 (52–145) 91 (53–144) 94 (52–145)	101.5 (59–139) n.s. 103 (59–139) 99 (59–137)
CBC measures per child, min-max	1–6	1–9
Months of follow-up, min-max	1–30	1–30
IAs, n 1 2 3	0 0 0	25 16 31
Change in IA status	None	None
HLA DR-DQ, <i>n</i> (%) DR3/4-DQ2/8 DR4/4-DQ 8/8 DR4/8-DQ 8/4 DR3/3-DQ 2/2 DR4/1-DQ 8/5 DR4/13-DQ 8/6 HLA ineligible Total	151 (40.2) 87 (23.1) 40 (10.6) 91 (24.2) 4 (1.1) 2 (0.5) 1 (0.3) 376 (100)	39 (54.1) 12 (16.7) 12 (16.7) 9 (12.5) 0 0 0 72 (100)

if they had any one of the following HLA genotypes (excluding those with DR4 subtype DRB1\*04:03):

- 1. DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:02/DR3-DQA1\*05:01-DQB1\*02:01
- DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:02/DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DOB1\*03:02<sup>1</sup>
- 3. DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:02/DR8-DQA1\*04:01-DQB1\*04:02
- 4. DR3-DQA1\*05:01-DQB1\*02:01/DR3-DQA1\*05:01-DQB1\*02:01

Note: <sup>1</sup>Acceptable alleles in this haplotype include both DQB1\*03:02 and \*03:04.

Infants with a first-degree relative with T1D were eligible for enrollment if they had any of the following HLA genotypes:

- 1. DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:02<sup>1</sup>/DR3-DQA1\*05:01-DQB1\*02:01
- 2. DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:02<sup>1</sup>/DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:02<sup>1</sup>
- DR4-DQA1\*030X-DQB1\*0302<sup>1</sup>/DR8-DQA1\*04:01-DQB1\*04:02
- DR3-DQA1\*05:01-DQB1\*02:0<sup>1</sup>/DR3-DQA1\*05:01-DQB1\*02:01 (24)

- DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:02<sup>1</sup>/DR12-DQA1\*0101-DQB1\*05:01<sup>2</sup>
- DR4-DQA1\*030X-DQB1\*03:02<sup>1</sup>/DR13-DQA1\*01:02-DQB1\*06:04
- DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:02/DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:04
- DR4-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:02<sup>1</sup>/DR9-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:03 (23)
- 10. DR3-DQA1\*05:01-DQB1\*02:01/DR9-DQA1\*03:0X-DQB1\*03:03

Notes: <sup>1</sup>Acceptable alleles in this haplotype included both DQB1\*03:02 and \*03:04. <sup>2</sup>In this DQB1\*05:01 haplotype, DR10 was excluded. Only DR1 was eligible.

#### **Autoantibody Measurements**

IAA, GADA, or IA-2A were measured in two laboratories by radiobinding assays (25,26). In Europe, all sera were assayed at the University of Bristol, Bristol, U.K. All samples positive for IA and 5% of negative samples were retested at the Barbara Davis Center for Childhood Diabetes at the University of Colorado, Denver, and deemed confirmed if concordant. Both laboratories have previously shown high sensitivity and specificity as well as concordance (27).

#### IA Analyses

Persistent IA positivity was defined as confirmed positive IAA, GADA, or IA-2A on at least two consecutive study visits. The first appearance of persistent confirmed IA in the follow-up was considered and counted.

#### Statistical Analysis

Considering correlations between measures from the same subject (within-subject correlation), a linear mixedeffects model was used to assess the association of islet autoimmunity on each CBC measurement. We first examined whether the association between the status of IA and each CBC measurement was different by sampling age, but no significant difference was noted in all CBC analyses. Hence, the model included random intercept and random slope as well as sampling age and the status of IAs as fixed effects. Unstructured within-subject correlation was assumed for the random error. The regression coefficient for the status of IAs was assessed to determine whether the associations of islet autoimmunity were ignorable or not. The association between age and each CBC measurement was assessed among IA-negative children. Age of initial measurement was compared using the Wilcoxon rank sum test, and the proportions of girls and HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 subjects were compared using the Fisher exact test. Agedependent effects were observed in most CBC parameters and later corrected for in the linear mixed-effects model. Due to this procedure, the observed effects of an increasing number of IAs on neutrophils and red blood cell parameters were all corrected for age.

Table 2—Effects of age (years) on each CBC measurement in IA-negative subjects (n = 376)

CBC	Estimate	SE	P value
White blood cells (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	-0.123	0.044	0.005
Neutrophils (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	-0.060	0.031	0.053
Lymphocytes (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	-0.036	0.013	0.006
Monocytes (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	-0.010	0.004	0.015
Eosinophils (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	-0.002	0.008	0.766
Basophils (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	-0.001	0.001	0.306
Red blood cells (10 <sup>12</sup> cells/L)	0.040	0.015	0.010
Hemoglobin (g/L)	0.167	0.040	<0.0001

Values in boldface type are statistically significant (P < 0.05).

Two-sided *P* values of less than 0.05 were considered for statistical significance. All analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

#### RESULTS

#### CBC in Relation to Age in IA Negative Children

CBC was examined in 448 children participating in the longitudinal TEDDY study. Children were examined at one to six visits if negative (84%) or one to nine visits (16%) if positive for any IA. The number of CBC measurements was therefore higher in the IA-positive subjects (n = 72; median, 3) than in the IA-negative subjects (n = 376; median, 2), but the significant difference in the age when the CBC measurements started was not significant (Table 1). We examined whether CBC varied with age in the IA-negative children (Table 2). In agreement with earlier studies, older age was significantly associated with decreasing cell counts in the different white blood cell types, except for a nonsignificant association in eosinophils and basophils (Table 2). In contrast to the nucleated cells, red blood cell counts and hemoglobin levels increase with age, which was also confirmed in our study (28,29).

#### CBC in Children With and Without IAs

In the next step, differences in the peripheral blood cell counts were examined between children with or without IAs (Table 3). Children with IAs had reduced white blood cell counts (P = 0.046) as a result from a reduction in neutrophil cell counts (P = 0.017). The two red blood cell parameters, hemoglobin (P = 0.026) and hematocrit (P = 0.031), were also reduced in children with IA. The neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio did not differ between the two groups.

#### CBC in Relation to Sex in Children With and Without IAs

Stratified analyses by sex were performed to evaluate sex differences (Table 3). Reduction of white blood cell counts (P = 0.02) caused by a reduction of neutrophil (P = 0.012) and basophil (P = 0.029) counts showed a significant difference between children with and without IAs in boys, whereas a reduction of hemoglobin (P = 0.012) and hematorit (P = 0.047) was found in girls with IA.

measurement and association to sex				
CBC	Estimate	SE	P value	
White blood cells (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L) All subjects Girls Boys	<b>-0.315</b> -0.025 <b>-0.540</b>	<b>0.157</b> 0.212 <b>0.229</b>	<b>0.046</b> 0.906 <b>0.019</b>	
Neutrophils (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L) All subjects Girls Boys	<b>-0.239</b> -0.031 <b>-0.386</b>	<b>0.099</b> 0.128 <b>0.151</b>	<b>0.017</b> 0.807 <b>0.012</b>	
Lymphocytes (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L) All subjects NLR (all) Girls Boys	-0.034 -0.115 0.048 -0.084	0.057 0.067 0.082 0.080	0.553 0.090 0.555 0.295	
Monocytes (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L) All subjects Girls Boys	-0.024 -0.024 -0.024	0.015 0.022 0.021	0.108 0.281 0.248	
Eosinophils (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L) All subjects Girls Boys	-0.023 -0.031 -0.028	0.030 0.045 0.040	0.437 0.490 0.486	
Basophils (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L) All subjects Girls Boys	-0.004 -0.001 <b>-0.007</b>	0.002 0.003 <b>0.003</b>	0.064 0.702 <b>0.029</b>	
Platelets (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L) All subjects Girls Boys	-8.190 0.995 -16.260	6.519 8.731 9.542	0.210 0.909 0.090	
Red blood cells (10 <sup>12</sup> cells/L) All subjects Girls Boys	-0.089 -0.134 -0.065	0.050 0.077 0.065	0.077 0.084 0.322	
Hemoglobin (g/L) All subjects Girls Boys	- <b>0.297</b> - <b>0.491</b> -0.180	<b>0.133</b> <b>0.192</b> 0.185	<b>0.026</b> <b>0.012</b> 0.337	
Hematocrit (L/L) All subjects Girls Boys	- <b>0.800</b> - <b>1.170</b> -0.518	<b>0.366</b> <b>0.581</b> 0.521	<b>0.031</b> <b>0.047</b> 0.328	
Mean corpuscular volume (fL) All subjects Girls Boys	0.042 -0.089 0.330	0.374 0.544 0.500	0.911 0.870 0.510	
Red cell distribution width (%CV) All subjects Girls Boys	0.109 0.094 0.130	0.075 0.121 0.095	0.146 0.440 0.171	

Table 3—The association between IA and each CBC measurement and association to sex

Values in boldface type are statistically significant (P < 0.05). CV, coefficient of variation; NLR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio.

#### CBC in Relation to the Number of IAs and HLA Genotype

We investigated whether the number of IAs was associated with CBC by comparing the different cell counts (Table 4). The number of IAs was counted as the appearance of any of the following three IAs—IAA, GADA, or IA-2A—in the follow-up. Of the 72 children with IA, all 3 IAs appeared in 31 children, 2 IAs appeared in 16 children, and 1 IA appeared in 25 children. The number of IAs was inversely correlated with the number of white blood cells, neutrophils, and lymphocytes. Sex differences were also identified in this analysis. Children with three IAs and therefore at the greatest risk for T1D showed a reduction in white blood cell counts (P = 0.007), primarily in boys (P = 0.019) and in children with HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 (P = 0.045). The reduction of white blood cells was mainly caused by the reduction in neutrophil counts (P = 0.003), primarily in boys (P = 0.010), but also the reduction of lymphocyte counts (P = 0.038) in all children.

Red cell parameters were also associated with the number of IA, especially when all three IAs appeared. The red blood cell count was reduced in all children with two IAs (P = 0.026), particularly in girls (P = 0.002) and in children with the HLA-DR3/4-DQ2/8 genotype and three IAs (P = 0.006) (Table 4). These reductions in red blood cell counts were reflected in reduced concentrations of both hemoglobin and hematocrit in the presence of two or more IAs in girls and in children with the HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype (Table 4). Furthermore, in children with the HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype and one IA, the MCH was also decreased (P = 0.042). In contrast, boys with one positive IA had increased mean corpuscular volume levels (P = 0.044), particularly in children not carrying the HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype (P = 0.008).

#### DISCUSSION

The major findings of CBC in TEDDY children were lower numbers of white blood cells, primarily of neutrophils in boys and in children with HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 with an increasing number of IAs. Also, an increasing number of IAs was related to lower numbers of hemoglobin and hematocrit in girls and in children with HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8. These findings may be related to an interaction between HLA risk and development of chronic islet autoimmunity. In TEDDY, chronic islet autoimmunity is defined as the length of being persistent confirmed IA positive after seroconversion and also in relation to the number of different IAs (30,31). The major finding that levels of neutrophils, primarily in boys, as well as in children with HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8, decreased with an increasing number of IAs is a novel finding, which to our knowledge has not been reported before. Our data are otherwise consistent with a reduction in peripheral blood neutrophils as recently reported in healthy IA-positive children all with a first degree relative with the disease (16,17). However, in contrast to one of these reports, a reduction in platelet counts in children positive for one or several IAs was not detected. The difference may be explained by the fact that our study was longitudinal, including a relatively larger number of children. Our results take these previous reports to a next step, indicating that the larger the number of IA, the lower the number of neutrophils. Reduction of red blood cells, hemoglobin, and hematocrit in girls positive for two or more IAs has not been reported previously.

n IAs Estimate SE P value

0.854 0.597 0.153

2333

CBC	n IAs Estimate SE P value
White blood cells (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	
All subjects	1 0.142 0.257 0.582
,	2 -0.379 0.293 0.197
	3 -0.613 0.225 0.007
Boys	1 -0.001 0.392 0.998
	2 -0.701 0.404 0.086
	3 -0.789 0.332 0.019
HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	1 0.512 0.401 0.203
	2 -0.392 0.415 0.347
	3 -0.729 0.360 0.045
Neutrophils (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	
All subjects	1 0.081 0.161 0.616
	2 -0.328 0.178 0.068
	3 -0.427 0.141 0.003
Boys	1 0.033 0.251 0.897
	2 -0.479 0.259 0.068
	3 -0.634 0.216 0.004
HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	1 0.270 0.245 0.275
	2 -0.420 0.246 0.091
	3 -0.572 0.216 0.010
Lymphocytes (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	
All subjects	1 0.092 0.091 0.315
	2 0.025 0.109 0.822
	3 -0.175 0.0840 0.038
Girls	1 0.080 0.124 0.519
	2 0.368 0.175 0.038
	3 -0.115 0.118 0.332
Monocytes (10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L)	
All subjects	1 0.003 0.0244 0.885
	2 -0.057 0.0281 0.044
	3 -0.026 0.0214 0.231
Red blood cells (10 <sup>12</sup> cells/L)	
All subjects	1 0.019 0.080 0.813
	2 -0.200 0.089 0.026
	3 -0.112 0.073 0.125
Girls	1 0.060 0.119 0.616
	2 -0.471 0.142 0.002
	3 -0.109 0.104 0.295
HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	1 0.029 0.129 0.826
	2 -0.211 0.136 0.125
	3 -0.320 0.113 0.006
Hemoglobin (g/L)	
All subjects	1 -0.031 0.210 0.882
	2 -0.635 0.235 0.008
	3 -0.282 0.193 0.147
Girls	1 -0.038 0.300 0.900
	2 -1.248 0.335 0.0007
	3 -0.407 0.255 0.116
HLA DR3/4-DQ2/8	1 -0.255 0.372 0.495
	2 -0.614 0.388 0.116
	3 -0.710 0.326 0.031
Hematocrit (L/L)	
All subjects	1 0.147 0.577 0.799
,	2 -1.801 0.640 0.006
	3 -1.034 0.525 0.050
Girls	1 0.395 0.907 0.664
	2 -3.635 0.990 0.0007
	3 -1.011 0.776 0.200
HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	1 -0.375 0.996 0.707
	2 -1.922 1.029 0.065
	3 -2.514 0.853 0.004
	Continued

Table 4—Association between the number of IA and each
CBC measurement in 72 subjects (boys n = 42)

-0.481 0.734 0.513 2 3 -0.351 0.544 0.519 Boys 1 1728 0850 0044 2 -0.505 0.900 0.576 3 -0.118 0.716 0.869 Not HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-1 2 210 0 826 0 008 -0.605 1.246 0.628 2 3 -0.192 0.722 0.791 MCH (pg) HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 1 -0.861 0.418 0.042 2 0.034 0.433 0.938 3 0.562 0.354 0.116 Values in boldface type are statistically significant (P < 0.05).

1

Table 4-Continued

All subjects

Mean corpuscular volume (fL)

CBC

The strength of the current study is that we have been able to determine CBC during almost 3 years in this TEDDY subset of 448 children who visit the Malmö clinic. They represent  $\sim$ 15% of all children in TEDDY. During this period of investigation, children with IAs underwent CBC measurements more than three times and children with no IA one to two times because they only visit every 6 months. Another strength is that the CBC was done at random because our TEDDY laboratory could only perform the CBC in a maximum of eight children per day with blood samples collected in the morning. During the current period of investigating these 4- to 12-year-olds, we did not expect that we would come across a child converting to IA because of small numbers of IA-positive children monitored in this study. Although TEDDY aims to identify the environmental factors behind seroconversion, the strength of the current study was to contribute to the second end point in TEDDY, which is to identify factors that predispose to T1D, to determine the pathogenic mechanisms that eventually result in clinical onset of T1D.

The weakness was that none of the children changed IA status during the follow-up, and therefore, we cannot test whether the observed changes in CBC may precede seroconversion. Therefore, our data underscore the importance to investigate CBC when children at increased genetic risk for T1D are monitored from birth in the future. Another limitation is the number of IA-positive children monitored for CBC. Therefore, we continue the CBC follow-up in children with and without IAs to understand underlying mechanisms of altered CBC. Validation of these results outside of the TEDDY cohort may be accomplished in studies monitoring newborns, such as in the recently initiated Primary Oral Insulin Trial (POInT) study (32).

Pediatric blood reference intervals are mainly based on retrospective data from hospitalized individuals (28,33). However, the data in this study are prospective from healthy children with a genetic risk for T1D. This premise makes our data more reliable and useful when IA-positive children are compared with those negative for any IA. HLA risk eligibility for TEDDY in Sweden represented 7.5% of all newborns (20). Further CBC analyses are needed because there is an apparent lack of information of CBC neutrophil and red blood cell parameters in relation to HLA-DR-DQ risk not only for T1D but also celiac disease, thyroiditis, multiple sclerosis, and other HLA-associated

organ-specific autoimmune disorders. In agreement with numerous studies, white blood cell counts varied during the 1st years of life and decreased slightly thereafter. Moreover, the red blood cell count is known to increase by age in children, which was found also in this study (28,33). Furthermore, we examined the association between age and CBC in the IA-negative children considered as the general population with the above limitations. As revealed in Table 2, age-dependent effects were observed in most CBC parameters and later corrected for in the linear mixed-effects model. Due to this procedure, the observed associations between the increasing number of IAs and the reduction in neutrophils and red blood cell parameters were all corrected for age.

A diminished number of white blood cells was reported in several autoimmune diseases (17,18,34). Even though neutrophils are innate immune cells, they are involved in the activation and recruitment of both innate and adaptive immune cells (35,36). An impaired neutrophil response is thought to cause or initiate several autoimmune diseases, including systemic lupus erythematosus, vasculitis, and multiple sclerosis (35,37). Our results demonstrate a reduction in neutrophils in boys and in HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 children positive for three IAs. Recent studies have also reported a reduction in circulating neutrophils in patients newly diagnosed with T1D (who did not have diabetic ketoacidosis at onset) and in IA-positive healthy individuals, suggesting  $\beta$ -cell specific autoimmunity (16,17,38). Neutrophils are thought to be recruited to infiltrate pancreatic islets by the physiological death of  $\beta$ -cells and by a signaling cross talk with other innate immune cells activating the autoreactive T cells (36). Recent studies have also suggested that the reduction of neutrophil numbers may be related to an accumulation of neutrophils in the pancreas (16,17), perhaps associated with insulitis (39). These data would be consistent with the observations that the larger the number of IAs, the higher the risk for insulitis (40,41). However, further studies need to dissect the neutrophil count reduction in relation to pathophysiological changes that occur in the pancreas before the clinical onset of T1D.

Mild neutropenia is a common finding in children with viral infections (42). The reduction in the neutrophil counts in healthy Swedish TEDDY boys and children with the HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype could be due to an impaired hematopoietic cell production in the bone marrow, impaired maturation, apoptosis, peripheral consumption or damage, pooling to other organs such as the pancreas, and perhaps tissue detention (43,44). The reduction in neutrophil counts associated with a presence Diabetes Volume 67, November 2018

by potentiating the autoimmune attack on  $\beta$ -cells, by increasing the risk for infection, or by some other processes. However, it can also be a secondary phenomenon due to detention of neutrophils in the pancreas when the β-cell destruction is more pronounced. Alterations in the CBC among autoantibody-positive children may be caused by an impaired hematopoiesis caused by infections or toxins (42,45).

Under normal circumstances, no sex differences in neutrophil, lymphocyte, or basophil counts at the age of 4-12 years have been reported (28). Boys in this study had reduced basophil and neutrophil counts and increased MCHC counts associated with the status of being positive for three IAs. The MCHC count is normally decreasing by age (28). Viral and bacterial infections may alter neutrophil, basophil, and lymphocyte counts; for instance, whooping cough is known to decrease basophil numbers. Basophils have been shown to migrate to secondary lymphoid organs where they cross talk with T- and B-lymphocytes thereby linking the T-helper cell environment as a contributor to the development of autoimmune systemic lupus erythematosus, and as a consequence, the basophils in the circulation decrease (24). Girls with two IAs had increased levels of lymphocytes which could be associated with viral infections because many viruses, such as rotavirus, mumps virus, and others, have been associated with the pathogenesis of T1D (46,47).

The reduction of red blood cells, hemoglobin and hematocrit associated with two IAs in girls may be explained by a peripheral destruction of red blood cells, impaired hematopoiesis, or infections. Previous studies have associated rotavirus and enterovirus with islet B-cell autoimmunity and T1D (48,49). Hence, whether a reduction in CBC is caused by or contributes to the development of the second or third IA is unclear. Our results in TEDDY girls suggest that an alteration of CBC was observed with a second IA.

We concluded from the current study that deviations in CBC after seroconversion were common primarily in boys and in children with the HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 genotype. Our statistical models indicate that the reduction of neutrophil counts in boys and HLA-DR3-DQ2/ DR4-DQ8 children positive for three autoantibodies may be consequences of islet  $\beta$ -cell autoimmunity, because the reduction in neutrophil levels correlated with the number of IAs. Additional factors influencing the CBC in children at genetic risk for T1D and positive for one to three IAs were also affected by sex, HLA genotype, and number of IAs. The cellular and molecular mechanisms behind the aggravating CBC alterations different in boys or girls with an increasing number of IAs need to be further explored.

Acknowledgments. The authors acknowledge the participation of the TEDDY children and the work of the TEDDY study group (see Supplementary Data).

diabetes.diabetesjournals.org

**Funding.** The TEDDY study is funded by the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (U01-DK-63829, U01-DK-63861, U01-DK-63821, U01-DK-63865, U01-DK-63863, U01-DK-63886, U01-DK-63863, U024-DK-63865, U024-DK-63865, U024-DK-63865, U024-DK-63866, U024-DK-63866, U024-DK-63866, U024-DK-63866, U024-DK-100238, U024-DK-63866, U024-DK-10238, U024-DK-10242, U14-DK-10248, U024-DK-1024, U14-DK-10248, U024-DK-1024, U14-DK-1024, U140-DK-1024, U14-DK-1024, U140-DK-1024, U140004, U14-DK-1024, U140004, U14-DK-1024, U140004, U14-DK-1024, U140004, U14-DK-1024, U140004, U14-DK-1024, U140004, U14004, U140

**Duality of Interest.** No potential conflicts of interest relevant to this article were reported.

Author Contributions. F.S. performed CBC analysis, interpreted data, and wrote the manuscript. H.-S.L. and E.F. performed statistical analyses and reviewed and edited the manuscript. H.E.L. and C.T. reviewed and edited the manuscript. Å.L. conceived the study, contributed to study design, and reviewed and edited the manuscript. Å.L. is the guarantor of this work and, as such, had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

#### References

 Krischer JP, Lynch KF, Schatz DA, et al.; TEDDY Study Group. The 6 year incidence of diabetes-associated autoantibodies in genetically at-risk children: the TEDDY study. Diabetologia 2015;58:980–987

 Krischer JP, Lynch KF, Lernmark Å, et al.; TEDDY Study Group. Genetic and environmental interactions modify the risk of diabetes-related autoimmunity by 6 years of age: The TEDDY Study. Diabetes Care 2017;40:1194–1202

 Krischer JP, Liu X, Lernmark Å, et al.; TEDDY Study Group. The influence of type 1 diabetes genetic susceptibility regions, age, sex, and family history on the progression from multiple autoantibodies to type 1 diabetes: a TEDDY Study report. Diabetes 2017;66:3122–3129

 Elding Larsson H, Vehik K, Gesualdo P, et al.; TEDDY Study Group. Children followed in the TEDDY study are diagnosed with type 1 diabetes at an early stage of disease. Pediatr Diabetes 2014;15:118–126

5. Vehik K, Lynch KF, Schatz DA, et al.; TEDDY Study Group. Reversion of  $\beta$ -cell autoimmunity changes risk of type 1 diabetes: TEDDY Study. Diabetes Care 2016; 39:1535–1542

 Bulek AM, Cole DK, Skowera A, et al. Structural basis for the killing of human beta cells by CD8(+) T cells in type 1 diabetes. Nat Immunol 2012;13:283–289
 Coppieters KT, Dotta F, Amirian N, et al. Demonstration of islet-autoreactive CD8 T cells in insulitic lesions from recent onset and long-term type 1 diabetes

patients. J Exp Med 2012;209:51-60

 Ziegler AG, Rewers M, Simell O, et al. Seroconversion to multiple islet autoantibodies and risk of progression to diabetes in children. JAMA 2013;309: 2473–2479

9. Katsarou A, Gudbjörnsdottir S, Rawshani A, et al. Type 1 diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2017;3:17016

10. Rewers M, Ludvigsson J. Environmental risk factors for type 1 diabetes. Lancet 2016;387:2340-2348

11. Gomez-Tourino I, Arif S, Eichmann M, Peakman M. T cells in type 1 diabetes: instructors, regulators and effectors: a comprehensive review. J Autoimmun 2016; 66:7–16

12. Price JD, Tarbell KV. The role of dendritic cell subsets and innate immunity in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes and other autoimmune diseases. Front Immunol 2015;6:288

13. Dotta F, Fondelli C, Falorni A. Can NK cells be a therapeutic target in human type 1 diabetes? Eur J Immunol 2008;38:2961–2963

 Wentworth JM, Fourlanos S, Harrison LC. Reappraising the stereotypes of diabetes in the modern diabetogenic environment. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2009;5: 483–489

15. Battaglia M. Neutrophils and type 1 autoimmune diabetes. Curr Opin Hematol 2014;21:8–15

16. Valle A, Giamporcaro GM, Scavini M, et al. Reduction of circulating neutrophils precedes and accompanies type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 2013;62:2072– 2077

17. Harsunen MH, Puff R, D'Orlando 0, et al. Reduced blood leukocyte and neutrophil numbers in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes. Horm Metab Res 2013; 45:467–470

 Qin J, Fu S, Speake C, Greenbaum CJ, Odegard JM. NETosis-associated serum biomarkers are reduced in type 1 diabetes in association with neutrophil count. Clin Exp Immunol 2016;184:318–322

19. TEDDY Study Group. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study: study design. Pediatr Diabetes 2007;8:286–298

Hagopian WA, Erlich H, Lernmark A, et al.; TEDDY Study Group. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY): genetic criteria and international diabetes risk screening of 421 000 infants. Pediatr Diabetes 2011;12:733–743

21. TEDDY Study Group. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) Study. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2008;1150:1-13

22. Lehto T, Hedberg P. Performance evaluation of Abbott CELL-DYN Ruby for routine use. Int J Lab Hematol 2008;30:400–407

 Dantonio P, Meredith-Molloy N, Hagopian WA, et al. Proficiency testing of human leukocyte antigen-DR and human leukocyte antigen-DQ genetic risk assessment for type 1 diabetes using dried blood spots. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2010;4:929–941

24. Charles N, Rivera J. Basophils and autoreactive IgE in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2011;11:378–387

 Bonifacio E, Yu L, Williams AK, et al. Harmonization of glutamic acid decarboxylase and islet antigen-2 autoantibody assays for national institute of diabetes and digestive and kidney diseases consortia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010; 95:3360–3367

 Babaya N, Yu L, Miao D, et al. Comparison of insulin autoantibody: polyethylene glycol and micro-IAA 1-day and 7-day assays. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2009;25:665–670

 Törn C, Mueller PW, Schlosser M, Bonifacio E, Bingley PJ; Participating Laboratories. Diabetes Antibody Standardization Program: evaluation of assays for autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase and islet antigen-2. Diabetologia 2008;51:846–852

 Aldrimer M, Ridefelt P, Rödöö P, Niklasson F, Gustafsson J, Hellberg D. Population-based pediatric reference intervals for hematology, iron and transferrin. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2013;73:253–261

 Taylor MR, Holland CV, Spencer R, Jackson JF, O'Connor GI, O'Donnell JR. Haematological reference ranges for schoolchildren. Clin Lab Haematol 1997;19: 1–15

 Steck AK, Vehik K, Bonifacio E, et al.; TEDDY Study Group. Predictors of progression from the appearance of islet autoantibodies to early childhood diabetes: The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY). Diabetes Care 2015;38:808–813

31. Köhler M, Beyerlein A, Vehik K, et al.; TEDDY study group. Joint modeling of longitudinal autoantibody patterns and progression to type 1 diabetes: results from the TEDDY study. Acta Diabetol 2017;54:1009–1017

32. Ziegler AG, Danne T, Dunger DB, et al. Primary prevention of beta-cell autoimmunity and type 1 diabetes - The Global Platform for the Prevention of Autoimmune Diabetes (GPPAD) perspectives. Mol Metab 2016;5:255–262

Mcpherson RA, Pincus MR. *Henry's Clinical Diagnosis and Management by Laboratory Methods.* 22nd ed. Philadelphia, Elsevier Science Health Science, 2011
 Starkebaum G. Chronic neutropenia associated with autoimmune disease. Semin Hematol 2002;39:121–127

35. Amulic B, Cazalet C, Hayes GL, Metzler KD, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease. Annu Rev Immunol 2012:30:459–489

 Diana J, Simoni Y, Furio L, et al. Crosstalk between neutrophils, B-1a cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cells initiates autoimmune diabetes. Nat Med 2013;19: 65–73

 Casserly CS, Nantes JC, Whittaker Hawkins RF, Vallières L. Neutrophil perversion in demyelinating autoimmune diseases: mechanisms to medicine. Autoimmun Rev 2017;16:294–307

38. Wang Y, Xiao Y, Zhong L, et al. Increased neutrophil elastase and proteinase 3 and augmented NETosis are closely associated with  $\beta$ -cell autoimmunity in patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 2014;63:4239–4248

 Lundberg M, Seiron P, Ingvast S, Korsgren O, Skog O. Insulitis in human diabetes: a histological evaluation of donor pancreases. Diabetologia 2017;60:346–353
 In't Veld P, Lievens D, De Grijse J, et al. Screening for insulitis in adult autoantibody-positive organ donors. Diabetes 2007;56:2400–2404

 Atkinson MA, Gianani R. The pancreas in human type 1 diabetes: providing new answers to age-old questions. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 2009;16: 279–285 42. Dale DC. How I manage children with neutropenia. Br J Haematol 2017;178: 351–363

43. Huang J, Xiao Y, Xu A, Zhou Z. Neutrophils in type 1 diabetes. J Diabetes Investig 2016;7:652–663

44. Kaplan MJ. Role of neutrophils in systemic autoimmune diseases. Arthritis Res Ther 2013;15:219

 Kolb-Mäurer A, Goebel W. Susceptibility of hematopoietic stem cells to pathogens: role in virus/bacteria tropism and pathogenesis. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2003;226:203–207

46. Op de Beeck A, Eizirik DL. Viral infections in type 1 diabetes mellitus–why the  $\beta$  cells? Nat Rev Endocrinol 2016;12:263–273

47. Coppieters KT, Boettler T, von Herrath M. Virus infections in type 1 diabetes. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2012;2:a007682

48. Honeyman MC, Coulson BS, Stone NL, et al. Association between rotavirus infection and pancreatic islet autoimmunity in children at risk of developing type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 2000;49:1319–1324

 Honeyman MC, Stone NL, Falk BA, Nepom G, Harrison LC. Evidence for molecular mimicry between human T cell epitopes in rotavirus and pancreatic islet autoantigens. J Immunol 2010;184:2204–2210

# SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

**Supplementary Table 1.** Complete blood count (CBC) (median (range)) at first visit in 448 TEDDY children without or with one or several islet autoantibodies (IA).

	IA negative	IA positive
n	376	72
White blood cells (WBC) (10E9 Cells/L)	4.87 (2.09-12.3)	4.54 (2.08-8.02)
Neutrophil (10E9 cells/L)	2.13 (0.59-9.42)	1.95 (0.85-5.05)
Lymphocyte (LYM) (10E9 cells/L)	1.79 (0.50-3.93)	1.81 (0.80-3.22)
Neutrophil Lymphocyte Ratio (NLR)	1.20 (0.28-7.73)	1.18 (0.42-4.45)
Monocyte (MONO) (10E9 cells/L)	0.37 (0.11-1.07)	0.37 (0.18-0.78)
Eosinophils (EOS) (10E9 cells/L)	0.23 (0.01-1.88)	0.21 (0-1.05)
Basophil (BASO) (10E9 cells/L)	0.05 (0.01-0.15)	0.05 (0.01-0.10)
Platelets (PLT) (10E9 cells/L)	255 (99.4-496)	235 (113-350)
Red blood cells (RBC) (10E12 cells/L)	3.99 (2.13-6.66)	3.92 (1.99-5.35)
Red blood cell parameters		
Hemoglobin (HGB) (g/L)	11.4 (6.66-19.7)	11.0 (5.79-14.9)
Hematocrit (HCT) (L/L)	31.1 (17.1-51.7)	30.1 (15-41)
Mean corpuscular volume (MCV) (fL)	77.5 (68.7-88.7)	77.6 (70.6-87.1)
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) (pg)	28.7 (23.4-51.3)	28.4 (24.3-31.4)
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration	36.9 (33-65.7)	36.7 (34.3-41)
(MCHC) (g/L)		
Red cell distribution width (RDW) (%CV)	11.8 (10.5-15.4)	11.8 (10.7-13.5)

# SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

HLA	CBC	Estimate	Standard	P-value
DR3/4-DQ2/8			error	
Yes	White blood cells			
	(10E9cells/L)	-0.240	0.247	0.333
No		-0.329	0.207	0.116
Yes	Neutrophils (10E9cells/L)	-0.275	0.155	0.078
No		-0.192	0.139	0.171
Yes	Lymphocytes (10E9cells/L)	0.040	0.086	0.640
No		-0.055	0.075	0.461
Yes	Monocytes (10E9cells/L)	-0.006	0.019	0.766
No		-0.047	0.023	0.042
Yes	Eosinophils (10E9cells/L)	-0.020	0.044	0.651
No	Model does not fit			
yes	Basophils (10E9cells/L)	-0.002	0.003	0.557
No		-0.006	0.003	0.071
Yes	Platelets	-4.171	10.201	0.683
No		-13.258	8.721	0.130
Yes	Red blood cells	-0.177	0.080	0.030
No		0.003	0.062	0.966
Yes	Hemoglobin	-0.548	0.224	0.016
No	Model does not fit			
Yes	Hematocrit	-1.712	0.599	0.005
No	Model does not fit			
Yes	Mean corpuscular volume	-0.463	0.539	0.392
No		0.614	0.524	0.242
Yes	Mean corpuscular			
	hemoglobin	-0.010	0.255	0.969
No	Model does not fit			
Yes	Red cell distribution width	0.096	0.107	0.372
No		0.144	0.101	0.156

**Supplementary Table 2.** The Association between islet autoantibodies (IA) and each complete blood count (CBC) measurement by HLA-DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8.

### SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

### The TEDDY Study Group

**Colorado Clinical Center:** Marian Rewers, M.D., Ph.D., PI<sup>1,4,5,6,10,11</sup>, Kimberly Bautista<sup>12</sup>, Judith Baxter<sup>9,10,12,15</sup>, Daniel Felipe-Morales, Kimberly Driscoll, Ph.D.<sup>9</sup>, Brigitte I. Frohnert, M.D.<sup>2,14</sup>, Marisa Gallant, M.D.<sup>13</sup>, Patricia Gesualdo<sup>2,6,12,14,15</sup>, Michelle Hoffman<sup>12,13,14</sup>, Rachel Karban<sup>12</sup>, Edwin Liu, M.D.<sup>13</sup>, Jill Norris, Ph.D.<sup>2,3,12</sup>, Adela Samper-Imaz, Andrea Steck, M.D.<sup>3,14</sup>, Kathleen Waugh<sup>6,7,12,15</sup>, Hali Wright<sup>12</sup>. University of Colorado, Anschutz Medical Campus, Barbara Davis Center for Childhood Diabetes.

**Finland Clinical Center:** Jorma Toppari, M.D., Ph.D., Pl<sup>¥^1,4,11,14</sup>, Olli G. Simell, M.D., Ph.D., Annika Adamsson, Ph.D.<sup>^{12</sup></sup>, Suvi Ahonen<sup>\*±§</sup>, Heikki Hyöty, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>\*±6</sup>, Jorma Ilonen, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>¥¶3</sup>, Sanna Jokipuu<sup>^</sup>, Leena Karlsson<sup>^</sup>, Miia Kähönen<sup>μ<sup>π</sup></sup>, Mikael Knip, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>\*±6</sup>, Mirva Koreasalo<sup>\*±§2</sup>, Kalle Kurppa, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>\*±13</sup>, Tiina Latva-aho<sup>μ<sup>π</sup></sup>, Maria Lönnrot, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>\*±6</sup>, Markus Mattila<sup>\*</sup>, Elina Mäntymäki<sup>^</sup>, Katja Multasuo<sup>μ<sup>π</sup></sup>, Tiina Niininen<sup>±\*12</sup>, Sari Niinistö<sup>±§2</sup>, Mia Nyblom<sup>\*±</sup>, Paula Ollikainen<sup>μ<sup>π</sup></sup>, Petra Rajala<sup>^</sup>, Jenna Rautanen<sup>±§</sup>, Anne Riikonen<sup>\*±§</sup>, Minna Romo<sup>^</sup>, Suvi Ruohonen<sup>^</sup>, Juulia Rönkä<sup>μ<sup>π</sup></sup>, Satu Simell, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>¥13</sup>, Tuula Simell, Ph.D.<sup>¥12</sup>, Maija Sjöberg<sup>¥^12,14</sup>, Aino Stenius<sup>μ<sup>π12</sup></sup>, Sini Vainionpää<sup>^</sup>, Eeva Varjonen<sup>¥^12</sup>, Riitta Veijola, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>\*13</sup>, <sup>¥</sup>University of Turku, <sup>\*</sup>University of Tampere, <sup>μ</sup>University of Oulu, <sup>^</sup>Turku University Hospital, Hospital District of Southwest Finland, <sup>±</sup>Tampere University Hospital, <sup>π</sup>Oulu University Hospital, §National Institute for Health and Welfare, Finland, <sup>¶</sup>University of Kuopio.

<u>Georgia/Florida Clinical Center:</u> Jin-Xiong She, Ph.D., PI<sup>1,3,4,11</sup>, Desmond Schatz, M.D.\*<sup>4,5,7,8</sup>, Diane Hopkins<sup>12</sup>, Leigh Steed<sup>12,13,14,15</sup>, Jennifer Bryant, Janey Adams\*<sup>12</sup>, Katherine Silvis<sup>2</sup>, Michael Haller, M.D.\*<sup>14</sup>, Melissa Gardiner, Richard McIndoe, Ph.D., Ashok Sharma, Stephen W. Anderson, M.D.^, Laura Jacobsen, M.D.\*<sup>14</sup>, John Marks, DHSc.\*, P.D. Towe\*. Center for Biotechnology and Genomic Medicine, Augusta University. \*University of Florida, ^Pediatric Endocrine Associates, Atlanta.

**Germany Clinical Center:** Anette G. Ziegler, M.D., PI<sup>1,3,4,11</sup>, Andreas Beyerlein, Ph.D.<sup>2</sup>, Ezio Bonifacio Ph.D.\*<sup>5</sup>, Anita Gavrisan, Cigdem Gezginci, Anja Heublein, Michael Hummel, M.D.<sup>13</sup>, Sandra Hummel, Ph.D.<sup>2</sup>, Annette Knopff<sup>7</sup>, Charlotte Koch, Sibylle Koletzko, M.D.<sup>113</sup>, Claudia Ramminger, Roswith Roth, Ph.D.<sup>9</sup>, Marlon Scholz, Joanna Stock<sup>9,12,14</sup>, Katharina Warncke, M.D.<sup>14</sup>, Lorena Wendel, Christiane Winkler, Ph.D.<sup>2,12,15</sup>. Forschergruppe Diabetes e.V. and Institute of Diabetes Research, Helmholtz Zentrum München, Forschergruppe Diabetes, and Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technische Universität München. \*Center for Regenerative Therapies, TU Dresden, <sup>¶</sup>Dr. von Hauner Children's Hospital, Department of Gastroenterology, Ludwig Maximillians University Munich.

**Sweden Clinical Center:** Åke Lernmark, Ph.D., PI<sup>1,3,4,5,6,8,10,11,15</sup>, Daniel Agardh, M.D., Ph.D.<sup>13</sup>, Carin Andrén Aronsson, Ph.D.<sup>2,12,13</sup>, Maria Ask, Jenny Bremer, Ulla-Marie Carlsson, Corrado Cilio, Ph.D., M.D.<sup>5</sup>, Emelie Ericson-Hallström, Annika Fors, Lina Fransson, Thomas Gard, Rasmus Bennet, Carina Hansson, Susanne Hyberg, Hanna Jisser, Fredrik Johansen, Berglind Jonsdottir, M.D., Ph.D., Silvija Jovic, Helena Elding Larsson, M.D., Ph.D. <sup>6,14</sup>, Marielle Lindström, Markus Lundgren, M.D., Ph.D., <sup>14</sup>, Maria Månsson-Martinez, Maria Markan, Jessica Melin<sup>12</sup>, Zeliha Mestan, Caroline Nilsson, Karin Ottosson, Kobra Rahmati, Anita Ramelius, Falastin Salami, Sara Sibthorpe, Anette Sjöberg, Birgitta Sjöberg, Carina Törn, Ph.D. <sup>3,15</sup>, Anne Wallin, Åsa Wimar<sup>14</sup>, Sofie Åberg. Lund University.
## SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

**Washington Clinical Center:** William A. Hagopian, M.D., Ph.D., PI<sup>1,3,4, 5, 6,7,11,13, 14</sup>, Michael Killian<sup>6,7,12,13</sup>, Claire Cowen Crouch<sup>12,14,15</sup>, Jennifer Skidmore<sup>2</sup>, Ashley Akramoff, Jana Banjanin, Masumeh Chavoshi, Kayleen Dunson, Rachel Hervey, Rachel Lyons, Arlene Meyer, Denise Mulenga, Jared Radtke, Davey Schmitt, Julie Schwabe, Sarah Zink. Pacific Northwest Research Institute.

**<u>Pennsylvania Satellite Center:</u>** Dorothy Becker, M.D., Margaret Franciscus, MaryEllen Dalmagro-Elias Smith<sup>2</sup>, Ashi Daftary, M.D., Mary Beth Klein, Chrystal Yates. Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh of UPMC.

**Data Coordinating Center:** Jeffrey P. Krischer, Ph.D.,PI<sup>1,4,5,10,11</sup>, Sarah Austin-Gonzalez, Maryouri Avendano, Sandra Baethke, Rasheedah Brown<sup>12,15</sup>, Brant Burkhardt, Ph.D.<sup>5,6</sup>, Martha Butterworth<sup>2</sup>, Joanna Clasen, David Cuthbertson, Christopher Eberhard, Steven Fiske<sup>9</sup>, Dena Garcia, Jennifer Garmeson, Veena Gowda, Kathleen Heyman, Belinda Hsiao, Francisco Perez Laras, Hye-Seung Lee, Ph.D.<sup>1,2,13,15</sup>, Shu Liu, Xiang Liu, Ph.D.<sup>2,3,9,14</sup>, Kristian Lynch, Ph.D. <sup>5,6,9,15</sup>, Colleen Maguire, Jamie Malloy, Cristina McCarthy<sup>12,15</sup>, Aubrie Merrell, Steven Meulemans, Hemang Parikh, Ph.D.<sup>3</sup>, Ryan Quigley, Cassandra Remedios, Chris Shaffer, Laura Smith, Ph.D.<sup>9,12</sup>, Susan Smith<sup>12,15</sup>, Noah Sulman, Ph.D., Roy Tamura, Ph.D.<sup>1,2,13</sup>, Michael Toth, Ulla Uusitalo, Ph.D.<sup>2,15</sup>, Kendra Vehik, Ph.D.<sup>4,5,6,14,15</sup>, Ponni Vijayakandipan, Keith Wood, Jimin Yang, Ph.D., R.D.<sup>2,15</sup>. *Past staff: Michael Abbondondolo, Lori Ballard, David Hadley, Ph.D., Wendy McLeod*. University of South Florida.

<u>Autoantibody Reference Laboratories:</u> Liping Yu, M.D.<sup>5</sup>, Dongmei Miao, M.D.<sup>^</sup>, Polly Bingley, M.D., FRCP<sup>\*5</sup>, Alistair Williams<sup>\*</sup>, Kyla Chandler<sup>\*</sup>, Olivia Ball<sup>\*</sup>, Ilana Kelland<sup>\*</sup>, Sian Grace<sup>\*</sup>, Ben Gillard<sup>\*</sup>. <sup>^</sup>Barbara Davis Center for Childhood Diabetes, University of Colorado Denver, \*Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol UK.

**<u>HLA Reference Laboratory:</u>** William Hagopian<sup>3</sup>, MD, PhD, Masumeh Chavoshi, Jared Radtke, Julie Schwabe. Pacific Northwest Research Institute, Seattle WA. (Previously Henry Erlich, Ph.D.<sup>3</sup>, Steven J. Mack, Ph.D., Anna Lisa Fear. Center for Genetics, Children's Hospital Oakland Research Institute.)

**<u>Repository:</u>** Sandra Ke, Niveen Mulholland, Ph.D. NIDDK Biosample Repository at Fisher BioServices.

**<u>Project scientist</u>**: Beena Akolkar, Ph.D.<sup>1,3,4,5,6,7,10,11</sup>. National Institutes of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases.

<u>Other contributors:</u> Kasia Bourcier, Ph.D.<sup>5</sup>, National Institutes of Allergy and Infectious Diseases. Thomas Briese, Ph.D.<sup>6,15</sup>, Columbia University. Suzanne Bennett Johnson, Ph.D.<sup>9,12</sup>, Florida State University. Eric Triplett, Ph.D.<sup>6</sup>, University of Florida.

## Committees:

<sup>1</sup>Ancillary Studies, <sup>2</sup>Diet, <sup>3</sup>Genetics, <sup>4</sup>Human Subjects/Publicity/Publications, <sup>5</sup>Immune Markers, <sup>6</sup>Infectious Agents, <sup>7</sup>Laboratory Implementation, <sup>8</sup>Maternal Studies, <sup>9</sup>Psychosocial, <sup>10</sup>Quality Assurance, <sup>11</sup>Steering, <sup>12</sup>Study Coordinators, <sup>13</sup>Celiac Disease, <sup>14</sup>Clinical Implementation, <sup>15</sup>Quality Assurance Subcommittee on Data Quality.

# Paper II

DOI: 10.1002/edm2.251

#### ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE

# Complete blood counts with red blood cell determinants associate with reduced beta-cell function in seroconverted Swedish TEDDY children

Falastin Salami<sup>1</sup> | Roy N.Tamura<sup>2</sup> | Helena Elding Larsson<sup>1</sup> | Åke Lernmark<sup>1</sup> | Carina Törn<sup>1</sup> | the TEDDY Study Group

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Sciences, Clinical Research Centre, Lund University, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden

<sup>2</sup>Health Informatics Institute, Department of Pediatrics, University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida, USA

#### Correspondence

Falastin Salami, Unit for Diabetes and Celiac Disease, Department of Clinical Sciences, Clinical Research Center/CRC, Lund University, Jan Waldenströmsgata 35, 214 28 Malmö, Sweden. Email: falastin.salami@med.lu.se

#### funding information

The current study is funded by U01 DK63829, U01 DK63861 (SWE). U01 DK63821, U01 DK63865, U01 DK63863, U01 DK63836, U01 DK63790, UC4 DK63829, UC4 DK63861, UC4 DK63821, UC4 DK63865, UC4 DK63863, UC4 DK63836, UC4 DK95300, UC4 DK100238, UC4 DK106955, UC4 DK112243, UC4 DK117483 and Contract No. HHSN267200700014C from the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK). National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD), National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and JDRF. This study was supported in part by the SUS Funds & Donations and the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research Dnr IRC15-0067 and Swedish Research Council Strategic Research Area, Dnr 2009-1039

#### Abstract

**Objectives:** To investigate whether changes in complete blood count (CBC) in islet autoantibody positive children with increased genetic risk for type 1 diabetes are associated with oral glucose tolerance tests (OGTT) and HbA1c over time.

**Methods:** The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study follows children with increased risk for type 1 diabetes in the United States, Germany, Sweden and Finland. In the current study, 89 Swedish TEDDY children (median age 8.8 years) positive for one or multiple islet autoantibodies were followed up to 5 (median 2.3) years for CBC, OGTT and HbA1c. A statistical mixed effect model was used to investigate the association between CBC and OGTT or HbA1c.

**Results:** HbA1c over time increased by the number of autoantibodies (p < .001). Reduction in mean corpuscular haemoglobin (MCH) and mean cell volume (MCV) was both associated with an increase in HbA1c (p < .001). A reduction in red blood cell (RBC) counts (p = .003), haemoglobin (p = .002) and haematocrit (p = .006) levels was associated with increased fasting glucose. Increased red blood cells, haemoglobin, haematocrit and MCH but decreased levels of red blood cell distribution widths (RDW) were all associated with increased fasting insulin.

**Conclusions:** The decrease in RBC indices with increasing HbA1c and the decrease in RBC and its parameters with increasing fasting glucose in seroconverted children may reflect an insidious deterioration in glucose metabolism associated with islet beta-cell autoimmunity.

#### KEYWORDS

autoimmunity, glucose metabolism, HbA1c, red blood cells, type 1 diabetes

The TEDDY study group is listed in the online supplemental appendix.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2021 The Authors. Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Endocrinol Diab Metab. 2021;4:e00251. https://doi.org/10.1002/edm2.251

#### 1 | INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune diabetes also known as type 1 diabetes is a chronic disease affecting children and young people. The incidence rate of autoimmune diabetes among children is increasing worldwide by 3%-4% a year, while the aetiology and pathogenesis are still not fully understood.<sup>1,2</sup> The disease is associated with a genetic predisposition of class II HLA-DR-DQ risk genotypes, accounting for 30%-50% of the genetic type 1 diabetes risk.<sup>3,4</sup> The HLA risk genotype together with an unknown environmental trigger(s) is causing islet autoimmunity marked by autoantibodies to pancreatic islet beta-cell proteins that are related to the loss of beta cells and progression to type 1 diabetes. The autoimmune attack is predicted by one or multiple autoantibodies against the beta-cell autoantigens glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD), islet antigen-2 (IA-2), insulin and Zn transporter 8 (ZnT8).

The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) is a multicentre prospective cohort study that aims to investigate environmental factors that trigger islet autoantibodies and type 1 diabetes.<sup>5</sup> Children at genetic risk for type 1 diabetes are followed from birth until 15 years of age to identify seroconversion to one or several islet autoantibodies (GADA, IAA or IA-2A) as the first primary end-point and diagnosis of type 1 diabetes as the second primary end-point.<sup>6</sup> The development of two or more islet autoantibodies is increasing the risk for type 1 diabetes above 70% during childhood or adolescence.<sup>7,8</sup> Previously, we have shown a change in complete blood count (CBC) primarily in counts of neutrophils and red blood cells or levels of haemoglobin or haematocrit in Swedish TEDDY children with multiple islet autoantibodies.<sup>9</sup> Multiple islet autoantibodies were associated with a reduction of neutrophil and red blood cell counts as well as reduced levels of haemoglobin and haematocrit.9

The possible roles of neutrophils, red blood cells, haemoglobin and haematocrit in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes are not understood. In a cross-sectional study, reduced neutrophil counts in islet autoantibody positive adults with increased genetic risk for type 1 diabetes were associated with a reduced beta-cell function estimated by both fasting and stimulated C-peptide.<sup>10</sup> In the present study, the first aim was to investigate whether changes in CBC over time in Swedish TEDDY children positive for one or more islet autoantibodies were associated with glucose metabolism measures (oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) and haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c)). Second, as the children in this study are longitudinally followed for CBC and HbA1c over time, we tested whether trajectories of these parameters would distinguish single autoantibody from multiple autoantibody positive children. The third aim was to relate the islet autoantibody status at baseline to the change in CBC over time. The hypothesis was that changes in glucose metabolism (OGTT and HbA1c) tracked over time would affect CBC parameters including leukocytes and RBC measures. As CBC is clinical routine and cellular immune mechanisms in type 1 diabetes are not understood, CBC measurements may prove useful to monitor children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes.

#### 2 | RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS

#### 2.1 | TEDDY study design

The TEDDY study is a longitudinal prospective study composed of six clinical research centres: three in the United States (Colorado, Georgia and Washington) and three in Europe (Finland, Germany, and Sweden). The primary objective of TEDDY was the identification of environmental exposures that are associated with increased risk of type 1 diabetes in children with high-risk genetic HLA-DR-DQ. For all participants, written informed consents were obtained from a parent or a primary caretaker, separately, prior to genetic screening and if eligible prior to enrolment and participation in the TEDDY follow-up.11 The genotype screening of newborns (0-3 months) from general population (90% eligible) and newborns with first degree relatives (10% eligible) was conducted using either a dried blood spot punch or a small volume whole blood lysate specimen format, as previously published.<sup>12</sup> Enrolled eligible newborns from the general population or with a first degree relative (FDR) had one of the high-risk HLA genotypes as presented in Table 1. Detailed study design, eligibility and methods have been previously published.<sup>5,6,11,13</sup> The current study has been approved by the Regional Ethics Review Board in Lund, Sweden and observed by an External Advisory Board formed by the National Institutes of Health, United States

# 2.2 | Study population and complete blood count (CBC) measurement

The current study included 89 (37 girls and 52 boys), 4-15 years old. Swedish TEDDY children with at least one autoantibody (GADA, IAA, IA-2A) and if positive for one or more islet autoantibodies, the ZnT8 transporter autoantibody (ZnT8A) was also included (Table 2). The children were followed longitudinally with CBC measurements, analysed at their scheduled TEDDY protocol required follow-up visits, every third month.<sup>5,11</sup> The CBC follow-up was initiated in June 2014 and completed in April 2019. The flow chart in Figure 1 presents the number of islet autoantibody (IA) positive TEDDY children included in this study and for whom the different tests of CBC, HbA1c and OGTT data were obtained. A blood sample was drawn in 8 ml BD Vacutainer® CPT™ tubes supplemented with sodium citrate as anti-coagulant, from which 300 µl was taken for CBC analysis within 8 h after blood draw. CBC includes cell counts (cells ×10<sup>9</sup>/L) of white blood cells (WBC), neutrophils (Neu), lymphocytes (Lym), monocytes (Mono), eosinophils (EOS), basophils (Baso), platelets (PLT), counts (cells ×1012/L) of red blood cells (RBC) and red blood cell indices; haemoglobin (HGB) (g/L), haematocrit (HCT) (L/L), mean corpuscular haemoglobin (MCH) (pg), mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration (MCHC) (g/L), mean corpuscular volume (MCV) (fL) and red cell distribution width (RDW) (% coefficient of variation). CBC was determined in a multiparameter automated haematology analyser (CELL-Dyn Ruby; Abbott Laboratories, Diagnostic Division) SALAMI ET AL

TABLE 1 Eligible high-risk HLA genotypes for the enrolment in the TEDDY study Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism \_\_\_\_\_-WILEY 3 of 10

TEDDY Code	Full Genotype	Abbreviation	General population
A	DRB1*04-DQA1*03:01- DQB1*03:02/DRB1*03- DQA1*05:01-DQB1*02:01	DR3/DR4	Yes
В	DRB1*04-DQA1*03:01- DQB1*03:02/DRB1*04- DQA1*03:01-DQB1*03:02 <sup>1</sup>	DR4/DR4	Yes
с	DRB1*04-DQA1*03:01- DQB1*03:02/DRB1*08- DQA1*04:01-DQB1*04:02	DR4/DR8	Yes
D	DRB1*03-DQA1*05:01- DQB1*02:01/DRB1*03- DQA1*05:01-DQB1*02:01	DR3/DR3	Yes
E	DRB1*04-DQA1*03:01- DQB1*03:02/DRB1*04- DQA1*03:01-DQB1*02:01	DR4/DR4	No
F	DRB1*04-DQA1*03:01- DQB1*03:02/DRB1#- DQA1*01:01-DQB1*05:01 <sup>2</sup>	DR4/DR1	No
G	DRB1*04-DQA1*03:01- DQB1*03:02/DRB1*13- DQA1*01:02-DQB1*06:04	DR4/DR13	No
Н	DRB4*01- DQA1*03:01- DQB1*03:02/ DRB1*04- DQA1*03:01-DQB1*03:04	DR4/DR4	No
I	DRB1*04-DQA1*03:01- DQB1*03:02/RB1*09- DQA1*03:01-DQB1*03:03	DR4/DR9	No
J	DRB1*03-DQA1*05:01- DQB1*02:01/DRB1*09- DQA1*03:01-DQB1*03:03	DR3/DR9	No

The DR4 subtypes DRB1\*0403 were excluded.<sup>1</sup> Acceptable alleles in this haplotype include both DQB1\*0302 and \*0304.<sup>2</sup> In this DQB1\*0501 haplotype, DR10 must be excluded. Only DR1 is eligible.

operated as previously described according to the manufacturer's manual of instructions.  $^{9,14}\!$ 

Persistent autoimmunity was defined after confirmed in Denver and Bristol positive islet autoantibodies on at least two consecutive visits.

#### 2.3 | Detection of islet autoantibodies

The three different islet autoantibodies (GADA, IAA and IA-2A) were analysed in two reference laboratories, in the United States at Barbara Davis Center for Childhood Diabetes at the University of Colorado Denver and in Europe at the University of Bristol, the U.K, by radio binding assays as previously described. These two laboratories have high sensitivity and high specificity as well as concordance.<sup>15</sup> If positive in one of the two reference laboratories, the sample was confirmed in the other laboratory. ZnT8A was analysed in one of the two reference laboratories. The islet autoantibody status was determined from three months of age and if positive for one or more islet autoantibodies each third month thereafter until either 15 years of age or the diagnosis of type 1 diabetes.

#### 2.4 | Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT)

Once the TEDDY child developed a second islet autoantibody, an OGTT was performed twice a year on a scheduled TEDDY visit. Children with one or no islet autoantibodies were not subjected to OGTT. Based on observations in TrialNet, the Finnish DIPP and the German BABY DIAB studies, children with only one islet autoantibody rarely show a deterioration in the OGTT. This is in contrast to children with two or more autoantibodies which over time also develop Impaired Glucose Tolerance (IGT). TEDDY children with two or more autoantibodies were herefore asked to perform a complete OGTT. The amendment to the TEDDY protocl was also done in consideration of the large blood volume taken from the children when a complete OGTT was done. At the TEDDY clinics in Sweden, the

# 4 of 10 | Endocrinology, Diabetes WILEY-& Metabolism

	Persistent confirmed IA n = 89	Single IA n = 34	Multiple IA n = 55
Gender			
Girls	37 (42%)	15 (44%)	22 (40%)
Boys	52 (58%)	19 (56%)	33 (60%)
HLA-DR/DQ			
DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8	47 (53%)	17 (50%)	30 (55%)
DR4-DQ8/DR4-DQ8	17 (19%)	3 (8%)	14 (25%)
DR4-DQ8/DR8-DQ4	14 (16%)	7 (21%)	7 (13%)
DR3-DQ2/DR3-DQ2	11 (12%)	7 (21%)	4 (7%)
Number of IA at first CBC			
0	6 (7%)	4 (12%)	2 (4%)
1	35 (39%)	30 (88%)	5 (9%)
2	21 (24%)	0	21 (38%)
3	27 (30%)	0	27 (49%)
Age at first CBC (years)			
Median (SD)	8.8 (1.8)	9.3 (1.5)	8.1 (1.8)
Min-Max	5.0-12.0	5.2-12.0	5.0-11.4
CBC follow-up (years)			
Median (SD)	2.3 (1.7)	2.5 (1.8)	2.0 (1.6)
Min-Max	0.0-4.9	0.0-4.7	0.0-4.9

TABLE 2 Characteristics of all children in the study cohort with one or multiple persistent confirmed islet autoantibodies (IA)

IA is islet autoantibodies, CBC is complete blood count and SD standard deviation.



FIGURE 1 Flow chart of islet autoantibody (IA) positive TEDDY children included in this study and for whom the different tests of CBC, HbA1c and OGTT data were available

2-hour OGTT capillary blood glucose was determined by a glucometer (Hemocue® Glucose 201 system, HemoCue AB). The fasting plasma sample was used to determine glucose, insulin and C-peptide representing fasting glucose (glucose (0)), glucose (120 min, OGTT), fasting insulin (insulin (0)) and fasting C-peptide (C-peptide (0)). Glucose, C-peptide and insulin levels were analysed at The Northwest Lipid Metabolism and Diabetes Research Laboratories, University of Washington, Seattle, WA. Glucose levels were determined using the recognized hexokinase method.<sup>16,17</sup> Fasting insulin and C-peptide levels were determined using Tosoh reagents on TOSOH 2000 autoanalyzer (TOSOH, Biosciences, Inc.) as described.<sup>18</sup>

#### 2.5 | Haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c)

Samples for HbA1c analysis were obtained at every scheduled visit in TEDDY children positive for at least one islet autoantibody. The HbA1c sample was processed and analysed at the Diabetes Diagnostic Laboratory (DDL), University of Missouri as described.<sup>19,20</sup>

#### 3 | STATISTICAL METHODS

# 3.1 | HbA1c, CBC and number of islet autoantibodies

CBC data from subjects with at least one persistent confirmed autoantibody were analysed by mixed model repeated measures analysis similar to our previous report.<sup>9</sup> Specifically, a CBC end-point (e.g., white blood cell count) was the dependent variable and independent fixed variables for age, gender, HLA category and time dependent variables of number of positive islet autoantibodies and HbA1c. A random intercept and slope for age for each subject was assumed with unstructured covariance for the random effects. HbA1c was also analysed in a similar mixed model repeated measures analysis with the number of positive islet autoantibodies as the sole time dependent variable. Best linear unbiased predictions<sup>21</sup> for each subject were estimated for HbA1c and CBC's of interest from the mixed model analyses.

#### SALAMI ET AL

#### 3.2 | CBC association with OGTT measures

Subjects with multiple persistent confirmed autoantibodies had their OGTT data summarized by four measures, glucose at time 0 (fasting), glucose at time 120 min and insulin at time 0. CBC data from subjects with multiple persistent confirmed autoantibodies were analysed with mixed model repeated measures analysis with each CBC endpoint as the dependent variable. Independent variables included fixed variables for age, gender and HLA category; the intercept and slope for age were assumed to be random. Because of the high correlation across the four OGTT measures, the best subset of OGTT measures with a cut-off level of 0.05 was used for analysis and reporting.

#### 4 | RESULTS

#### 4.1 | CBC association with HbA1c

The longitudinal HbA1c and CBC measurements taken during a median period of 2.3 (SD 1.7) years and a maximum period of 4.9 years from children with one or multiple persistent confirmed islet

TABLE 3 Association between complete blood count (CBC) and HbA1c, age or gender presented as mixed model regression parameter estimates for 87 islet beta-cell autoantibody positive children. P-values for the association between CBC and number of autoantibodies are also shown. autoantibodies are summarized in Table S1. A total of 89 islet autoantibody positive children were followed quarterly with CBC and 87 of them with HbA1c. The association between CBC and HbA1c is shown by mixed model repeated measures results (Table 3). As known, counts of white blood cells, lymphocytes, eosinophils, basophils, platelets, red blood cells and levels of haemoglobin, haematocrit, MCHC and MCV are all age-dependent. Consistent with our earlier findings, white blood cell counts were significantly (p < .001)associated with the number of islet autoantibodies and this association was primarily due to the same significant (p < .001) association of reduced neutrophil counts. Counts of lymphocytes (p = .018) and monocytes (p = .050) also tended to be associated with the number of islet autoantibodies. HbA1c levels increased by decreasing levels of both MCH (Estimate (SE) = -1.51 (0.3)) (p < .001) and MCV (Estimate (SE) = -3.67 (0.57)) (p < .001). This association was affected by the four type 1 diabetes highest-risk HLA-DR-DQ genotypes (DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8, DR4-DQ8/DR4-DQ8, DR4-DQ8/ DR8-DQ4 and DR3-DQ2/DR3-DQ2) and either IAA first or GADA first for both MCH (p = .019, p < .001) and MCV (p < .001, p = .004) (Figure S2).

СВС	HbA1c estimate (SE)	Age estimate (SE)	Female estimate (SE)	Number of autoantibodies p-value
White blood cells	0.73 (0.32) p=0.249	-0.10 (0.04) <b>p=0.010</b>	0.38 (0.19) p=0.054	<0.001
Neutrophils	0.08 (0.22) p=0.711	0.00 (0.02) p=0.901	0.22 (0.11) p=0.057	<0.001
Lymphocytes	0.23 (0.12) p=0.055	-0.09 (0.01) p< <b>0.001</b>	0.17 (0.09) <b>p=0.049</b>	0.018
Monocytes	0.04 (0.03) p=0.249	-0.01 (0.00) p=0.132	-0.00 (0.02) p=0.915	0.050
Eosinophils	0.03 (0.05) p=0.587	-0.02 (0.00) <b>p=0.015</b>	-0.02 (0.04) p=0.552	0.871
Basophils	0.00 (0.00) p=0.133	-0.00 (0.00) <b>p=0.013</b>	-0.00 (0.00) p=0.877	0.689
Platelets	24.80 (12.60) <b>p=0.050</b>	-10.40 (1.50) <b>p&lt;0.001</b>	11.70 (8.70) 0.181	0.248
Red blood cells	0.26 (0.19) 0.175	0.17 (0.02) < <b>0.001</b>	-0.13 (0.11) 0.249	0.452
Haemoglobin	-0.40 (7.10) p=0.952	5.00 (0.80) <b>p&lt;0.001</b>	-3.00 (5.10) 9=0.564	0.369
Haematocrit	0.00 (0.01) p=0.938	0.01 (0.00) <b>p&lt;0.001</b>	-0.00 (0.00) p=0.540	0.452
MCH	-1.51 (0.30) <b>p&lt;0.001</b>	-0.02 (0.04) p=0.540	0.31 (0.26) p=0.228	0.074
MCHC	-5.40 (3.00) p=0.070	-0.90 (0.30) <b>p=0.007</b>	−1.40 (1.70) p=0.409	0.292
MCV	-3.67 (0.57) <b>p&lt;0.001</b>	0.15 (0.07) <b>p=0.041</b>	1.71 (0.58) <b>p=0.002</b>	0.173
RDW	0.08 (0.17) p=0.633	0.02 (0.02) p=0.328	-0.05 (0.13) p=0.678	0.573

#### 4.2 | CBC association with OGTT measures

The red blood cell counts, levels of haemoglobin, haematocrit, MCV, MCH and RDW in children with multiple islet autoantibodies were all associated with at least one of the glucose metabolism measures obtained from the OGTT (Table 4). Red blood cell counts, haematocrit and haemoglobin levels in 49 children positive for multiple islet autoantibodies decreased by the increasing levels of fasting glucose and increased by the increase of fasting insulin level. Similar to the RBC, haemoglobin and haematocrit, an increase in MCH was associated with an increase in fasting insulin. RDW was associated with an increase in fasting insulin. Increased white blood cell, lymphocyte, neutrophil and basophil counts were all associated with an increase in the glucose (120 min) measure.

#### 4.3 | Trajectories of neutrophils and HbA1c

The mixed model analysis of HbA1c as the dependent variable indicated that the number of islet autoantibodies was associated with increased levels of HbA1c (p < .001). The increase was primarily due to the cohort with three islet autoantibodies when compared to the cohort with two islet autoantibodies, the estimated increase was 0.17 (SE = 0.04, p < .001). Since the study population was longitudinally followed for CBC and HbA1c, predicted trajectories over the 2–4.9 years of follow-up for each subject ware estimated from the linear mixed model analysis. Each subject was categorized by their initial baseline autoantibody status (single or multiple  $\ge 2$  islet autoantibodies) to investigate any difference between children with single or multiple islet autoantibodies. No difference could be found in predicted trajectories for monocytes, lymphocytes, red blood cells, haemoglobin, MCH and MCV (Figure S1). A difference was identified in predicted trajectories for both neutrophils and HbA1c where the number of islet autoantibodies had a significant impact (p < .001) on the predicted values (Figure 2). Predicted trajectories for neutrophils resulted in a decrease of neutrophil counts in children with multiple islet autoantibodies compared to children with a single islet autoantibody. The subjects with multiple islet autoantibodies at baseline had lower predicted neutrophil counts than those with single islet autoantibody at baseline, and also, those single autoantibody positive subjects had large reductions in predicted values of neutrophils when the number of islet autoantibodies increased (Figure 2A). Age seemed to have little effect on the predicted neutrophil counts (linear age p = 0.901). In contrast, predicted values of HbA1c increased by both age (p < .001) and the number of islet autoantibodies (p < .001). Variability in the rate of increase of HbA1c, estimated by the slopes in Figure 2B, appears to be low across these children

#### 5 | DISCUSSION

CBC is one of the most important and commonly used clinical laboratory tests. It gives the differential of white blood cells, red blood cell counts, haemoglobin levels and red blood cell indices and thus provides information about the immune system, the production of all blood cells and identifies the oxygen-carrying capacity.<sup>22</sup> CBC is not well studied in children at increased genetic risk for type 1 diabetes and positive for one or multiple islet autoantibodies of GADA, IAA, IA-2A or ZnT8A. Consistent with our previous CBC study in Swedish TEDDY children, the number of autoantibodies was significantly associated with changes in neutrophil and lymphocyte counts.<sup>9</sup> This is expected since the 72 islet autoantibody positive children included in the previous study have also continued to be followed up in the

CBC	n	Glucose (0) estimate (SE)	Glucose (120) estimate (SE)		Insulin (0) estimate (SE)
Red blood cells	49	- 0.023 (0.008) p=0.003		-	0.13 (0.03) p<0.001
Haematocrit	49	-0.002 (0.0006) p=0.002		-	0.011 (0.002) p<0.001
Haemoglobin	49	-0.58 (0.20) p=0.006		-	3.9 (0.8) p<0.001
MCV	50	-		-	-
МСН	54	-		-	0.13 (0.05) <i>p</i> =0.021
RDW	54	-		-	-0.55 (0.024) p=0.021
White blood cells	50	-	0.007 (0.002) p=0	.002	
Neutrophils	50		0.004 (0.002) p=0	0.016	
Lymphocytes	50		0.003 (0.001) p=0	.008	
Basophils	50		0.00008 (0.0000 p=0.021	4)	

TABLE 4 Associations between different CBC with OGTT measures in children with multiple autoantibodies.

Glucose (0); fasting glucose, Insulin (0); fasting insulin.



FIGURE 2 Predicted trajectories from the mixed models analysis for neutrophils (A) and HbA1c (B) stratified by the number of islet autoantibodies (single or multiple  $\geq 2$  islet autoantibodies) at initial observation. Each trajectory represents a single subject

current study for a longer period and account for 80% of the children included. Interestingly, results from the current study revealed that these changes in leukocyte counts were not associated with glucose metabolism. The major findings in this study were the significant associations in children with multiple islet autoantibodies between the red blood cell counts, parameters, and indices with glucose metabolism, estimated with fasting glucose, fasting insulin and HbA1c as products of beta-cell function.

The strength in our study is the longitudinal follow-up of 89 seroconverted children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes during almost five years of prospective CBC, OGTT and HbA1c measurements.

Some subjects with type 1 diabetes do have a peripheral insulin resistance that causes the plasma glucose levels to remain at increased levels for a longer time upon a glucose challenge.<sup>23</sup> The decrease of MCV and MCH with increased levels of HbA1c, the decrease of red blood cell counts, levels of haemoglobin and haematocrit with the increase in fasting glucose are all indicating a disorder of the red blood cell homeostasis and function associated with increased blood glucose levels or impaired glucose metabolism. The increase in red blood cell counts, levels of haemoglobin, haematocrit, MCH and the decrease of RDW reflecting a normal blood cell homeostasis was associated with an increase in fasting insulin reflecting a normal beta-cell function. However, increased fasting insulin in children with multiple autoantibodies is a sign of beta-cell destruction or leakage of insulin.<sup>24</sup> These new findings have to our knowledge not been presented before and may suggest an impaired haematopoietic cell production in the bone marrow related to the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes due to loss of beta-cell function, destruction or both.

A potential weakness of the study is that only Swedish children from one of the three Swedish TEDDY clinics were followed up for CBC, which resulted in a smaller cohort. Lack of resources was one reason why CBC was not carried out at other TEDDY sites. For the same reason, ferritin levels have not been measured routinely in TEDDY.

While MCV defines the size, MCH defines the haemoglobin mass of the red blood cell and a decrease in those indicates the senescence of red blood cells.<sup>25</sup> Low levels of haemoglobin, MCV and MCH usually reflect a deficient storage of iron due to low intake from the diet or low levels of ferritin.<sup>26</sup> Further studies are needed to shed light on this issue in healthy islet autoantibody positive subjects. The significant inverse association between HbA1c with MCV and MCH as presented in this study is important for two reasons: the first is that a relative decrease in insulin may affect erythropoietin or other factors that are important to erythropoiesis, and the second is that MCV and MCH could be useful for better prediction of the time to type 1 diabetes in children with multiple islet autoantibodies. It is well known that insulin is a general regulator of protein synthesis; therefore, it might be speculated that innate deterioration of beta-cell function may be the reason for the relationships observed. Therefore, a primary decrement in the level of beta-cell function could be leading to lower levels of insulin secretion, which could be leading to a decrease in haemoglobin synthesis. Besides, experimental studies have found that erythropoietin decreases the circulating levels of glucose.<sup>27</sup> Therefore, it might be speculated that a diminished erythropoiesis due to low levels of erythropoietin may be an underlying factor for diminished glucose metabolism that cause increased levels of glucose and HbA1c.

The pathogenic process of type 1 diabetes is heterogeneous with differences in the initiation of islet autoimmunity by either IAA first or GADA first depending on HLA risk genotype and yet to be identified environmental triggers.<sup>28-31</sup> This data may explain the association between HLA-DR-DQ and the first appearing islet autoantibody (GADA or IAA) and an interaction with the inverse association between HbA1c and MCV or MCH. An association between diabetes

# 8 of 10 HILEY-& Metabolism

risk and MCV and MCH was also shown previously among young adults,<sup>32</sup> adults<sup>33</sup> and pre-menopausal women.<sup>34</sup> Furthermore, several studies have shown an increase in HbA1c levels with iron-deficiency that negatively affects the red blood cell indices.<sup>35</sup> This information together with our results of the inverse association between MCV and MCH with HbA1c represents a process that takes place already during an autoimmune attack on the beta cells and may remain until after diagnosis of type 1 diabetes. Intriguingly, data from non-diabetic pregnant women have suggested that there is a positive correlation between HbA1c and haemoglobin, haematocrit and MCHC.<sup>36</sup>

Because HbA1c is only tested in seroconverted children in TEDDY, future studies should determine whether this association occurs before or after seroconversion.

The beta-cell function was investigated through OGTT measurements. A decrease in the red blood cell counts, haematocrit and haemoglobin levels was associated with an increase of fasting blood glucose levels that reflects the progression to impaired glucose tolerance (stage 2 in type 1 diabetes staging).<sup>37</sup> In contrast, the increase in red blood cell counts, haemoglobin, haematocrit and MCH levels and the decrease in RDW were all associated with an increase of fasting insulin level, reflecting a normal beta-cell function and a normal red blood cell status. The increase of fasting insulin in children with multiple autoantibody may also reflect beta-cell dysfunction or damage leading to insulin leakage.<sup>24</sup>

Our hypothesis indicated above is that the conspicuous loss of beta-cell function leading to increased blood glucose levels would cause bone marrow failure affecting the erythropoiesis and thereby red blood cells and their parameters. Slowly rising HbA1c and a slowly deteriorating glucose metabolism over time within normal limit values may affect the erythropoiesis. The insidious reduction over time needs to be explained. It may be due to a slowly diminishing insulin production which may affect erythropoiesis. An alternative is that an insidious increase in HbA1c is detrimental also to early steps in the erythropoiesis.<sup>38</sup>

The increase in white blood cell counts primarily by the increase of lymphocytes followed by the neutrophils and basophils was associated with increased 120 minute time point glucose indicating impaired glucose tolerance. Earlier studies in both healthy and diabetic adults have shown elevated white blood cell counts associated with impaired glucose tolerance suggesting the white blood cell count as a measure of risk for impaired glucose metabolism.<sup>39,40</sup>

The novel finding presented by the predicted trajectories of neutrophil counts is that the counts are stable by age and as already shown in previous studies reduced by the number of autoantibodies.<sup>9,41</sup> The lower predicted neutrophil counts in children with multiple autoantibodies need further investigation as the reduced numbers of neutrophils may contribute to the disease pathogenesis.

As presented from the predicted trajectories, both age and number of autoantibodies are affecting the HbA1c predicted values. However, the effect of the numbers of autoantibodies was detected regardless of the age of the autoantibody positive child. HbA1c has been suggested to predict time to clinical onset of type 1 diabetes in children at risk.<sup>42,43</sup> Predicted trajectories of HbA1c could therefore be of great importance in the clinic to further develop a model to predict time to clinical onset of type 1 diabetes.

#### 6 | CONCLUSION

There are negative associations between red blood cell counts, haemoglobin and haematocrit with increased fasting glucose and for the indices (MCH and MCV) also increasing HbA1c indicating a progression to a diminished glucose metabolism and a reduced betacell function in seroconverted children with increased risk for developing type 1 diabetes. In contrast, a positive correlation was found between red blood cell count, haemoglobin, haematocrit, MCH and a negative association for RDW with increasing fasting insulin may indicate a normal beta-cell production of insulin but also insulin leakage due to beta-cell damage. The significant negative associations suggest an unknown cellular mechanism that may originate from the early haematopoiesis in the bone marrow, triggered by a more aggressive autoimmune attack on the beta cells resulting in increased blood glucose levels and later a total beta-cell loss and type 1 diabetes. Subtle and insidious changes in glucose levels may also affect the bone marrow resulting in changes in the red blood cell counts and the levels of its parameters. Further investigation of erythrocytes and the erythropoiesis in children positive for islet autoantibodies may help to better define the stages of the pathogenesis prior to type 1 diabetes clinical diagnosis.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors acknowledge the participation of all the TEDDY families in Sweden and the work of the TEDDY study group (see Supplementary Data) and thank Marielle Lindström, Evelyn Tekum Amboh, Zeliha Mestan and Silvija Jovic for expert technical assistance.

#### CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

F.S. was overseeing the CBC analyses, interpreted data and wrote the manuscript. R.T. performed statistical analyses, reviewed and edited the manuscript. H.E.L. and C.T. reviewed and edited the manuscript. Å.L. conceived the study, contributed to study design and reviewed and edited the manuscript. Å.L. is the guarantor of this work and, as such, had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All the generated and analysed data presented in this study will be made available in the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive

Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism

and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) Central Repository at https://www. niddkrepository.org/studies/teddy.

#### ORCID

Falastin Salami 🕒 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0098-4287

#### REFERENCES

- Mayer-Davis EJ, Dabelea D, Lawrence JM. Incidence trends of type 1 and type 2 diabetes among youths, 2002-2012. New Engl J Med. 2017;377(3):301. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1706291
- Patterson CC, Dahlquist GG, Gyurus E, Green A, Soltesz G. Incidence trends for childhood type 1 diabetes in Europe during 1989–2003 and predicted new cases 2005–20: a multicentre prospective registration study. *Lancet (London, England).* 2009;373(9680):2027-2033. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(09)60568-7
- Steck AK, Rewers MJ. Genetics of type 1 diabetes. Clin Chem. 2011;57(2):176-185. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinc hem.2010.148221
- Pociot F, Lernmark A. Genetic risk factors for type 1 diabetes. Lancet. 2016;387(10035):2331-2339. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(16)30582-7
- Rewers M, Hyöty H, Lernmark Å, et al. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study: 2018 update. Curr Diab Rep. 2018;18(12):136. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11892-018-1113-2
- The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study. Ann New York Acad Sci. 2008;1150:1-13. https:// doi.org/10.1196/annals.1447.062
- Ziegler AG, Rewers M, Simell O, et al. Seroconversion to multiple islet autoantibodies and risk of progression to diabetes in children. JAMA. 2013;309(23):2473-2479. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.2013.6285
- Vehik K, Lynch KF, Schatz DA, et al. Reversion of beta-cell autoimmunity changes risk of type 1 diabetes: TEDDY study. *Diabetes Care*. 2016;39(9):1535-1542. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-0181
- Salami F, Lee H-S, Freyhult E, et al. Reduction in white blood cell, neutrophil, and red blood cell counts related to sex, HLA, and islet autoantibodies in Swedish TEDDY children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2018;67(11):2329-2336. https://doi. org/10.2337/db18-0355
- Vecchio F, Lo Buono N, Stabilini A, et al. Abnormal neutrophil signature in the blood and pancreas of presymptomatic and symptomatic type 1 diabetes. JCI Insight. 2018;3(18):e122146. https://doi. org/10.1172/jci.insight.122146
- Group TS. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study: study design. Pediatr Diabetes. 2007;8(5):286-298. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5448.2007.00269.x
- Hagopian WA, Erlich H, Lernmark Å, et al. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY): genetic criteria and international diabetes risk screening of 421 000 infants. *Pediatric Diabetes*. 2011;12(8):733-743. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1399-5448.2011.00774.x
- Vehik K, Fiske SW, Logan CA, et al. Methods, quality control and specimen management in an international multicentre investigation of type 1 diabetes: TEDDY. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2013;29(7):557-567. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.2427
- Lehto T, Hedberg P. Performance evaluation of Abbott CELL-DYN Ruby for routine use. Int J Lab Hematol. 2008;30(5):400-407. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-553X.2007.00971.x
- Bonifacio E, Yu L, Williams AK, et al. Harmonization of glutamic acid decarboxylase and islet antigen-2 autoantibody assays for national institute of diabetes and digestive and kidney diseases consortia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(7):3360-3367. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2010-0293

- Peterson JI, Young DS. Evaluation of the hexokinase-glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase method of determination of glucose in urine. Anal Biochem. 1968;23(2):301-316. https://doi. org/10.1016/0003-2697(68)90361-8
- Schmidt FH. Enzymatic determination of glucose and fructose simultaneously. *Klin Wochenschr.* 1961;39:1244-1247. https://doi. org/10.1007/bf01506150.
- Steck AK, Larsson HE, Liu X, et al. Residual beta-cell function in diabetes children followed and diagnosed in the TEDDY study compared to community controls. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2017;18(8):794-802. https://doi.org/10.1111/pedi.12485
- Little RR, Rohlfing CL, Sacks DB. Status of hemoglobin A1c measurement and goals for improvement: from chaos to order for improving diabetes care. Clin Chem. 2011;57(2):205-214. https://doi. org/10.1373/clinchem.2010.148841
- Lin C-N, Emery TJ, Little RR, et al. Effects of hemoglobin C, D, E, and S traits on measurements of HbA1c by six methods. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2012;413(7-8):819-821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cca.2011.12.019
- Fitzmaurice GM, Laird NM, Ware JH. Applied Longitudinal Analysis, 2nd ed. Wiley series in probability and statistics. Wiley; 2011:701.
- George-Gay B, Parker K. Understanding the complete blood count with differential. J Perianesth Nurs. 2003;18(2):96-117. https://doi. org/10.1053/jpan.2003.50013
- Cree-Green M, Stuppy JJ, Thurston J, et al. Youth with type 1 diabetes have adipose, hepatic, and peripheral insulin resistance. J Clin Endocr Metab. 2018;103(10):3647-3657. https://doi.org/10.1210/ jc.2018-00433
- Sims EK, DiMeglio LA. Cause or effect? A review of clinical data demonstrating beta cell dysfunction prior to the clinical onset of type 1 diabetes. *Molec Metabol.* 2019;275:S129-S138. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.molmet.2019.06.010
- Gifford SC, Derganc J, Shevkoplyas SS, Yoshida T, Bitensky MW. A detailed study of time-dependent changes in human red blood cells: from reticulocyte maturation to erythrocyte senescence. Br J Haematol. 2006;135(3):395-404. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06279.x
- Gao G, Li J, Zhang Y, Chang YZ. Cellular iron metabolism and regulation. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2019;1173:21-32. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-981-13-9589-5\_2
- Mikolas E, Cseh J, Pap M, et al. Effects of erythropoietin on glucose metabolism. Horm Metab Res. 2012;44(04):279-285. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0032-1301901
- Krischer JP, Lynch KF, Lernmark Å, et al. Genetic and environmental interactions modify the risk of diabetes-related autoimmunity by 6 years of age: the TEDDY study. *Diabetes Care*. 2017;40(9):1194-1202. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-0238
- Bauer W, Veijola R, Lempainen J, et al. Age at seroconversion, HLA genotype, and specificity of autoantibodies in progression of islet autoimmunity in childhood. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2019;104(10):4521-4530. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2019-00421
- Vehik K, Lynch KF, Wong MC, et al. Prospective virome analyses in young children at increased genetic risk for type 1 diabetes. *Nat Med.* 2019;25(12):1865-1872. https://doi.org/10.1038/s4159 1-019-0667-0
- Sioofy-Khojine A-B, Lehtonen J, Nurminen N, et al. Coxsackievirus B1 infections are associated with the initiation of insulin-driven autoimmunity that progresses to type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 2018;61(5):1193-1202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s0012 5-018-4561-y
- Hardikar PS, Joshi SM, Bhat DS, et al. Spuriously high prevalence of prediabetes diagnosed by HbA(1c) in young Indians partly explained by hematological factors and iron deficiency anemia. *Diabetes Care*. 2012;35(6):797-802.
- Rodriguez-Segade S, Garcia JR, García-López JM, et al. Impact of mean cell hemoglobin on Hb A1c-defined glycemia status. Clin

# HILEY-& Metabolism

Open Access

Chem. 2016;62(12):1570-1578. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem. 2016.257659

- Koga M, Morita S, Saito H, Mukai M, Kasayama S. Association of erythrocyte indices with glycated haemoglobin in premenopausal women. Diabet Med. 2007;24(8):843-847. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2007.02161.x
- English E, Idris I, Smith G, Dhatariya K, Kilpatrick ES, John WG. The effect of anaemia and abnormalities of erythrocyte indices on HbA1c analysis: a systematic review. *Diabetologia*. 2015;58(7):1409-1421. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-015-3599-3
- Abass AE, Musa IR, Rayis DA, Adam I, Gasim IG. Glycated hemoglobin and red blood cell indices in non-diabetic pregnant women. *Clin Pract.* 2017;7(4):999. https://doi.org/10.4081/cp.2017.999
- Insel RA, Dunne JL, Atkinson MA, et al. Staging presymptomatic type 1 diabetes: a scientific statement of JDRF, the Endocrine Society, and the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*. 2015;38(10):1964-1974. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-1419.
- Loken MR, Civin CI, Bigbee WL, Langlois RG, Jensen RH. Coordinate glycosylation and cell surface expression of glycophorin A during normal human erythropoiesis. *Blood.* 1987;70(6):1959-1961.
- Ohshita K, Yamane K, Hanafusa M, et al. Elevated white blood cell count in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27(2):491-496. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.27.2.491
- Jiang H, Yan WH, Li CJ, Wang AP, Dou JT, Mu YM. Elevated white blood cell count is associated with higher risk of glucose metabolism disorders in middle-aged and elderly Chinese people. Int J Env Res Public Health. 2014;11(5):5497-5509. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph10505497

Scavini M. at al. Poduction of circulatin

SALAMI FT AL

- Valle A, Giamporcaro GM, Scavini M, et al. Reduction of circulating neutrophils precedes and accompanies type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2013;62(6):2072-2077. https://doi.org/10.2337/db12-1345
- Helminen O, Aspholm S, Pokka T, et al. HbA1c predicts time to diagnosis of type 1 diabetes in children at risk. *Diabetes*. 2015;64(5):1719-1727. https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-0497
- Helminen O, Pokka T, Tossavainen P, Ilonen J, Knip M, Veijola R. Continuous glucose monitoring and HbA1c in the evaluation of glucose metabolism in children at high risk for type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2016;120:89-96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. diabres.2016.07.027

#### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section.

How to cite this article: Salami F, N.Tamura R, Elding Larsson H, Lernmark Å, Törn C, . Complete blood counts with red blood cell determinants associate with reduced beta-cell function in seroconverted Swedish TEDDY children. *Endocrinol Diab Metab.* 2021;4:e00251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/</u> edm2.251

# Paper III

# HbA1c as a time predictive biomarker for an additional islet autoantibody and type 1 diabetes in seroconverted TEDDY children

## Short running title: HbA1c as a predictive biomarker

Falastin Salami<sup>1</sup>, Roy Tamura<sup>2</sup>, Lu You<sup>2</sup>, Åke Lernmark<sup>1</sup>, Helena Elding Larsson<sup>1,3</sup>, Markus Lundgren<sup>1,4</sup>, Jeffrey Krischer<sup>2</sup>, Anette-Gabriele Ziegler<sup>5,6</sup>, Jorma Toppari<sup>7</sup>, Riitta Veijola<sup>8</sup>, Marian Rewers<sup>9</sup>, Michael J Haller<sup>10</sup>, William Hagopian<sup>11</sup>, Beena Akolkar<sup>12</sup>, Carina Törn<sup>1</sup>, and the TEDDY Study Group<sup>\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University/CRC, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden

<sup>2</sup>Health Informatics Institute, Morsani College of Medicine, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, USA

<sup>3</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Skåne University Hospital, Malmo, Sweden

<sup>4</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Kristianstad Hospital, Kristianstad, Sweden

<sup>5</sup>Helmholtz Zentrum München, Institute of Diabetes Research, German Research Center for Environmental Health, Munich-Neuherberg, Germany.

<sup>6</sup>Forschergruppe Diabetes, Technical University Munich at Klinikum rechts der Isar, Munich, Germany.

<sup>7</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Turku University Hospital, and Institute of Biomedicine, Research Centre for Integrative Physiology and Pharmacology, and Centre for Population Health Research, University of Turku, Turku, Finland.

<sup>8</sup>Department of Pediatrics, PEDEGO Research Unit, Medical Research Center, University of Oulu and Oulu University Hospital, Oulu, Finland

<sup>9</sup>Barbara Davis Center for Childhood Diabetes, University of Colorado, Aurora, CO

<sup>10</sup>University of Florida Diabetes Institute, Gainesville, FL, USA

<sup>11</sup>Pacific Northwest Research Institute, Seattle, WA, USA

<sup>12</sup>National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, Bethesda, MD

\*The TEDDY Study Group is presented in the supplements

Correspondence to: Falastin Salami E-mail: <u>falastin.salami@med.lu.se</u> Lund University, Clinical Research Centre Jan Waldenströms gata 35 Skåne University Hospital 214 28 Malmö, Sweden Phone: +4640391905

# Funding

The TEDDY Study is funded by U01 DK63829, U01 DK63861, U01 DK63821, U01 DK63865, U01 DK63863, U01 DK63836, U01 DK63790, UC4 DK63829, UC4 DK63861, UC4 DK63821, UC4 DK63865, UC4 DK63863, UC4 DK63836, UC4 DK95300, UC4 DK100238, UC4 DK106955, UC4 DK112243, UC4 DK117483, U01 DK124166, U01 DK128847, and Contract No. HHSN267200700014C from the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK), National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD), National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), and JDRF. This work is supported in part by the NIH/NCATS Clinical and Translational Science Awards to the University of Florida

(UL1 TR000064) and the University of Colorado (UL1 TR002535). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors have no conflict of interest to disclose.

# **Ethics** approval

The study was approved by local regional ethics boards in each of the participating countries and was also monitored by an external committee established by the National Institute of Health (NIH).

# Data availability statement

The generated and analysed data presented in this study will be made available in the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) Central Repository at <a href="https://www.niddkrepository.org/studies/teddy">https://www.niddkrepository.org/studies/teddy</a>.

## Abstract

## Background/Objectives

Increased level of glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) is associated with type 1 diabetes onset that in turn is preceded by one to several autoantibodies against the pancreatic islet beta cell autoantigens; insulin (IA), glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD), islet antigen-2 (IA-2) and zinc transporter 8 (ZnT8). The risk for type 1 diabetes diagnosis increases by autoantibody number. Biomarkers predicting the development of a second or a subsequent autoantibody and type 1 diabetes are needed to predict disease stages and improve secondary prevention trials. This study aimed to investigate whether HbA1c possibly predicts the progression from first to a subsequent autoantibody or type 1 diabetes in healthy children participating in the Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study.

## Methods

A joint model was designed to assess the association of longitudinal HbA1c levels with the development of first (insulin or GAD autoantibodies) to a second, second to third, third to fourth autoantibody or type 1 diabetes in healthy children prospectively followed from birth until 15 years of age.

## Results

It was found that increased levels of HbA1c were associated with a higher risk of type 1 diabetes (HR 1.82, 95% CI [1.57-2.10], p<0.001) regardless of first appearing autoantibody, autoantibody number or type. A decrease in HbA1c levels was associated with the development of IA-2A as a second autoantibody following GADA (HR 0.85, 95% CI [0.75,0.97], p=0.017) and a fourth autoantibody following GADA, IAA and ZnT8A (HR 0.90, 95% CI [0.82,0.99], p=0.036). HbA1c trajectory analyses showed a significant increase of HbA1c over time

(p<0.001) and that the increase is more rapid as the number of autoantibodies increased from one to three (p<0.001).

# Conclusion

In conclusion, increased HbA1c is a reliable time predictive marker for type 1 diabetes onset. The increased rate of increase of HbA1c from first to third autoantibody and the decrease in HbA1c predicting the development of IA-2A are novel findings proving the link between HbA1c and the appearance of autoantibodies.

# Introduction

Autoimmune type 1 diabetes (type 1 diabetes) is preceded by autoantibodies targeting islet beta cell autoantigens. The autoantibodies against glutamic acid decarboxylase (GADA), insulin (IAA), islet antigen-2 (IA-2A), and zinc transporter 8 (ZnT8A), in turn serve as the strongest predictors of type 1 diabetes clinical onset to date. The development of one or several islet beta cell autoantibodies is a hallmark of an ongoing autoimmune process conferring an increased risk of type 1 diabetes. It has been estimated that children with multiple beta cell autoantibodies have a 70% risk to develop type 1 diabetes in 10 years and a lifetime risk approaching 100% (1). Specific HLA-DR-DQ genotypes together with unknown exogenous factors are likely to trigger an autoimmune reaction against the beta cell autoantigens, predominantly GAD or insulin reflected by the first appearing autoantibody. In recent years, HLA associated endotypes have been identified, the first one is the predisposition of HLA-DR4-DQ8 haplotype associated with IAA as the first appearing autoantibody and the second is the predisposition of HLA-DR3-DQ2 associated with GADA as the first appearing autoantibody (2). Furthermore, three distinct stages of type 1 diabetes have been proposed to characterize disease progression starting with two or more autoantibodies and normoglycemia (stage 1), followed by dysglycaemia (stage 2), and lastly clinical onset of type 1 diabetes with hyperglycemia and symptoms as defined by ADA and WHO (stage 3) (3). However, the time between these stages varies from weeks to years and complicates the prediction of disease progression and the design of secondary prevention trials. Additional biomarkers to complement autoantibody analysis are therefore greatly warranted to predict time to an additional autoantibody or to type 1 diabetes clinical onset. The development of accurate time prediction tools would improve therapeutic interventions aiming to maintain beta cell function. Increase of the glycated hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), the well-known dysglycaemia marker, has been evaluated in several studies as a biomarker for type 1 diabetes progression and suggested to be used as a tool for time to diagnosis prediction in children at increased risk (4-6). The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study is a multi-site, multi-country (Finland, Germany, Sweden, and USA) prospective study aimed to study environmental factors triggering islet autoimmunity and to explore the progression of type 1 diabetes by following children at increased genetic risk for type 1 diabetes from birth until 15 years of age (7). The aim of the present study was to investigate the possible association between HbA1c and the progression to an additional autoantibody or to the diagnosis of type 1 diabetes in seroconverted TEDDY children during follow-up and if so to investigate whether there is a difference between the two endotypes of IAA or GADA as the first appearing autoantibody.

## **Materials and Methods**

TEDDY is a prospective cohort study conducted in three clinical research centers in Europe (Finland, Germany, and Sweden) and three in the US (Colorado, Georgia/Florida, and Washington State) aiming primarily to identify environmental triggers of autoimmunity and progression to type 1 diabetes. The study design, eligibility and methods were previously reported (8). A total of 424,788 newborns were screened for high-risk HLA-DR-DQ genotypes associated with type 1 diabetes at the different TEDDY sites between September 2004 and February 2010. The eligible 8 556 children with consents were enrolled and 89% represented the general population while the remaining 11% had a first-degree relative with type 1 diabetes. Enrolled healthy children started the prospective clinical follow-up from three months of age and were monitored for development of islet autoantibodies every three month during the first 4 years and semiannually until 15 years of age. Once seroconverted, children with one or several islet autoantibodies continued the study follow-up each third month until 15 years of age or until they developed type 1 diabetes.

### **Study participants**

The study participants included were all enrolled TEDDY children who reported a persistent confirmed positivity for islet autoantibody as of May 31, 2021. These subjects were divided into four subcohorts depending on their islet autoantibody combination (IAA, GADA, IA-2A, and ZnT8A) of the first, second, third, or fourth appearing islet autoantibody. The progression from the first autoantibody to the second or type 1 diabetes, the second to the third or type 1 diabetes, and the third to the fourth or type 1 diabetes are referred to as transition states in this study. The given starting state islet autoantibody combination at first visit with positivity for the respective autoantibodies in each subcohort is presented in Table 1, together with the possible types of islet autoantibodies that could subsequently appear.

## **HLA analysis**

Cord-blood or heel stick capillary blood samples taken in the first months of life were used to identify high risk HLA DR-DQ genotypes meeting the eligibility criteria of the TEDDY protocol. Typing utilized PCR amplification, Sanger sequencing, oligonucleotide probe hybridization and/or denaturing gel electrophoresis (9). The HLA genotypes were then confirmed at 9-12 months of age using reverse line blot hybridization at a central HLA Reference Laboratory at Roche Molecular Systems, Oakland, CA (10).

## Islet autoantibody analysis

Islet autoantibody surveillance for IAA, GADA and IA-2A started at three to four months of age. It was then repeated every third month until 4 years of age, and thereafter every 3 to 6 months until 15 years of age. In order to confirm the islet autoantibody positivity, IAA, GADA, and IA-2A were analyzed in two different reference laboratories, one in the United States at Barbara Davis Center for Childhood Diabetes at the University of Colorado Denver and the other in Europe at the University of Bristol in the U.K, by radiobinding assays as previously

described (11-13). Both reference laboratories have high sensitivity and high specificity as well as concordance for the islet autoantibody assays. A detected autoantibody was considered as persistent when confirmed by both reference laboratories in a sample drawn at a consecutive follow-up study visit. Persistent autoimmunity was defined by the presence of one or several persistent confirmed autoantibodies. The ZnT8A surveillance started once a child was positive but not confirmed for another primary islet autoantibody (IAA, GADA, IA-2A). ZnT8A were also analyzed at one of the two reference laboratories and considered persistent upon two consecutive positive samples in one of the reference labs (14).

### HbA1c test

The HbA1c test was performed from the nine months TEDDY visit in islet autoantibody positive children and every third month thereafter until 15 years of age. This requirement for HbA1c measurement was added to the TEDDY protocol 4 years after the start of the study. HbA1c samples were analyzed using an ion-exchange HPLC method on a Tosoh G8 instrument at the Diabetes Diagnostic Laboratory (DDL) at the University of Missouri, standardized using the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial reference method (imprecision coefficient of variation < 1.3%) (15; 16).

## Statistical analysis

The association between HbA1c and the transition from one islet beta cell autoantibody state to the subsequent autoantibody transition state was assessed using joint models of competing risk and longitudinal data. The joint models defined time as the time in years from the start of the initial state. The competing risks models studied the relationships between the covariates and the risks of transitioning from a given autoantibody state to the next autoantibody state or type 1 diabetes diagnosis. Four separate sets corresponding to the four different starting states, IAA first, GADA first, IAA + GADA, and IAA + GADA + ZnT8A were analysed. The corresponding sub-cohorts were defined as the subjects going through the four starting states under consideration. HLA (DR3/DR4 yes or no), gender, country, BMI-z score, and HbA1c were included as covariates in the competing risks model and proportional hazards for competing events are assumed. Longitudinal models are used to model the change of HbA1c and BMI-z scores over time. The trajectories of HbA1c and BMI-z scores were modeled by longitudinal mixed effects models with constant, linear, and quadratic orthogonal polynomials. All HbA1c data from the initial autoantibody visit were included and HbA1c data after the time of type 1 diabetes diagnosis were excluded. Due to the multiplicity of subcohorts and events, a consecutive p<0.01 was considered statistically significant. Technical details of the statistical models are described in the supplemented Technical Appendix (Figure 1A-D).

# Results

Demographics, number of HbA1c measures and number of type 1 diabetes diagnoses for the next autoantibody state, for the four subcohorts at the first visit with a single autoantibody (IAA first and GADA first), the first visit with two autoantibodies (IAA and GADA), and the first visit with three autoantibodies (IAA, GADA, and ZnT8A) are presented in Table 2. The number of subjects in each of the four subcohorts at the first visit with the given starting state autoantibody was 300 IAA first appearing, 361 GADA first appearing, 257 IAA and GADA double positive, and 115 IAA, GADA and ZnT8A triple positive. The subcohorts are not mutually exclusive, thus one child could be included in one or several subcohorts, for example if the child transitioned from the one autoantibody subcohort to the two autoantibody subcohort by developing an additional autoantibody.

Complete results from the joint model analyses for all four subcohorts with all proportional hazard ratios of covariates (HLA (DR3/DR4 yes or no), gender, country, BMI-z score, and

HbA1c) for each of the autoantibody transition states or type 1 diabetes (referred as events) are presented in Supplementary Table 1 A-D and presented below for each of the four subcohorts. The joint model analysis results yield estimated HbA1c trajectory curves for every subject in each event type within each subcohort. These results are visualized by plotting the mean estimated HbA1c for every subject in each event within each subcohort, in retrospective landmark plots going back five years in time from each event or transition into a subsequent islet beta cell autoantibody (Figure 1. A-D).

# IAA single islet autoantibody subcohort and the transition to the next event (GADA, IA-2A, ZnT8A, >1 autoantibodies or type 1 diabetes).

Increased levels of HbA1c were associated with a higher risk of developing type 1 diabetes (HR 1.27, 95% CI [1.16, 1.39], p<0.001). The landmark plot shows the increase of HbA1c in IAA positive children from five years back from type 1 diabetes onset (Figure 1A). No statistically significant association between HbA1c and the transition from IAA as the single autoantibody to any subsequent second autoantibody (GADA, IA-2A, or ZnT8A) or multiple subsequent autoantibodies was found (Supplementary Table 1. A). In IAA positive children, HLA DR3/DR4 heterozygosity was associated with GADA as the second autoantibody (HR 1.89, 95% CI [1.27,2.800], p=0.002). Being an FDR with IAA was associated with two or more autoantibodies (HR 3.707, 95% CI [1.754,7.834], p<0.001). The HbA1c trajectory analysis in this subcohort showed a roughly linear increase of HbA1c over time (estimated covariate 0.34 SE 0.06, p<0.001).

# GADA single islet autoantibody subcohort and the transition to the next event (IAA, IA-2A, ZnT8A, >1 autoantibodies or type 1 diabetes).

Comparable to the IAA only subcohort, increased HbA1c was only significantly associated with type 1 diabetes as the subsequent transition event after GADA as a single autoantibody

(HR 1.82, 95% CI [1.59,2.07], p<0.001). The landmark plot (Figure 1B) illustrates the linear increase of HbA1c during the five years prior to the type 1 diabetes event in GADA only positive children. HbA1c was not associated with the risk of any second islet autoantibody in GADA only positive children. However, lower HbA1c levels were significantly associated with IA-2A (HR 0.85, 95% CI [0.75,0.97], p=0.017) as a second autoantibody following GADA (Supplementary Table 1B). HLA DR3/DR4 heterozygosity was associated with IAA as the second autoantibody following GADA as the first (HR 2.16, 95% CI [1.43,3.26], p=0.001). The trajectory analysis of HbA1c present also for this GADA only subcohort a roughly linear increase of HbA1c over time (estimated covariate 0.64, SE 0.05, p<0.001).

# IAA + GADA subcohort and the transition to the next event (ZnT8A, IA-2A, ZnT8A + IA-2A or type 1 diabetes)

Increased HbA1c levels were associated with type 1 diabetes (HR 1.82, 95% CI [1.58,2.10], p<0.001) in children positive for both IAA and GADA. The linear increase of HbA1c five years before type 1 diabetes clinical onset is presented in the landmark plot in Figure 1C. Increased HbA1c was not associated with any third autoantibody (Supplementary Table 1C). Similar to the two previously mentioned single autoantibody subcohorts, trajectories of HbA1c increased over time (estimated covariate 0.65, SE (0.06), p<0.001) in this subcohort of children with two autoantibodies. Female gender was associated with IA-2A as the third autoantibody preceded by GADA and IAA (HR 1.81, 95% CI [1.17,2.79], p=0.007).

# IAA, GADA, and ZnT8A subcohort and the transition to the next event (IA-2A or type 1 diabetes)

In this subcohort with three autoantibodies, increased HbA1c levels were associated with type 1 diabetes clinical onset (HR 2.12, [1.79,2.51], p<0.001). The increase of HbA1c was linear (slope estimate 1.37, SE (0.148), p<0.001) with increasing rate (quadratic estimate 0.47, SE

(0.092), p <0.001) over time as proximity to clinical onset of type 1 diabetes increases. The increased trajectories of HbA1c five years back from the development of type 1 diabetes in the subgroup with three autoantibodies is illustrated in Figure 1D. IA-2A as the fourth autoantibody was not associated with higher levels of HbA1c, but possibly suggested lower HbA1c levels (HR 0.90, 95% CI [0.82,0.99], p=0.036) (Supplementary Table 1D).

# Discussion

The main result of this study is the association of increasing HbA1c levels over time with significantly higher hazard ratios for type 1 diabetes, indicating a higher risk for the type 1 diabetes event, regardless of prior islet beta cell autoantibody number or combination. There was no association between increasing HbA1c and the transition to positivity for the second, third, or fourth islet beta cell autoantibody. However, the HbA1c trajectory analysis revealed a linear increase of HbA1c, in progression to type 1 diabetes, irrespective of the number and combinations of autoantibodies, larger HbA1c rate of increase with increasing autoantibody number from one to three autoantibodies, and finally increasing rate of HbA1c over time as proximity to type 1 diabetes diagnosis increases. The landmark plots presented a rise of HbA1c starting as early as five years prior to type 1 diabetes clinical onset. Nevertheless, the autoantibody transition from GADA or IAA, GADA and ZnT8A to IA-2A as the second or fourth autoantibody associated with lower levels of HbA1c is a novel finding emphasizing further investigation of autoantibodies and HbA1c together as biomarkers in the prediction of type 1 diabetes. To our knowledge, this is the first study evaluating the association between HbA1c and the progression to an additional autoantibody of specific combination in general population children who carried increased HLA-conferred risk of type 1 diabetes, had seroconverted positive for at least one islet autoantibody and were younger than 15 years of age.

The autoantibody positive TEDDY cohort represents the strength of this study with a relatively large number of autoantibody positive children from the general population, followed from birth until 15 years of age in an accurate islet beta cell autoantibody surveillance program for various numbers and combinations of islet beta cell autoantibodies. The heterogeneity in the TEDDY cohort and the relatively large number of autoantibody positive children made it possible to distribute the children in different subcohorts with different combinations and numbers of autoantibodies.

The benefit of the statistical joint model used in this study that combined longitudinal and survival models is that the estimates of factors such as HbA1c were comparable across the different autoantibody categories since the underlying hazard function was the same (17).

One limitation of this study was the inability to analyze all combinations of islet beta cell autoantibodies (IA-2A first and ZnT8A first or both without any of IAA or GADA) due to limited number of children or progression to type 1 diabetes diagnosis in less than three months. Another limitation was the HbA1c not analyzed in TEDDY until four years after the study had started, therefore some children had limited HbA1c information.

Consistent with our results, it was reported in the population-based prospective Finnish Diabetes Prediction and Prevention (DIPP) study that a 10% increase of HbA1c during 3-12 months in children with multiple islet autoantibodies predicted type 1 diabetes diagnosis after a median time of 1.1 years. Moreover, mean HbA1c levels remained stable in autoantibody positive children who did not progress to type 1 diabetes (4). Similar results were recently reported in an international study showing that an increase of HbA1c of 20% to 30% from a previous sample predicted type 1 diabetes onset and appearance of first autoantibody but not

any multiple autoantibodies (18). Our study adds to these two findings by evaluating whether increased HbA1c is associated with a specific autoantibody type or combination as well as the risk of developing a subsequent autoantibody or type 1 diabetes in seroconverted children with high HLA risk.

The disease pathway to type 1 diabetes is heterogenous and associated with many factors including HLA genotype, age, age at the first appearing islet autoantibody, type of first appearing autoantibody, gender, and BMI giving rise to different endotypes (2; 19). Considering this, the TEDDY cohort was analyzed in two subcohorts with IAA or GADA as the first appearing autoantibody. The present analysis showed, however, that lower levels of HbA1c in GADA single positive TEDDY children was associated with the risk to develop IA-2A as the second autoantibody.

Irrespective of blood glucose levels reflecting beta cell function, a decrease in hemoglobin or iron can increase the HbA1c level (20-22). The HbA1c trajectories in the current study show an increase in HbA1c over time in autoantibody positive children driven by those who progress to type 1 diabetes. This HbA1c increase is still within normoglycemic ranges detected up to years before onset. We have previously shown in autoantibody positive TEDDY children an inverse association of mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH) and mean corpuscular volume (MCV) with HbA1c (23), indicating a decrease in iron levels generally caused by an aberrant erythropoiesis or a reduction in iron intake or absorption (24; 25). Thus, further research is required to clarify whether there are common factors associated with erythropoiesis and development of type 1 diabetes.

Unexpectedly, increased risk for developing IA-2A in GADA positive children and those with IAA, GADA, and ZnT8A was associated with lower levels of HbA1c. This may be explained by a more aggressive autoimmune attack on the beta cells leading to autoantibody spreading

or insulin leakage into the bloodstream, as IA-2A positivity is known to confer a rapid progression risk of type 1 diabetes (14; 26; 27).

Type 1 diabetes disease process is extremely heterogenous and varies with age, genetics, BMI, and sex (2; 28). The prediction of disease progression in pre-symptomatic type 1 diabetes children at stage 1 or 2 is currently made by autoantibody surveillance programs together with regular OGTTs and HbA1c monitoring. Within these follow-up programs, diabetic ketoacidosis can effectively be prevented, but close follow-up is costly and limits public health implementation (29; 30). However, biomarkers predicting the progression from one stage of type 1 diabetes to the next are limited, and more accurate predictive biomarkers are needed to complement the autoantibody screening. Given that the risk of multiple autoantibodies is age-related and declines exponentially by age (31), there is a need for additional studies evaluating age-related biomarkers. An ability to predict time more accurately to type 1 diabetes progression would improve clinical trial designs and move us closer towards personalized medicine. This study shows the high impact of HbA1c as a time predictive biomarker for type 1 diabetes onset. Thus, the joint model analysis designed in this study could be further developed with HbA1c as a tool predicting time to type 1 diabetes diagnosis.

## Conclusion

In conclusion, rising HbA1c reflects deteriorating beta cell function several years before clinical onset of type 1 diabetes. While HbA1c increase was not associated with the development of a subsequent additional autoantibody, the association between increased HbA1c over time and the development of type 1 diabetes makes HbA1c a useful time predictive marker for type 1 diabetes onset. Lower levels of HbA1c associated with IA-2A as a second autoantibody following GADA or as the fourth autoantibody following GADA, IAA and ZnT8A need further investigation.

# **Author Contributions**

F.S proposed the analysis, interpreted the findings, wrote, and edited the manuscript. R.N.T and L.Y designed the statistical model, performed the statistical analysis, reviewed, and edited the manuscript. C.T. proposed the analyses, reviewed, and edited the manuscript. H.E.L., M.L., R.V., M.J.H., reviewed and edited the manuscript. Å.L., J.K., A.-G.Z., J.T., M.R., J.-X.S., W.H., B.A., designed the study and reviewed and edited the manuscript. Å.L. is the guarantor of this work and, as such, had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

# Acknowledgments

A special thanks to all the TEDDY children and their families from each of the six sites in Europe and the US for participating in the TEDDY study. We also thank all TEDDY coworkers for all their efforts and the tremendous international teamwork.

# References

1. Ziegler AG, Rewers M, Simell O, Simell T, Lempainen J, Steck A, Winkler C, Ilonen J, Veijola R, Knip M, Bonifacio E, Eisenbarth GS. Seroconversion to multiple islet autoantibodies and risk of progression to diabetes in children. JAMA 2013;309:2473-2479

2. Battaglia M, Ahmed S, Anderson MS, Atkinson MA, Becker D, Bingley PJ, Bosi E, Brusko TM, DiMeglio LA, Evans-Molina C, Gitelman SE, Greenbaum CJ, Gottlieb PA, Herold KC, Hessner MJ, Knip M, Jacobsen L, Krischer JP, Long SA, Lundgren M, McKinney EF, Morgan NG, Oram RA, Pastinen T, Peters MC, Petrelli A, Qian X, Redondo MJ, Roep BO, Schatz D, Skibinski D, Peakman M. Introducing the Endotype Concept to Address the Challenge of Disease Heterogeneity in Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2020;43:5-12

3. Insel RA, Dunne JL, Atkinson MA, Chiang JL, Dabelea D, Gottlieb PA, Greenbaum CJ, Herold KC, Krischer JP, Lernmark A, Ratner RE, Rewers MJ, Schatz DA, Skyler JS, Sosenko JM, Ziegler AG. Staging presymptomatic type 1 diabetes: a scientific statement of JDRF, the Endocrine Society, and the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care 2015;38:1964-1974

4. Helminen O, Aspholm S, Pokka T, Hautakangas MR, Haatanen N, Lempainen J, Ilonen J, Simell O, Knip M, Veijola R. HbA1c Predicts Time to Diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes in Children at Risk. Diabetes 2015;64:1719-1727

5. Jacobsen LM, Larsson HE, Tamura RN, Vehik K, Clasen J, Sosenko J, Hagopian WA, She JX, Steck AK, Rewers M, Simell O, Toppari J, Veijola R, Ziegler AG, Krischer JP, Akolkar B, Haller MJ, Group TS. Predicting progression to type 1 diabetes from ages 3 to 6 in islet autoantibody positive TEDDY children. Pediatr Diabetes 2019;20:263-270

6. Vehik K, Cuthbertson D, Boulware D, Beam CA, Rodriguez H, Legault L, Hyytinen M, Rewers MJ, Schatz DA, Krischer JP. Performance of HbA1c as an early diagnostic indicator of type 1 diabetes in children and youth. Diabetes Care 2012;35:1821-1825

7. Group TS. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study: study design. Pediatr Diabetes 2007;8:286-298

8. Group TS. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) Study. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2008;1150:1-13

9. Hagopian WA, Erlich H, Lernmark A, Rewers M, Ziegler AG, Simell O, Akolkar B, Vogt R, Blair A, Ilonen J, Krischer J, She J, Grp TS. The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY): genetic criteria and international diabetes risk screening of 421 000 infants. Pediatric Diabetes 2011;12:733-

743

10. Dantonio P, Meredith-Molloy N, Hagopian WA, She JX, Akolkar B, Cordovado SK, Hendrix M, Henderson LO, Hannon WH, Vogt RF. Proficiency testing of human leukocyte antigen-DR and human leukocyte antigen-DQ genetic risk assessment for type 1 diabetes using dried blood spots. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2010;4:929-941

11. Bonifacio E, Yu L, Williams AK, Eisenbarth GS, Bingley PJ, Marcovina SM, Adler K, Ziegler AG, Mueller PW, Schatz DA, Krischer JP, Steffes MW, Akolkar B. Harmonization of glutamic acid decarboxylase and islet antigen-2 autoantibody assays for national institute of diabetes and digestive and kidney diseases consortia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:3360-3367

12. Yu L, Robles DT, Abiru N, Kaur P, Rewers M, Kelemen K, Eisenbarth GS. Early expression of antiinsulin autoantibodies of humans and the NOD mouse: evidence for early determination of subsequent diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:1701-1706

13. Wenzlau JM, Juhl K, Yu L, Moua O, Sarkar SA, Gottlieb P, Rewers M, Eisenbarth GS, Jensen J, Davidson HW, Hutton JC. The cation efflux transporter ZnT8 (Slc30A8) is a major autoantigen in human type 1 diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:17040-17045

14. Vehik K, Bonifacio E, Lernmark A, Yu L, Williams A, Schatz D, Rewers M, She JX, Toppari J, Hagopian W, Akolkar B, Ziegler AG, Krischer JP, Group TS. Hierarchical Order of Distinct Autoantibody Spreading and Progression to Type 1 Diabetes in the TEDDY Study. Diabetes Care 2020;43:2066-2073

15. Little RR, Rohlfing CL, Sacks DB, National Glycohemoglobin Standardization Program Steering C. Status of hemoglobin A1c measurement and goals for improvement: from chaos to order for improving diabetes care. Clin Chem 2011;57:205-214

16. Lin CN, Emery TJ, Little RR, Hanson SE, Rohlfing CL, Jaisson S, Gillery P, Roberts WL. Effects of hemoglobin C, D, E, and S traits on measurements of HbA1c by six methods. Clin Chim Acta 2012;413:819-821

17. Ibrahim JG, Chu H, Chen LM. Basic concepts and methods for joint models of longitudinal and survival data. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:2796-2801

18. Ludvigsson J, Cuthbertson D, Becker DJ, Kordonouri O, Aschemeier B, Pacaud D, Clarson C, Krischer JP, Knip M, Investigators T. Increasing plasma glucose before the development of type 1 diabetes-the TRIGR study. Pediatr Diabetes 2021;22:974-981

 Lernmark A. Etiology of Autoimmune Islet Disease: Timing Is Everything. Diabetes 2021;70:1431-1439

20. Sakamoto N, Hu H, Nanri A, Mizoue T, Eguchi M, Kochi T, Nakagawa T, Honda T, Yamamoto S, Ogasawara T, Sasaki N, Nishihara A, Imai T, Miyamoto T, Yamamoto M, Okazaki H, Tomita K, Uehara A, Hori A, Shimizu M, Murakami T, Kuwahara K, Fukunaga A, Kabe I, Sone T, Dohi S. Associations of

anemia and hemoglobin with hemoglobin A1c among non-diabetic workers in Japan. J Diabetes Investig 2020;11:719-725

21. Wang D, Wang Y, Madhu S, Liang H, Bray CL. Total hemoglobin count has significant impact on A1C
Data from National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2014. Prim Care Diabetes 2019;13:316-323

22. English E, Idris I, Smith G, Dhatariya K, Kilpatrick ES, John WG. The effect of anaemia and abnormalities of erythrocyte indices on HbA1c analysis: a systematic review. Diabetologia 2015;58:1409-1421

23. Salami F, R NT, Elding Larsson H, Lernmark A, Torn C, Group TS. Complete blood counts with red blood cell determinants associate with reduced beta-cell function in seroconverted Swedish TEDDY children. Endocrinol Diabetes Metab 2021;4:e00251

24. Sarma PR. Red Cell Indices. In *Clinical Methods: The History, Physical, and Laboratory Examinations* Walker HK, Hall WD, Hurst JW, Eds. Boston, Butterworths

Copyright © 1990, Butterworth Publishers, a division of Reed Publishing., 1990

25. Koury MJ. Abnormal erythropoiesis and the pathophysiology of chronic anemia. Blood Rev 2014;28:49-66

26. Gorus FK, Balti EV, Messaaoui A, Demeester S, Van Dalem A, Costa O, Dorchy H, Mathieu C, Van Gaal L, Keymeulen B, Pipeleers DG, Weets I, Belgian Diabetes R. Twenty-Year Progression Rate to Clinical Onset According to Autoantibody Profile, Age, and HLA-DQ Genotype in a Registry-Based Group of Children and Adults With a First-Degree Relative With Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2017;40:1065-1072

27. Steck AK, Vehik K, Bonifacio E, Lernmark A, Ziegler AG, Hagopian WA, She J, Simell O, Akolkar B, Krischer J, Schatz D, Rewers MJ, Group TS. Predictors of Progression From the Appearance of Islet Autoantibodies to Early Childhood Diabetes: The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY). Diabetes Care 2015;38:808-813

28. Krischer JP, Liu X, Lernmark Å, Hagopian WA, Rewers MJ, She JX, Toppari J, Ziegler AG, Akolkar B. The Influence of Type 1 Diabetes Genetic Susceptibility Regions, Age, Sex, and Family History on the Progression From Multiple Autoantibodies to Type 1 Diabetes: A TEDDY Study Report. Diabetes 2017;66:3122-3129

 Winkler C, Schober E, Ziegler AG, Holl RW. Markedly reduced rate of diabetic ketoacidosis at onset of type 1 diabetes in relatives screened for islet autoantibodies. Pediatr Diabetes 2012;13:308-313
 Meehan C, Fout B, Ashcraft J, Schatz DA, Haller MJ. Screening for T1D risk to reduce DKA is not economically viable. Pediatr Diabetes 2015;16:565-572 31. Bonifacio E, Weiss A, Winkler C, Hippich M, Rewers MJ, Toppari J, Lernmark A, She JX, Hagopian WA, Krischer JP, Vehik K, Schatz DA, Akolkar B, Ziegler AG, Group TS. An Age-Related Exponential Decline in the Risk of Multiple Islet Autoantibody Seroconversion During Childhood. Diabetes Care 2021;
Subcohorts	Autoantibody Transition state, or type 1 diabetes onset	Possible subsequent autoantibodies
IAA (1 <sup>st</sup> autoantibody)	1 <sup>st</sup> to 2 <sup>nd</sup> or type 1	GADA IA-2A ZnT8A
	diabetes	>1 autoantibody <sup>1</sup>
GADA (1 <sup>st</sup> autoantibody)	1 <sup>st</sup> to 2 <sup>nd</sup> or type 1	IAA IA-2A ZnT8A
	diabetes	>1 autoantibody <sup>2</sup>
IAA + GADA	2 <sup>nd</sup> to 3 <sup>rd</sup> or type 1	IA-2A ZnT8A IA-2A +
	diabetes	ZnT8A
IAA + GADA + ZnT8A	3 <sup>rd</sup> to 4 <sup>th</sup> or type 1	IA-2A
	diabetes	

Table 1. Islet autoantibody combinations in the four subcohorts observed in this study.

<sup>1</sup>> 1 autoantibodies; refers to any combination of GADA, IA-2A, or ZnT8A islet autoantibodies becoming positive at the same time.

<sup>2</sup>>1 autoantibody; refers to any combination of IAA, IA-2A, or ZnT8A islet autoantibodies becoming positive at the same time.

Table 2. Demographics, number of HbA1c measurements and number of type 1 diabetes diagnosis for next autoantibody state are presented for the subjects in the four subcohorts. Single autoantibody positive (IAA first and GADA first) at first autoantibody positive visit. IAA + GADA at first visit with two positive autoantibodies. IAA + GADA + ZnT8A at first visit with three autoantibodies.

Subcohorts				
Autoantibody	IAA first	GADA	IAA+GADA	IAA+GADA+ZnT8A
	n=300	first	n=257	n=115
		n=361		
Country, n (%)				
United States	98 (33)	133 (37)	80 (31)	43 (38)
Finland	95 (32)	71 (20)	65 (25)	33 (29)
Germany	18 (6)	19 (5)	25 (10)	5 (4)
Sweden	89 (30)	138 (38)	87 (34)	34 (30)
Gender, n (%)				
Female	139 (46)	168 (47)	116 (45)	54 (47)
Male	161 (54)	193 (53)	141 (55)	61 (53)
First degree relative, n				
(%)				
Yes	66 (22)	62 (17)	57 (22)	23 (20)
No	234 (78)	299 (83)	200 (78)	92 (80)
HLA genotype, n (%)				
DR4/DR3	144 (48)	177 (49)	161 (63)	66 (57)
DR4/DR4	54 (18)	56 (16)	39 (15)	20 (17)
DR4/DR8	62 (21)	43 (12)	28 (11)	14 (12)
DR3/DR3	26 (9)	79 (22)	15 (6)	8 (7)
Other	14 (5)	6 (2)	14 (5)	7 (6)
Baseline Age, median	2.0	5.0	2.8	5.2
(min-max)	(0.3–13.7)	(0.3–14.0)	(0.5–14.6)	(1.2–13.8)
Number HbA1c*,	9	8	3	5
median	(1-43)	(1-34)	(1-40)	(1-43)
(min-max)				
Number of type 1	14	11	28	15
diabetes**				

\*number of HbA1c measures until next state

\*\*number of type 1 diabetes diagnoses for next state



**Figure 1.** Retrospective landmark plots of HbA1c going back five years from each event. The left-hand panels show mean curves, and the right-hand panel shows individual curves for each event. The diagrams present each subcohort; **A)** IAA single autoantibody positives, **B)** GADA single autoantibody positives, **C)** IAA as well as GADA positives, and **D)** IAA, GADA together with ZnT8A positives. The left panels present mean curves of HbA1c going five years back in time, and the right panel presents individual subject curves for each event. The development of type 1 diabetes is associated with increased HbA1c in all four subcohorts. The slope of the increase also increases from one to two to three autoantibodies. Multiple autoantibody events are excluded from these Landmark plots. Censored grey lines present subjects that have lost follow-up before the transition into the next event of autoantibody development or type 1 diabetes.

# Paper IV



### Research Article

### Long-Term GAD-alum Treatment Effect on Different T-Cell Subpopulations in Healthy Children Positive for Multiple Beta Cell Autoantibodies

Falastin Salami<sup>1</sup>,<sup>1</sup> Lampros Spiliopoulos,<sup>1</sup> Marlena Maziarz,<sup>1</sup> Markus Lundgren,<sup>1,2</sup> Charlotte Brundin,<sup>1</sup> Rasmus Bennet,<sup>1</sup> Magnus Hillman,<sup>3</sup> Carina Törn,<sup>1</sup> and Helena Elding Larsson<sup>1,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University/Clinical Research Centre, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden

<sup>2</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Kristianstad Hospital, Kristianstad, Sweden

<sup>3</sup>Diabetes Research Laboratory, Department of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Lund, Sweden <sup>4</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Skåne University Hospital, Sweden

Correspondence should be addressed to Falastin Salami; falastin.salami@med.lu.se

Received 7 January 2022; Revised 14 March 2022; Accepted 6 May 2022; Published 25 May 2022

Academic Editor: Jixin Zhong

Copyright © 2022 Falastin Salami et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

*Objective.* The objective of this study was to explore whether recombinant GAD65 conjugated hydroxide (GAD-alum) treatment affected peripheral blood T-cell subpopulations in healthy children with multiple beta cell autoantibodies. *Method.* The Diabetes Prevention–Immune Tolerance 2 (DiAPREV-IT 2) clinical trial enrolled 26 children between 4 and 13 years of age, positive for glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibody (GADA) and at least one other autoantibody (insulin, insulinoma antigen-2, or zinc transporter 8 autoantibody (IAA, IA-2A, or ZnT8A)) at baseline. The children were randomized to two doses of subcutaneously administered GAD-alum treatment or placebo, 30 days apart. Complete blood count (CBC) and immunophenotyping of T-cell subpopulations by flow cytometry were performed regularly during the 24 months of follow-up posttreatment. Cross-sectional analyses were performed comparing lymphocyte and T-cell subpopulations between GAD-alum and placebo-treated subjects. *Results.* GAD-alum-treated children had lower levels of lymphocytes (10<sup>9</sup> cells/L) (p = 0.006), T-cells (10<sup>3</sup> cells/ $\mu$ L) (p = 0.014), and cytotoxic T-cells (10<sup>3</sup> cells/ $\mu$ L) (p = 0.023) compared to the placebo-treated children 18 months from first GAD-alum injection. This difference remained 24 months after the first treatment for lymphocytes (p = 0.027), T-cells (p = 0.022), T-helper cells (p = 0.048), and cytotoxic T-cells (p = 0.018). *Conclusion.* Our findings uggest that levels of total T-cell subpopulations declined 18 and 24 months after GAD-alum treatment in healthy children with multiple beta-cell autoantibodies including GADA.

#### 1. Introduction

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease that progresses in three distinct presymptomatic stages prior to clinical diagnosis, resulting in destruction of the pancreatic beta cells caused by autoreactive cytotoxic T-cells leading to insulin deficiency. The first and second stages are presymptomatic, defined by the detection of at least two beta-cell autoantibodies. Additionally, dysglycemia occurs at stage 2, and lastly, symptomatic T1D at stage 3 [1, 2]. Antigen specific immunotherapies are currently tested in T1D prevention and intervention studies to induce immunologic tolerance to beta cell autoantigens and to preserve beta cell function in subjects at stages 2 and 3. Glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 (GAD65) is one of the most common autoantigens associated with T1D [3]. Recombinant human GAD65 formulated with aluminum hydroxide (GAD-alum) [4] subcutaneously injected or intralymphatically injected as a prime and boost regimen has been evaluated in several placebo-controlled, randomized trials, in individuals either

	GAD-alum	Placebo
	<i>n</i> = 13	<i>n</i> = 13
Gender, n (%)		
Female	7 (53.8)	4 (30.8)
Male	6 (46.2)	9 (69.2)
First degree relatives, n (%)		
Yes	4 (30.8)	2 (15.4)
No	9 (69.2)	11 (84.6)
High risk HLA haplotypes, n (%)		
DR3-DQ2	5 (38.4)	7 (53.8)
DR4-DQ8	13 (100)	12 (92.3)
Positive <sup>1</sup> beta cell autoantibodies, $n$ (%)		
2	1 (7.7)	2 (15.4)
3	3 (23.1)	5 (38.5)
4	4 (30.8)	3 (23.1)
5	4 (30.8)	1 (7.7)
6	1 (7.7)	2 (15.4)
<sup>2</sup> GADA titers, mean (SD), (min-max) (U/mL)	916 (916), (58-2645)	1198 (1626), (72-6006)
Age, mean (SD) (min-max)	9.0 (2.9), (4.6-13.8)	9.4 (2.7), (4.6-13.0)

TABLE 1: Baseline characteristics.

<sup>1</sup>Beta cell autoantibodies: GADA, IAA, IA-2A, ZnT8RA, ZnT8QA, and ZnT8WA. <sup>2</sup>The thresholds for GADA to be positive were GADA > 34 U/mL.

positive for islet autoantibodies (stage 1 and 2) or recently diagnosed with T1D (stage 3) [5-7]. The safety of GADalum has been proven through the treatment but neither prevented diabetes nor affected residual beta-cell function [8, 9]. Several mechanistic studies conducted in parallel with the GAD-alum clinical trials with newly diagnosed T1D patients have demonstrated both humoral and cellular immunomodulatory effects. GAD-alum was found to increase the GAD65 autoantibody titers and to be involved in CD4 T-lymphocyte activation inducing not only a T-helper 2 (Th2) anti-inflammatory response but also a T-helper 1 (Th1) proinflammatory response [10-13]. However, the immunomodulatory cellular effects of GAD-alum in treated healthy children positive for multiple pancreatic beta cell autoantibodies who are at stages 1-2 have still not been demonstrated. To improve the clinical efficacy of the treatment with GAD-alum, which is safe and simple to administer, it is of great importance to increase the understanding of the immunomodulatory effect of antigenspecific immunotherapy in order to preserve beta cell function or even halt the progression to stage 3, i.e., T1D onset. In this study, we aim to investigate whether two injections with GAD-alum in children positive for GADA and at least one more autoantibody participating in the Diabetes Prevention-Immune Tolerance 2 (DiAPREV-IT 2) clinical trial affect different T-lymphocyte subpopulations during two years of follow-up after treatment.

#### 2. Research Design and Methods

DiAPREV-IT 2 was a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled clinical prevention study designed to determine the safety and efficacy of two doses of  $20 \,\mu g$  GAD-alum in combination with high dose vitamin D treatment on the progression to T1D in children with multiple islet beta cell autoantibodies. The study was conducted in Sweden at the Skåne University Hospital as a sequel to DiAPREV-IT 1 (NCT01122446) [9] but with vitamin D supplement combined with the GAD-alum treatment. The study was designed to enroll 80 children but only 26 children were included during the period of April 2015 to May 2017 before the inconclusive results from the first study were presented indicating that GAD-alum did not affect the progression to T1D [9]. By these results, further subject enrollment and treatment with GAD-alum were stopped in DiAPREV-IT 2, and the study protocol was amended to only follow the 26 already included children for 24 months after the first vaccination dose. At each visit, levels of beta cell autoantibodies against GAD65 (GADA), insulin (IAA), insulinoma antigen-2 (IA-2A), and zinc transporter 8 (ZnT8A) were measured using in-house radiobinding assays [14]. Enrolled children recruited from the three different studies, DiPiS, TEDDY, and TrialNet were all HLA class II genotyped in the separate studies [15, 16, 17].

2.1. Study Population. The study participants in DiAPREV-IT 2 were all recruited from three population-based longitudinal follow-up studies: The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) study, Diabetes Prediction in Skåne (DiPiS) study, and TrialNet, as healthy participants. The included children were between 4 and 17.99 years old and had to be positive for GADA and at least one more beta cell autoantibody (IAA, IA-2A, ZnT8RA, ZnT8QA, or ZnT8WA) at stage 1 or 2 in T1D progression, with or without impaired glucose metabolism. Baseline characteristics are described in Table 1.



FIGURE 1: Time line presenting follow-up study visits.

Children were assessed for eligibility, informed about the study, and together with their parents given informed consents to sign at the baseline visit (visit 0) when they also started with a high daily dose of vitamin D (2000 IU) during the two years of follow-up. The 26 enrolled children were randomized for treatment with two doses of subcutaneously administered 20 µg GAD-alum (Diamyd®, Diamyd Medical, Stockholm, Sweden) or placebo (Alhydrogel®) one month after the baseline visit (visit 1). The second GAD-alum/ placebo booster dose was administered one month after the first prime dose. The follow-up schedule is illustrated in Figure 1. The consort diagram shows the retention and drop-out of participating children during follow-up (Figure 2). DiAPREV-IT 2 children who were diagnosed with T1D during follow-up had a postdiagnosis follow-up intervention visit. However, in the present study, only healthy children are included and thus excluded from the study once diagnosed with T1D. During follow-up, three children were diagnosed with T1D, one in the GAD-alumtreated group (after 9 months of follow-up) and two in the placebo-treated group (after baseline visit and 6 months of follow-up, respectively). Two children in the GAD-alumtreated group withdrew during the 24 months of follow-up, one after 6 months, and the other after 9 months, resulting in 10 (76.9%) children completing their 24 months of follow-up in the GAD-alum-treated group and 11 (84.6%) children in the placebo-treated group.

2.2. Analysis of Islet Beta Cell Autoantibodies. Each of the six beta cell autoantibodies GADA, IAA, and IA-2A and the three amino acid variants of ZnT8 (R/W/Q) were analyzed at baseline, once a month for three months and every third month thereafter. Radioligand binding assay (RBA) was used to determine the six different beta cell autoantibodies as previously described [18, 19].

2.3. Flow Cytometric Phenotyping of T-Lymphocytes. Blood samples for cellular analysis were collected at scheduled follow-up visits, before the first and the second GAD-alum or placebo treatment, and every 6 months thereafter (at visit 0 or 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10). The samples were drawn in EDTA tubes and prior to any treatment or test during the clinical visit. If the blood sample was for any reason missed at visit 0, a blood sample could be collected at visit 1 instead; hence, either visit 0 or 1 was considered as baseline in the current

study. The peripheral blood lymphocyte count (109 cells/L) was determined within 4h after blood draw by complete blood count (CBC) analysis in a multiparameter automated hematology analyzer (CELL-Dyn Ruby; Abbott Laboratories, Diagnostic Division) as previously described [20]. Whole blood samples were processed with BD FACS<sup>™</sup> Lysing Solution (BD Biosciences) according to the manufacturer's instructions for the lysing of the red blood cells following immunostaining with monoclonal antibodies conjugated to fluorochromes, fixing, and washing of cells for the flow cytometric analysis. Processed, immunostained, and fixed peripheral blood leukocytes were stored in 1% formaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) at 2°-8°C in dark up to two days prior to the flowcytometric analysis. The samples were analyzed on two different flow cytometers, on BD FACSCalibur at the beginning of the study and later replaced by a CytoFLEX (Beckman Coulter Inc., Brea, CA, U.S.A). Both devices were compared at the Lund University Diabetes Centre Flow Cytometry Laboratory, showing statistically correlated data with no fixed or proportional bias between the sample acquisitions (Deming regression (r = 0.98, 95%CI = 0.91-0.99) and Passing and Bablok (r = 0.95, 95%CI = 0.82 - 1.13)). For the analysis on BD FACSCalibur, the samples were immunostained with CD [4/IgG2a/IgG1] fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC), IgG1 isotype phycoerythrin (PE)/peridinin-chlorophyll-protein (PerCP)/allophycocyanin (APC) (clone MOPC-21), CD [3/16+56] FITC/PE (clone X39, X40, SK3), CD3 FITC (clone UCH1), CD4 PerCP (clone SK3), CD8 PerCP (clone SK1), CD45RA PE (clone HI100), CD45RO APC (clone UCHL1), and CD62L APC (clone DREG-56) all purchased from BD Biosciences.

For the CytoFLEX, cells were immunostained with CD3 PE-Cyanine 7 (PE-CY 7) (clone SK7), CD4 APC-R700 (clone RPA-T4), CD8 APC-H7 (clone SK1), CD45RA Brilliant<sup>™</sup> Blue 515 (BB515) (clone HI100), CD45RO PerCP-CY5.5 (clone UCHL1), CD62L APC (clone DREG56), CD56 PE (clone B159), and CD16 APC (clone B73.1) all purchased from BD Biosciences. VersaComp Antibody Capture Kit (Beckman Coulter) was used according to the manufacturer's manual instructions for the compensation to correct the spectra overlap on the CytoFLEX. Unstained samples were used as negative controls in the acquisition plots and fluorescence minus one control (FMO) for each marker for accurate gating of the positive populations that were used when the monoclonal antibody T-lymphocyte panel was set [21].



FIGURE 2: Flow diagram of DiAPREV-IT 2 study participants.



FIGURE 3: All the immunophenotyped lymphocyte and T-lymphocyte subpopulations.

Doublets were discriminated from singlets by plotting FSC Area against FSC Height in the acquisition analysis plot.

Acquired samples with FACSCalibur were analyzed using the CellQuest software program (Becton-Dickinson, Stockholm, Sweden), and the FACS data were later analyzed with Kaluza Analysis Software 1.5a (Beckman Coulter). For the FACS analysis by the CytoFLEX, the CytExpert software (version 2.3) (Beckman Coulter) was used for acquiring cells and for analyzing the FACS data. All T-cell subtypes analyzed in the current study are presented in Figure 3. Gating strategies for certain sought different phenotyped T-lymphocyte subpopulations are presented in supplemental Figure 1. The flowcytometric analyzed data given in percent for each of the T-cell subpopulations are presented as



FIGURE 4: Cross-sectional analysis of (a) GADA titers and (b) ZNT8WA titers stratified by treatment (GAD65-alum (Diamyd)/placebo) presented as boxplots at study follow-up visits 0, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10. (a) GADA titers were higher in the GAD65-alum-treated group compared to placebo at visits 4 and 6. (b) ZnT8WA titers were higher in in the GAD65-alum-treated group compared to placebo at visits 4, 6, and 8. The estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and p values for those visits are provided in the figure.

absolute counts counted from the lymphocyte absolute count obtained from the CBC test to reflect the physiological counts in  $10^3$  cells/µl.

2.4. Statistical Analysis. To evaluate longitudinal trends in cell counts of each cell type in each treatment group, we plotted the observed CBC levels at each visit using boxplots and plotted a smoothed trend line through the mean CBC

level for each treatment at each visit. To estimate the association between the treatment with GAD-alum and beta cell function as measured by OGTT (levels of glucose, C-peptide, and insulin) and IvGTT (FPIR and *k* value), as well as lymphocyte counts and counts of each of the T-cell subpopulations and autoantibody titers (GADA, IAA, IA2A,ZnT8(R/ W/Q)A), we used a *t*-test to compare the levels of each of those measures in the group treated with GAD-alum with



FIGURE 5: Cross-sectional analysis of blood lymphocyte counts stratified by treatment (GAD65-alum (Diamyd)/placebo) presented as boxplots at study follow-up visits 0, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10. Lymphocyte counts were lower in the GAD65-alum-treated group compared to placebo at visits 8 and 10. The estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and p values for those visits are provided in the figure, and complete results are presented in the Supplementary Table 1.

the placebo group at each visit (0 or 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10). Data were tested for normality prior to analysis. The reported p values are nominal and not adjusted for multiple comparisons. A p value <0.05 was considered marginally significant, and a p value <0.01 was considered significant. All statistical analyses were performed in R version 4.0.5 (R Core Team (2021). R: language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org.).

#### 3. Results

3.1. Higher GADA and ZnT8WA Titers Post-GAD-alum Treatment. The cross-sectional analysis revealed a significant increase of GADA titers in the GAD-alum-treated compared with the placebo-treated children at 6 (estimate = 2.97; 95% CI = 1.31, 4.62; p = 0.001) and 12 (estimate = 2.12; 95%CI = 0.22, 4.02, p = 0.031) months following the two doses of GAD-alum injections (Figure 4(a)).

Higher ZnT8WA titers were also found in the GADalum treated group 6 (estimate = 3.17; 95%CI = 0.65, 5.69; p = 0.016), 12 (estimate = 3.67; 95%CI = 1.19, 6.15; p = 0.006), and 18 (estimate = 3.35; 95%CI = 1.01, 5.69; p = 0.008) months (visit 4, 6, and 8) posttreatment (Figure 4(b)).

Comparable titers of each of IAA, IA2A, ZnT8RA, and ZnT8QA were found between the GAD-alum and the

placebo-treated children throughout the 24 months of follow-up (data not presented).

3.2. Lower Lymphocyte Counts in the GAD-alum-Treated Group. Lymphocyte counts estimated from the CBC analysis were lower in the GAD-alum treated group compared with the placebo-treated group after 18 (visit 8) and 24 (visit 10) months of follow-up,  $(10^{\circ} \text{ cells/L})$  (estimate = -0.42; 95 %CI = -0.70, -0.14; p = 0.006, estimate = -0.39; 95%CI = -0.72, -0.05; p = 0.027, respectively) (Figure 5, complete results are presented in Supplementary Table 1). We did not find any difference in the cell counts of leukocytes, neutrophils, monocytes, eosinophils, and basophils between the GAD-alum and placebo-treated groups (data not shown).

3.3. Lower Levels of CD3+ T-Cells and T-Cell Subpopulations in the GAD-alum-Treated Group. The frequencies of CD3+ T-cells and different T-cell subpopulations in peripheral whole blood were calculated from the lymphocyte count to peripheral blood counts (10<sup>3</sup> cells/µL). The cross-sectional analysis stratified by type of treatment (GAD-alum or placebo), done in order to evaluate whether GAD-alum treatment was associated with different T-cell subpopulation levels at visits 0, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 during 24 months of follow-up, resulted in lower levels of T-cells and specific T-cell subpopulations in the GAD-alum-treated group during the last 18 and 24 months of follow-up compared to the placebo-treated group (Figures 6 and 7) (complete results



FIGURE 6: Continued.



FIGURE 6: Continued.



9

FIGURE 6: Continued.



FIGURE 6: Cross-sectional analysis of T-cell counts and counts of seven subpopulations of CD4+ T-cells stratified by treatment (GAD65alum (Diamyd)/placebo) presented as boxplots at study follow-up visits 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10. Children treated with GAD65-alum had statistically significantly lower cell counts of (a) CD3+ T-cells at visits 8 and 10, (b) CD3+CD4+ T-helper cells at visits 8 and 10, (c) CD4+ CD45RA+ CD45RO-naïve T-helper cells at visit 8, (d) CD4+ CD45RA+ CD45RO+ double positive intermediate T-helper cells at visit 8, (e) CD4+ CD45RA+ CD45RA+ CD62L+ naïve T-helper cells at visit 8, (f) CD4+ CD45RA+ CD45RA+ CD62L-terminally differentiated effector memory T-helper cells at visit 8, (g) CD4+ CD62L-effector memory T-helper cells at visit 8, and (h) CD4+ CD62L+ naïve T-helper cells at visit 8 compared to the placebo group. The estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and p values for these results are provided in the figure, and complete results are presented in the Supplementary Table 2.



FIGURE 7: Continued.



FIGURE 7: Continued.



FIGURE 7: Cross-sectional analysis of counts of five subpopulations of CD8+ cytotoxic T-cell stratified by treatment (GAD65-alum (Diamyd)/placebo) presented using boxplots at study follow-up visits 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10. Children treated with GAD65-alum had statistically significantly lower cell counts of (a) CD3 + CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells at visits 8 and 10, (b) CD8 + CD45RA + CD45RO-naïve cytotoxic T-cells at visits 8 and 10, (c) CD8 + CD45RA + CD45RA + CD62L+ naïve cytotoxic T-cells at visits 8 and 10, (d) CD8 + CD62L+ naïve cytotoxic T-cells at visits 8 and 10, (d) CD8 + CD62L+ naïve cytotoxic T-cells at visit 8 compared to the placebo group. The estimates, 95% confidence intervals, and p values for these results are provided in the figure, and complete results are presented in the Supplementary Table 2.

presented in supplementary Table 2). The significant association between GAD-alum treatment and lower counts of different T-cell subpopulations compared to placebo treatment is summarized in Table 2. Treatment with GAD-alum was associated with lower levels of T-cells (CD3+) at 18 and 24 months after first dose of treatment, due to lower levels of T-helper cells (CD3+/CD4+), cytotoxic T-cells (CD3+/CD8+), naïve cytotoxic T-cells (CD8+ CD45RA+ CD45RO, CD8+CD45RA+CD62L+) 18 and 24 months after first dose of treatment, naïve Thelper cells (CD4+CD45RA+CD45RO-, CD4+CD62L+), CD4+ CD45RA+ CD45RO+ double positive T-helper cells, central memory T-helper cells (CD4+CD45RA+CD62L+), terminally differentiated effector memory T-cells (CD4 + CD45RA + CD62L-), effector memory T-helper cells (CD4+CD62L-), effector memory cytotoxic T-cell (CD8 +CD62L-) 18 months after first dose of treatment, and naïve cytotoxic T-cells (CD8+CD62L+) 24 months after first dose of treatment.

No statistically significant association between GADalum treatment and measurements reflecting beta cell function from OGTT or IVGTT was found (data not shown).

#### 4. Discussion

The main result in this study is the long-term effect of GADalum associated with lower levels of T-cells, T-helper cells (CD3 + CD4+), and cytotoxic T-cells (CD3 + CD8+) together with other subgroups of both naïve and effector memory cells detected 18 and 24 months after subcutaneous prime and boost GAD-alum treatment in nondiabetic children positive for multiple beta cell autoantibodies. The rationale of an intravenous GAD-alum vaccine combined was to restore both central and peripheral immune tolerance towards GAD as a self-antigen. The reduced numbers of T-cells are likely to be related to the presence of GAD65 mixed with alum and not alum itself as it was given to the placebo group. Aluminum hydroxides enhance the adaptive immune response by the activation of innate immune cells. However, the exact mechanism by which aluminum hydroxide enhance the immune response remains poorly understood [22].

In accordance with previous studies, GADA titers increased upon GAD-alum treatment at visits 6 and 12 as a result of immunization to decrease thereafter. However, the increased ZnT8WA titers that lasted for several months after immunization may be deceptive since there was difference in the titers between the GAD-alum and the placebo groups already at baseline.

Antigen specific immune therapy with GAD-alum is simple, proved to be well-tolerated and safe among children with or without T1D. Recent results from a multicenter placebo-controlled study with intralymphatic GAD-alum treatment have shown preserved C-peptide up to 15 months

Phenotyped T-cell populations	<sup>1</sup> Visit	<sup>2</sup> Estimate	95% CI	p value
T-cells CD3+	8	-0.41	-0.7, -0.12	0.008
	10	-0.36	-0.66, -0.06	0.022
CD3 + CD4+	8	-0.24	-0.43, -0.06	0.014
	10	-0.20	-0.39, 0	0.048
CD4+ CD45RA+ CD45RO-	8	-0.18	-0.33, -0.03	0.019
CD4+ CD45RA+ CD45RO+	8	-0.03	-0.06, 0	0.038
CD4+CD45RA+CD62L+	8	-0.19	-0.34, -0.05	0.013
CD4 + CD45RA + CD62L-	8	-0.01	-0.02, 0	0.039
CD4+CD62L+	8	-0.25	-0.46, -0.05	0.017
CD4+CD62L-	8	-0.03	-0.05, -0.01	0.008
CD3 + CD8+	8	-0.15	-0.28, -0.02	0.023
	10	-0.12	-0.22, -0.02	0.018
	8	-0.11	-0.22, -0.01	0.035
CD8+ CD45RA+ CD45RO-	10	-0.11	-0.20, -0.01	0.028
	8	-0.11	-0.2, -0.02	0.020
CD8 + CD45KA + CD62L+	10	-0.11	-0.18, -0.03	0.011
CD8+CD62L+	10	-0.09	-0.16, -0.01	0.023
CD8 + CD62L-	8	-0.06	-0.12, -0.01	0.032

TABLE 2: Cross-sectional analysis stratified by treatment (GAD-alum/placebo) evaluating whether GAD-alum treatment is associated with different T-cell subpopulations during study follow-up.

<sup>1</sup>Visits 8 and 10 equal 18, respectively, 24 months of follow-up after first treatment dose. <sup>2</sup>Estimated difference between GAD-alum-treated children and placebo-treated children. 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.

in 12-24 years old patients with recent onset of T1D carrying the HLA DR3-DQ2 haplotype [23]. However, the treatment efficacy remains to be debated. The aluminum hydroxide adjuvant in the GAD-alum vaccine was chosen to skew the immune cells against a Th2 anti-inflammatory response upon costimulation with GAD avoiding a Th1 proinflammatory autoreactive response [24]. However, it was reported recently that GAD-alum was capable of inducing both a Th1 and a Th2 response [13]. Considering that only a fraction of beta cells would be preserved at T1D onset makes it important to intervene with GAD-alum immune tolerance treatment before T1D diagnosis at stages 1 and 2 in T1D progression to preserve beta cell function or delay onset by halting the T-cell mediated autoimmune process. To understand and further improve future studies with GAD-alum treatment, it is of great importance to increase the knowledge about the immunomodulatory effects of GAD-alum on T-cells [25]. Hence, the current study was aimed at investigating whether GAD-alum treatment in nondiabetic children positive for GADA and at least one more autoantibody at stage 1 or 2 was associated with T-lymphocyte and different T-cell subgroup levels during the follow-up of the DiAPREV-IT 2 study. Consistent with other studies, a long-lasting effect of GAD-alum on T-cells has previously been reported in GAD-alum-treated children, all diagnosed with T1D [26]. To our knowledge, no investigator has so far studied the immunomodulatory effects of GAD-alum in nondiabetic children positive for multiple beta cell autoantibodies. Nevertheless, immunomodulatory effects of GADalum have been frequently studied in children with T1D upon in vitro stimulation with GAD [10, 11]. A recent, relatively limited study indicated that the immune response

differs between intralymphatic administration and subcutaneous administration of GAD-alum in individuals with recent onset of type 1 diabetes 15 months after the administration. The intralymphatic administration of smaller amounts of GAD-alum had better preservation of C-peptide, better increment of GADA, stronger immune responses, and reduced GAD-65 stimulated cytotoxic CD8+ and CD4+ T-helper central memory cells, which could be a sign of tolerance [27].

The main strength of this study is that all subjects included were nondiabetic children with multiple beta cell autoantibodies. Thus, these participants are candidates to benefit from a potential prevention treatment aimed at retaining remaining beta cell function and delaying the onset of T1D. Importantly, this is the first study investigating the long-term association between a treatment with GAD-alum and levels of T-cells in nondiabetic children positive for multiple beta cell autoantibodies. The major limitation on this study is the limited number of study participants.

Due to the inconclusive preventive efficacy of GADalum in DiAPREV-IT 1 [9] reported during the enrolment process in DiAPREV-IT 2, only the 26 already enrolled children out of 80 specified in the original study design were followed until the planned end of the study (24 months). During the enrollment and before the result of DiAPREV-IT 1 was revealed, a new flow cytometer was installed to replace the older device, and a new antibody panel was constructed with more cell subtypes and with some antibodies that differed from the first panel. Due to the difference between the panels, only results from the two flow cytometers with identical monoclonal antibodies could be used.

Even though efficacy assessment of GAD-alum failed, one explanation for the lower levels of T-cells, both CD4+ T-helper, and CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells presented in this study could be due to a minor T-cell exhaustion caused by the high GAD antigen exposure that in turn could emphasize a peripheral tolerance [28, 29]. Another explanation may indicate a hitherto unknown immunosuppressive effect of GAD-alum which needs to be further investigated.

#### 5. Conclusion

In summary, an immune tolerance treatment with GAD-alum was associated with lower levels of lymphocytes, T-cells, T-helper (CD3 + CD4+), cytotoxic T-cells (CD3 + CD8+), and several T-cell subgroups of naïve and effector memory cells, at 18-24 months after receiving the 1<sup>st</sup> dose of treatment. We consider our results as hypothesis-generating and in need of further studies due to the small number of enrolled children. The long-term impact of GAD-alum on T-cells suggests a persistent effect, at least over a 2-year period, that warrants further investigation to improve the efficacy and safety of GAD-alum as a potential treatment for delaying, and possibly preventing, the onset of T1D.

#### Abbreviations

GADA:	Glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibody
IA:	Insulin autoantibody
IA-2A:	Insulinoma antigen-2 autoantibody
ZnT8A:	Zinc transporter 8 autoantibody
GAD65:	Glutamic acid decarboxylase 65
GAD-alum:	Recombinant GAD65 conjugated to
	aluminum hydroxide
T1D:	Type 1 diabetes
HLA:	Human leukocyte antigen
Th1:	T-helper 1
Th2:	T-helper 2
DiAPREV-IT 2:	Diabetes Prevention-Immune Tolerance 2
OGTT:	Oral glucose tolerance test
IVGTT:	Intravenous glucose tolerance test
FPIR:	First-phase insulin response
TEDDY:	The Environmental Determinants of
	Diabetes in the Young
DiPiS:	Diabetes Prediction in Skåne
FDR:	First degree relatives
RBA:	Radioligand binding assay
CBC:	Complete blood count
FITC:	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
PE:	Phycoerythrin
PerCP:	Peridinin-chlorophyll-protein
APC:	Allophycocyanin
PE-CY 7:	PE-Cyanine 7
BB515:	Brilliant™ Blue 515
FMO:	Fluorescence minus one.

#### **Data Availability**

All data in this manuscript are available from the authors upon request.

#### Ethical Approval

The Diabetes Prevention–Immune Tolerance 2 (DiAPREV-IT 2) study is registered with the trial number NCT02387164. This study was approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund and the Swedish Medical Product Agency and carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The investigator obtained a signed informed consent from all subjects (and/or their parents/ caregivers when applicable) prior to any study procedure was undertaken.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

No potential conflicts of interest relevant to this article were reported. The study drug was supplied free of charge by Diamyd Medical AB.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

All authors have read and approved the final manuscript. F. S constructed and performed experiments, analyzed, and interpreted data and wrote the manuscript. L.S. performed statistical analyses. M.M. performed statistical analyses, reviewed, and edited the manuscript. M.L. contributed to the study design. C.B. and R.B. performed experiments and reviewed the manuscript. C.T. reviewed and edited the manuscript. M.H. contributed to the Method section. H.E.L. designed the study, reviewed, and edited the manuscript. H.E.L. is the guarantor of this study and as such had access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

#### Acknowledgments

Special thanks are due to the participating children and their families, Diamyd Medical AB, Stockholm, Sweden, and the rest of the members in the DiAPREV-IT 2 study group, Ida Jönsson, Anita Ramelius, Caroline N Nilsson, and Maria Ask for their expert technical support. This study was supported by Skåne County Council for Research and Development and the Swedish Childhood Diabetes Foundation.

#### **Supplementary Materials**

Supplementary Table 1: cross-sectional analysis stratified by treatment (GAD-alum/placebo) evaluating whether GAD-alum treatment is associated with lymphocyte complete count during study follow-up. Supplementary Table 2: cross-sectional analysis stratified by treatment (GADalum/placebo) evaluating whether GAD-alum treatment is associated with different T-cell subpopulations during study follow-up. Supplementary Figure 1: the gating strategy is presented for the following T-cell populations, lymphocytes, T-lymphocytes, singlets of cells, T-cells (CD3+, T-helper cells (CD3+CD4+), cytotoxic T-cells (CD3+CD8+), CD4+CD62L-, CD4+CD62L+, CD8 +CD62L-, CD8+CD62L+, CD4+CD45RA+CD45RO-, CD4+CD45RA+CD45RO+, CD4+CD45RA+CD45RO-, CD8+CD45RA+CD45RO-, CD8+CD45RA+CD45RA-, CD8 CD45RO + CD45RA-, CD4 + CD45RA + CD62L-, CD4 + CD45RA + CD62L+, CD4 + CD45RA-CD62L+, CD8 + CD45RA + CD62L-, CD8 + CD45RA + CD62L+, and CD8 + CD45RA-CD62L. (*Supplementary Materials*)

#### References

- G. S. Eisenbarth, "Type I diabetes mellitus. A chronic autoimmune disease," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 314, no. 21, pp. 1360–1368, 1986.
- [2] R. A. Insel, J. L. Dunne, M. A. Atkinson et al., "Staging presymptomatic type 1 diabetes: a scientific statement of JDRF, the Endocrine Society, and the American Diabetes Association," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 1964–1974, 2015.
- [3] S. Baekkeskov, J. H. Nielsen, B. Marner, T. Bilde, J. Ludvigsson, and A. Lernmark, "Autoantibodies in newly diagnosed diabetic children immunoprecipitate human pancreatic islet cell proteins," *Nature*, vol. 298, no. 5870, pp. 167–169, 1982.
- [4] A. E. Morales and K. M. Thrailkill, "GAD-alum immunotherapy in type 1 diabetes mellitus," *Immunotherapy*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 323–332, 2011.
- [5] D. K. Wherrett, B. Bundy, D. J. Becker et al., "Antigen-based therapy with glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) vaccine in patients with recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a randomised double-blind trial," *The Lancet*, vol. 378, no. 9788, pp. 319– 327, 2011.
- [6] C. A. Beam, C. Mac Callum, K. C. Herold, D. K. Wherrett, J. Palmer, and J. Ludvigsson, "GAD vaccine reduces insulin loss in recently diagnosed type 1 diabetes: findings from a Bayesian meta-analysis," *Diabetologia*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 43–49, 2017.
- [7] R. Casas, F. Dietrich, S. Puente-Marin et al., "Intra-lymphatic administration of GAD-alum in type 1 diabetes: long-term follow-up and effect of a late booster dose (the DIAGNODE Extension trial)," *Acta Diabetologica*, vol. 59, no. 5, pp. 687– 696, 2022.
- [8] B. O. Roep, D. C. S. Wheeler, and M. Peakman, "Antigenbased immune modulation therapy for type 1 diabetes: the era of precision medicine," *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 65–74, 2019.
- [9] H. Elding Larsson, M. Lundgren, B. Jonsdottir, D. Cuthbertson, J. Krischer, and A.-I. T. S. G. Di, "Safety and efficacy of autoantigen-specific therapy with 2 doses of alumformulated glutamate decarboxylase in children with multiple islet autoantibodies and risk for type 1 diabetes: a randomized clinical trial," *Pediatric Diabetes*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 410–419, 2018.
- [10] S. Axelsson, M. Cheramy, L. Akerman, M. Pihl, J. Ludvigsson, and R. Casas, "Cellular and humoral immune responses in type 1 diabetic patients participating in a phase III GADalum intervention trial," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 3418–3424, 2013.
- [11] S. Axelsson, M. Hjorth, J. Ludvigsson, and R. Casas, "Decreased GAD65-specific Th1/Tc1 phenotype in children with Type 1 diabetes treated with GAD-alum," *Diabetic Medicine*, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 1272–1278, 2012.
- [12] M. Hjorth, S. Axelsson, A. Ryden, M. Faresjo, J. Ludvigsson, and R. Casas, "GAD-alum treatment induces GAD<sub>65</sub>-specific CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>high</sup>FOXP3<sup>+</sup> cells in type 1 diabetic patients," *Clinical Immunology*, vol. 138, no. 1, pp. 117–126, 2011.

- [13] S. Arif, I. Gomez-Tourino, Y. Kamra et al., "GAD-alum immunotherapy in type 1 diabetes expands bifunctional Th1/Th2 autoreactive CD4 T cells," *Diabetologia*, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 1186–1198, 2020.
- [14] A. J. Delli, F. Vaziri-Sani, B. Lindblad et al., "Zinc transporter 8 autoantibodies and their association with SLC30A8 and HLA-DQ genes differ between immigrant and Swedish patients with newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes in the Better Diabetes Diagnosis study," *Diabetes*, vol. 61, no. 10, pp. 2556–2564, 2012.
- [15] H. E. Larsson, K. Lynch, B. Lernmark et al., "Diabetesassociated HLA genotypes affect birthweight in the general population," *Diabetologia*, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 1484–1491, 2005.
- [16] W. A. Hagopian, H. Erlich, A. Lernmark et al., "The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY): genetic criteria and international diabetes risk screening of 421 000 infants," *Pediatric Diabetes*, vol. 12, no. 8, pp. 733– 743, 2011.
- [17] J. C. Mychaleckyj, J. A. Noble, P. V. Moonsamy et al., "HLA genotyping in the international type 1 diabetes genetics consortium," *Clinical Trials*, vol. 7, 1\_suppl, pp. S75–S87, 2010.
- [18] C. Andersson, A. Carlsson, C. Cilio et al., "Glucose tolerance and beta-cell function in islet autoantibody-positive children recruited to a secondary prevention study," *Pediatric Diabetes*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 341–349, 2013.
- [19] C. Andersson, K. Larsson, F. Vaziri-Sani et al., "The three ZNT8 autoantibody variants together improve the diagnostic sensitivity of childhood and adolescent type 1 diabetes," *Autoimmunity*, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 394–405, 2011.
- [20] F. Salami, H. S. Lee, E. Freyhult et al., "Reduction in white blood cell, neutrophil, and red blood cell counts related to sex, HLA, and islet autoantibodies in Swedish TEDDY children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes," *Diabetes*, vol. 67, no. 11, pp. 2329–2336, 2018.
- [21] K. Feher, J. Kirsch, A. Radbruch, H. D. Chang, and T. Kaiser, "Cell population identification using fluorescence-minus-one controls with a one-class classifying algorithm," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 30, no. 23, pp. 3372–3378, 2014.
- [22] P. He, Y. Zou, and Z. Hu, "Advances in aluminum hydroxidebased adjuvant research and its mechanism," *Human Vaccines* & *Immunotherapeutics*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 477–488, 2015.
- [23] J. Ludvigsson, Z. Sumnik, T. Pelikanova et al., "Intralymphatic glutamic acid decarboxylase with vitamin D supplementation in recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled phase IIb trial," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 1604-1612, 2021.
- [24] S. Axelsson, M. Hjorth, L. Akerman, J. Ludvigsson, and R. Casas, "Early induction of GAD65-reactive Th2 response in type 1 diabetic children treated with alum-formulated GAD65," *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 559–568, 2010.
- [25] A. G. Ziegler, M. Rewers, O. Simell et al., "Seroconversion to multiple islet autoantibodies and risk of progression to diabetes in children," *JAMA*, vol. 309, no. 23, pp. 2473–2479, 2013.
- [26] S. Axelsson, M. Cheramy, M. Hjorth et al., "Long-lasting immune responses 4 years after GAD-alum treatment in children with type 1 diabetes," *PLoS One*, vol. 6, no. 12, article e29008, 2011.
- [27] F. Dietrich, H. Barcenilla, B. Tavira et al., "Immune response differs between intralymphatic or subcutaneous administration of GAD-alum in individuals with recent onset type 1

diabetes," *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, vol. 38, no. 3, article e3500, 2022.

- [28] P. S. Linsley and S. A. Long, "Enforcing the checkpoints: harnessing T-cell exhaustion for therapy of T1D," *Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes, and Obesity*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 213–218, 2019.
- [29] E. J. Wherry, "T cell exhaustion," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 492–499, 2011.

## About the author



Photo: Susann Faraj Salami

Falastin Salami, MSc in molecular biology from Lund University, has worked in both national (DiAPREV-IT 2 and DiPiS) and international (TEDDY, TEFA, and GPPAD) prospective longitudinal studies to follow children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes. The aim was to study factors that predict or prevent type 1 diabetes onset. This thesis focuses on cellular biomarkers that may predict either autoimmunity or the progression to type 1 diabetes onset in children at increased genetic risk and the longitudinally measured effect of antigen-specific immune therapy with GAD-alum on peripheral blood T-cells.



# FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Clinical Sciences

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2022:119 ISBN 978-91-8021-280-9 ISSN 1652-8220

